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Highly elastic molded MetaloseaTM ring
gaskets for high-temperature applications
and mica- or graphite-based volume
sealing rings for exhaust and turbocharger
applications.
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 verview of ElringKlinger’s
O
Activities and Structure
 lringKlinger’s corporate history spans a period of 136 years, during which time the Group
E
has gradually evolved into a global player within the automotive supply industry. The Group
develops and manufactures high-tech products for current and future v ehicle generations.

Profile
As an independent development partner and original
equipment manufacturer with global business operations, E
 lringKlinger produces and distributes parts and
assemblies used in engines, transmissions, exhaust
systems, and vehicle bodies, alongside components for
lithium-ion batteries and fuel cells. The Group’s portfolio encompasses products for all types of drive technology – from conventional combustion engines to hybrid
units and electric systems. E
 lringKlinger generates
around 90% of its revenue from sales to the automotive
industry and within the independent aftermarket. Additionally, the Group supplies end-to-end exhaust treatment systems deployed in ships, buses, trucks, construction and agricultural machinery, and locomotives,
as well as in power stations. This is complemented by a
portfolio also targeted at industries beyond the automotive sector. Here, ElringKlinger

Kunststofftechnik
GmbH offers an extensive range of products made of
the high-performance plastic PTFE *.
Alongside the majority of vehicle and engine manufacturers around the globe, E lringKlinger’s customer base
includes numerous automotive suppliers, particularly in
the field of turbo-chargers, exhaust technology, and
transmission engineering. E
 lringKlinger generally holds
a so-called Tier 1 position * within the value chain of
automotive production and supplies directly to vehicle
manufacturers.
In total, some 7,900 people were employed by the
E lringKlinger Group at 45 locations worldwide as of
December 31, 2015 (cf. Sustainability, page 88 et seqq.).
Business model and core competencies
E lringKlinger has fully embraced one of the megatrends
currently driving the automotive industry: emissions

reduction. The majority of products in the portfolio
contribute to the reduction of carbon dioxides, nitrogen
oxides, hydrocarbons, or soot particulates – either
through new lightweighting concepts, the continued
optimization of combustion engines by means of downsizing *, alternative drive technologies, or exhaust gas
purification systems.
The 
E lringKlinger Group’s core competencies are
founded on its far-reaching expertise relating to materials, processes, and tooling. E lringKlinger designs
and produces the majority of tools required for high-
precision metal processing (stamping, embossing,
and forming) and injection-molding operations itself.
Embracing innovative process technologies and maintaining a high level of automation in production, the
E lringKlinger Group combines technology leadership
with cost leadership. In manufacturing large quantities of products and leveraging economies of scale,
the Group is able to reduce unit costs. Against this
backdrop, the barriers to entry for new market players are extremely high.
For the purpose of safeguarding its competitive position in the long term, E
 lringKlinger invests heavily in
research and development (cf. Research and Development, page 60 et seqq.). E lringKlinger makes a point of
developing products for technologically sophisticated
niche markets, e.g., in the field of turbochargers, high-
performance automatic transmissions, and thermal
management.
Economic and legal factors
Product sales are dependent on market developments
within the area of global vehicle manufacturing. As
experience has shown, the latter is closely linked to
economic conditions and the employment situation in
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the country in question. Serving a broad customer base,
E lringKlinger is not dependent on specific contractual
partners. Temporary economic recessions in individual
countries can usually be offset by exploiting the more
favorable performance of other sales markets.
With regard to the legislative environment, one of the
main factors is that relating to statutory regulations
governing the reduction of emissions. Over the coming
years, maximum limits for permissible emissions will
be further tightened at an international level. The
European Commission, for instance, has determined an
upper limit of 95 g CO2 /km for CO2 emissions produced
by new vehicles. This threshold will apply as of 2021.
Elsewhere, the shipping industry will be subject to
IMO Tier III * regulations as of January 2016. They
prescribe stricter limits for nitrogen oxides. Legislation
governing various industries provides additional impetus for 
E lringKlinger’s business, as the use of
E lringKlinger products in specific applications can
help to scale back emissions.
Group structure and organization
Headquartered in Dettingen/Erms, Germany,
E lringKlinger AG as the parent company handles all
the cross-Group management tasks and assumes responsibility for Group-wide functions, e.g., in the areas
of purchasing, IT, communications, legal affairs, and
human resources. As of December 31, 2015, in addition to the parent company, the E lringKlinger Group
included 40 fully consolidated subsidiaries as well as
one investee. In the majority of cases, E
 lringKlinger AG
holds 100% of the interests in its subsidiaries.
Sales markets and ElringKlinger locations
The Group operates within a global manufacturing and
sales network, allowing it to supply markets around
the world with high-tech products. At the end of 2015,
the E lringKlinger Group encompassed 45 sites in 21
countries. They include 33 production facilities, nine
sales offices, one enterprise dedicated to aftermarket
sales, and two locations assigned to the Services and
Industrial Parks segments.
In 2015, E lringKlinger Kunststofftechnik GmbH, based
in Bietigheim-Bissingen, Germany, was among the
German entities generating the Group’s highest revenue
alongside the headquarters of E
 lringKlinger AG in
Dettingen/Erms, Germany. The largest non-domestic

* Cf. glossary
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enterprises (calculated on the basis of revenue) were
E lringKlinger Abschirmtechnik (Schweiz) AG in Sevelen, Switzerland, E
 lringKlinger USA , Inc. in Buford,
United States, Changchun E lringKlinger Ltd. in Changchun, China, Elring Klinger México, S.A. de C.V. in
Toluca, Mexico, and E lringKlinger Marusan Corporation in Tokyo, Japan.

72.7%
o f G r o u p r e v e n u e ge n e r a t ed
o u t s ide o f G e r m a n y
Operating with a global production and distribution network,
 lringKlinger serves not only the industrialized economies but
E
also the full range of emerging markets.

 lringKlinger serves the three largest economic areas
E
encompassing Europe, NAFTA , and the industrialized
regions of East Asia. Additionally, the Group is also active in the emerging markets of Asia and South America.
In acquiring 100% of the ownership interests in US
automotive supplier and transmission control plate
specialist M&W Manufacturing Company, Inc., Warren,
United States, in 2015, E lringKlinger has strengthened
the regional positioning of its Specialty Gaskets division
in North America, and reinforced its manufacturing
presence. Following this acquisition, the name of the
company was changed to E lringKlinger Automotive
Manufacturing, Inc.
In December 2015, 
E lringKlinger AG established
E lringKlinger Hungary Kft., Kecskemét, Hungary. As a
first step, the new subsidiary will commence production of shielding components starting in 2016.
Segments and divisions
The Group’s operating business is divided into five
segments, as outlined below. These constitute the reportable segments under IFRS *.
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E l r i n g K l i n ge r G r o u p s eg m e n t s

Segment

Original Equipment

Proportion of revenue

Main customer groups

83.3%

Car, truck and engine manufacturers, automotive suppliers

9.4%

Independent aftermarket business

Engineered Plastics

6.4%

Vehicle industry, mechanical engineering, medical technology

Services

0.6%

Vehicle manufacturers and suppliers

Industrial Parks

0.3%

Unspecified industries

Aftermarket

The Original Equipment segment develops, produces,
and markets cylinder-head and specialty gaskets as well
as lightweight plastic components and housing modules
for the power-train, in addition to thermal and acoustic
parts for engine, transmission, and exhaust tract applications. Its product range also includes components for
lithium-ion batteries * and fuel cell systems *. The client
base includes nearly all the world’s vehicle and engine
manufacturers. The Swiss subsidiary Hug Engineering
AG, Elsau, develops and manufactures complete exhaust
gas purification systems, predominantly for applications
in trucks, buses, ships, construction and agricultural
machinery, and power stations.
In the Aftermarket segment, E
 lringKlinger operates as
a supplier of spare parts consisting mainly of cylinder-head gaskets and complete gasket sets. These are
marketed under the “Elring – Das Original” brand.
Supplied in OEM quality, the parts are used primarily
for repairs to engines, gearboxes, and exhaust systems.
Business within the Aftermarket segment is transacted
primarily through a global network of wholesalers and
major group purchasing organizations. The Group’s
Aftermarket products are primarily sold in Western and
Eastern Europe, the Middle East, and North Africa.
Among the key markets of the future are North America
and China, where E lringKlinger is currently in the process of developing its business.
The Engineered Plastics segment develops, manufactures, and sells products made of the high-performance plastic PTFE . Around two-thirds of revenues
from this segment are generated outside the automotive industry. Within Europe, E
 lringKlinger has
emerged as one of the leading suppliers of products for
PTFE applications. At present, local sales enterprises

serve the markets of Asia and the Americas, regions in
which business is currently undergoing expansion.
The Services segment consists of Elring Klinger Motor
technik GmbH, Idstein, Germany. It provides development services for engines, transmissions, and the
exhaust tract using cutting-edge testing and measurement facilities. The segment’s customer base includes
both vehicle manufacturers and automotive suppliers.
Additionally, E lringKlinger Logistic Service GmbH,
Ergenzingen, Germany, which provides internal and
external logistical services, and KOCHWERK Catering
GmbH, Dettingen/Erms, Germany, are assigned to this
segment. KOCHW ERK Catering GmbH operates the
restaurant at the principal site in Dettingen/Erms and
provides catering services for external customers.
The Industrial Parks segment encompasses the Group’s
industrial parks in Idstein near Frankfurt, Germany,
and in Kecskemét, Hungary. The purpose of the business is to lease and manage land and buildings.
The segments are further divided into a total of eleven
divisions. Seven of these belong to the Original Equipment segment, which at approx. 80% contributes the
largest share of total Group revenue. Each of the four
remaining segments (Aftermarket, Engineered Plastics,
Services, and Industrial Parks) also constitutes a separate division.
 lringKlinger is the world’s leading supplier of metalE
lic cylinder-head gaskets. The market is characterized
by an oligopoly. The principal competitors are two US
conglomerates. However, they do not specialize solely
in the production of gaskets. Some of the local markets
include smaller, regional players.
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The Specialty Gaskets division focuses mainly on metallic flat gaskets for high-temperature applications
relating to engines, turbochargers, transmissions, and
exhaust systems. Due to the range of different products
it offers, the number of competitors in this field is
higher. E lringKlinger has also established itself as a
leading player in this line of business and is ranked as
one of the three largest suppliers worldwide.
The Shielding Technology division specializes in
combined thermal and acoustic shielding solutions.
E lringKlinger is one of the few suppliers in the world
to offer complete shielding packages for both the engine as well as the underbody and the exhaust tract.
Of all the Group’s divisions, Shielding Technology
accounts for the biggest share of total Group revenues.
Here, too, E lringKlinger is one of the world’s top three
suppliers. The market is more differentiated than in
the area of gaskets/seals. E lringKlinger’s main competitor is a US company.
The Plastic Housing Modules/Elastomer Technology
division develops and manufactures components
made of polyamide plastics and fiber-reinforced organo sheets *, e.g., cam covers and oil suction pipe
modules. Substantial weight savings can be achieved
in vehicles by replacing metal with plastic. The product portfolio is complemented by high-performance
metal-elastomer gaskets for commercial vehicles.

The market is more fragmented than in the other
d ivisions.
The E-Mobility division focuses on cell contact systems * for lithium-ion batteries, which are used in both
pure electric and hybrid vehicles. Serial production of
this division’s core product has been underway since
2011. Growth within this division is heavily dependent
on demand for electric vehicles. Cell contact systems
are available only from a small group of suppliers.
The Exhaust Gas Purification division includes the Hug
Group, a majority interest in which was acquired by
E lringKlinger in 2011, and the production plant in
Thale, Germany. Serving various industries, Hug is acknowledged as one of the leading suppliers of exhaust
gas purification technology for stationary and mobile
engines as well as off-road applications.
Tooling Technology is one of the Group’s core fields of

expertise. Accordingly, E
 lringKlinger has established
a dedicated division for these operations. This division
encompasses internal tool manufacturing at the site in
Dettingen/Erms, Germany, as well as the tooling specialist for plastic injection molding performed by Hum
mel-Formen, Lenningen, Germany, which was taken
over in 2011 and has in the meantime been merged into
E lringKlinger AG. The majority of services provided by
this division are attributable to entities within the Group.

s a l e s r e v e n u e b y di v i s io n i n 2 0 1 5

(prior year) in %

Other1

<1 (<1)

Industrial Parks

<1 (<1)

Services

1 (1)

E-Mobility

1 (1)

Exhaust Gas Purification

3 (5)

Engineered Plastics

6 (7)

Aftermarket

Cylinder-Head Gaskets

1

* Cf. glossary

Shielding Technology

27 (26)

Plastic Housing Modules /
Elastomer Technology

21 (20)

Specialty Gaskets

17 (16)

9 (10)

14 (14)

Tooling Technology and New Business Areas
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New Business Areas. At present, this category mainly

includes ongoing projects relating to fuel cell technology
(cf. Research and Development, page 60 et seqq.).

Internal Control Criteria
The Management Board of the E
 lringKlinger Group
primarily refers to financial control criteria for the
purpose of governing the Group and as the basis for
providing an overall assessment of developments within the group of companies. Additionally, it monitors
non-financial performance indicators as well as company-specific leading indicators.

includes shareholders’ equity, financial liabilities, provisions for pensions, and non-current provisions such
as anniversary and partial-retirement provisions. The
target defined for the Group is to achieve a return on
capital employed of at least 15% in the medium to long
term. Variable remuneration for the managerial level
directly below the Management Board is generally
linked to the level of ROCE achieved.

Financial control criteria
The financial control criteria are primarily based on
the sales and earnings performance of E lringKlinger AG
as well as the individual Group companies. The key
indicators used as a basis for assessment include revenue, earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT ), and
earnings before taxes (EBT ). Furthermore, these internal control criteria are planned, calculated, and
continually monitored for the five segments reportable under IFRS as well as for the individual business
divisions.
Return on capital employed (ROCE ) is considered to be
of particular importance; ROCE measures a company’s
profitability and the efficiency with which its capital is
employed. In this context, EBIT is divided by average
capital employed. At E
 lringKlinger, capital employed

In addition, E lringKlinger takes into account the following financial control criteria as part of its corporate
governance efforts within the Group:
•• Operating free cash flow *
•• Equity ratio
•• Potential market price risks from foreign exchange
movements, interest rate changes, and increases in
material costs
The following table presents the financial control criteria of the E
 lringKlinger Group. In conformity with
external communications, earnings before interest
and taxes (EBIT ) have been adjusted for non-recurring
exceptional items and are presented before purchase
price allocation (PPA ).
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K e y f i n a n cia l co n t r o l c r i t e r ia o f t he E l r i n g K l i n ge r G r o u p

Target 2015

Actual 2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

1,127.2

1,032.8

795.7

579.3

140.9

130.6

116.0

63.3

Significant financial control criteria:

Sales revenue 

(in EUR million)

1,422.1 to
1,448.61

1,507.3

1,325.8

1,150.1

Adjusted EBIT,
before PPA 2

(in EUR million)

135 to
1453

140.4

162.3

149.8

–

128.8

153.1

131.3

20%

9.5%

12.4

14.4%

EBT 

(in EUR million)

ROCE

4

123.6

113.9

5

94.0

49.4

13.3%

14.2%5

15.2%

8.8%

Other, less significant financial control criteria:

Operating
free cash flow 6 
Equity ratio

(in EUR million)

not
positive7
>40%

- 65.2

12.4

- 4.2

8.2

- 10.5

- 1.9

58.2

48.5%

49.7%

50.4%

50.6%

50.1%

52.7%

41.2%

Including approx. EUR 30 million in sales revenue from the takeover of former M&W Manufacturing Company, Inc., Warren, USA .
 djusted for non-recurring exceptional items EUR 0 (4.9) million as well as depreciation/amortization relating to purchase price allocation EUR 5.2 (3.4) million; this
A
method of calculation applies in the same way to the financial years 2009 to 2013.
3
Original forecast for 2015: EUR 170 to 180 million; adjustment on April 29, 2015: approx. EUR 165 million; adjustment on September 18, 2015: EUR 135 to 145 million.
4
Adjusted for one-time gain from full consolidation of ElringKlinger Marusan Corporation (EUR 17.6 million).
5
Adjusted for one-time gain of EUR 22.7 million from sale of Ludwigsburg industrial park.
6
Cash flow from operating activities less cash flow from investing activities, adjusted for payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries, less cash.
7
Original forecast for 2015: positive; adjustment on November 9, 2015: not positive.
1

Non-financial control criteria
In addition, E lringKlinger regularly monitors staff-related and quality indicators. They are considered less
significant in the context of corporate governance and
are used by management in support of its decision-
making processes.
•• Change in number of employees and average number
of staff on sick leave
•• Quality indicators and assessments such as work-
related accidents and reject rates
For further details, please refer to the chapter entitled
“Sustainability” (page 88 et seqq.).
Company-specific leading indicators
Information relating to order intake and backlog is
reported on a regular basis and provides reliable indications of likely capacity utilization and revenue
performance for the months ahead. As a leading (i.e.,
early) indicator that is specific to the company, this
data is also seen as an important control parameter
for management.

* Cf. glossary

The Group’s budgeting and forecasting are based on
planned quantities requested by customers as part of
their scheduling less a safety margin and respective
agreed product prices. Additionally, the Management
Board continuously tracks statistics and forecasts relating to global vehicle demand and production as well
as the general economic situation. These leading indicators can provide important pointers as to the plausibility of planning. In this way, any necessity for adjustments can be identified at an early stage and suitable
measures can be implemented in good time.
 lringKlinger also performs benchmark analyses on a
E
regular basis for the purpose of assessing its own
business performance in comparison with that of the
industry as a whole. In this context, key indicators are
compared to other, mostly listed, companies in the
automotive supply sector and subsequently evaluated.

Consolidated
Financial Statements
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Research and Development
The main focus of ElringKlinger’s R&D activities lies on one of the automotive industry’s
megatrends – emissions reduction, a field that encompasses new lightweight component
designs, ongoing optimization of the combustion engine (downsizing *), alternative drive technologies, and exhaust gas purification technology. In 2015, ElringKlinger again developed
a wide range of new applications that directly or indirectly help to reduce emissions of carbon
dioxide (CO2) and other pollutants such as hydrocarbons, particulates, and nitrogen oxides.

Focus on lightweight construction, efficiency gains,
and emissions reduction
By prioritizing innovative technologies, especially for
demanding niche applications, the E lringKlinger Group
aims to establish a market-leading position and maintain a permanent edge over its competitors with regard to product development. Together, the company’s
outstanding culture of innovation and its consistent
record of investment in research and development (R&D)
provide a firm basis for achieving this objective. Every
year, the Group invests around 5% of its total revenue
in R&D, above the average for the industry as a whole.
In 2015, this allowed it once again to reinforce its competitive position.
One of the key factors fueling innovation within the
Group is the global drive towards ever stricter regulation of vehicle emissions. By 2021, for example, CO 2
emissions for new vehicles must be reduced to 95 g/km
in Europe. What is more, policymakers are already
discussing further cuts to between 75 and 65 g/km
from 2025. In 2014, average CO 2 emissions per vehicle
in Germany were still as high as 132 g/km. In the
United States, vehicle CO2 emissions also need to fall to
132 g/km by 2021 (2012: 178 g/km). In China, too – now
the world’s biggest vehicle market – the government is

R&D costs including
capitalized R&D costs 
R&D ratio
(including capitalized R&D costs)
Capitalization ratio
1
2

2

(in Mio. €)

imposing a limit of around 117 g/km by 2020, compared
with a figure of 169 g/km in 2012.
R&D expenses climb to EUR 71 million
A considerable proportion of the value creation process within the area of vehicle manufacturing is attributable to automotive suppliers – approx. 82%. This has
a favorable impact on E lringKlinger as a development
partner. In total, research and development costs rose
to EUR 61.4 (57.3) million in 2015. If capitalized development costs of EUR 9.8 (9.2) million are included, the
total figure for spending on R&D rose to EUR 71.2 (66.5)
million. The corresponding R&D ratio for 2015, including capitalized R&D expenses, stood at 4.7% (5.0%).
In the period under review, most of this R&D-related
expense was again attributable to longer-established
divisions, i.e., Cylinder-head Gaskets, Specialty Gaskets, Plastic Housing Modules, Shielding Technology,
and Exhaust Gas Purification. At more than 10%, a
significant proportion of development expense is capitalized and is thus not accounted for in “Research
and development cost” within the income statement.
Therefore, E lringKlinger has drawn up the following
table to present its R&D costs as well as its R&D ratio,
including the capitalized amounts.

2015

2014

2013

71.2

66.5

65.7

65.7

56.6

4.7%

5.0%

5.7%

5.8%

5.5%

13.8%

13.8%

13.7%

12.7%

11.8%

Including amortization of capitalized R&D expenses – as of 2013 recognized in cost of sales.
Capitalized R&D costs in relation to R&D costs including capitalized R&D costs.

20121

20111
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Amortization of capitalized R&D expenses presented
in cost of sales amounted to EUR 8.2 (7.6) million in
the financial 2015 year.
The large volume of new projects and development orders was reflected in a further increase in the number of
personnel employed in R&D positions. In 2015, staffing
levels in departments of relevance to research and development were expanded to a headcount of 562 (538).
Technological expertise protected by patents and
competence centers
E lringKlinger’s dedicated patents unit is tasked with
protecting the company’s technological know-how relating to products and processes. In 2015, it applied for
a total of 67 (94) new German and international patents.
The majority of the E
 lringKlinger Group’s research
and development activities are concentrated at the parent company’s sites (
E lringKlinger AG) in Germany
and, in the field of exhaust gas purification, at the
Swiss subsidiary Hug Engineering. These competence
centers limit the risk of technology transfers, outflows
of know-how, and copying.
 lringKlinger builds on existing expertise in the
E
field of lightweight construction
There has been no let-up in the industry trend towards
lightweight construction. Components previously made
of metal are being replaced by plastic equivalents.
This generally produces weight savings of up to
40% and is often more cost-effective. Lighter products have a direct impact on CO 2 reduction. In 2015,
E lringKlinger’s development teams again worked on
various ideas for new products made of high-performance plastics and innovative composites.
Their main focus was on new material concepts. These
include organo sheets *, a lightweight fiber-reinforced
composite made of woven fibers – preferably carbon
or glass fiber but also aramid fibers – embedded in a
thermoplastic matrix. This makes it possible to achieve
a substantial improvement in resilience and rigidity.
Organo sheets could pave the way for a host of new
applications in structural areas of the vehicle, especially in the vehicle body, but also, for example, with
regard to the battery mounting, seat pan, and spare
tire recess.

* Cf. glossary
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 lringKlinger obtained some very promising results
E
from development projects involving a much lighter
underbody paneling material (based on compressed
textiles) that also reduces noise and vibration levels.
This technology helps to reduce air resistance (Cw
drag coefficient) and improves the vehicle’s aerodynamic performance. The lightweight construction process involves combining thermally reshaped plastic
components and a variety of surfaces using a range of
composite, non-woven, and foam-based materials. Following the start of series production in Europe in the
preceding year, there are plans to launch a number of
large-scale projects for premium car makers in the
NAFTA region in 2016.
 lringKlinger made further progress in the developE
ment of plastic resonators that are installed in the
chargeair duct to reduce noise. These are currently
being tested by various customers.
Thanks to E
 lringKlinger’s development teams, glass-
fiber-reinforced polyamide engine brackets are ready
to enter series production. The engine bracket supports the engine above the engine mount. Compared
with the traditional aluminum design, the new plastic
model delivers better acoustic performance, more effective thermal insulation, and a weight-saving. The company began work on its first series production orders
in 2015.
In 2014, E lringKlinger made its debut in the market for
lightweight vehicle body components with its newly
developed and highly innovative polymer-metal hybrid
(PMH *). This product entered series production in
2015. The company has been working on this ground-
breaking technology in cooperation with a German
car maker. E lringKlinger developed the complex tool
technology required for this purpose. A combination
tool is used to link hydroforming (Hydroforming *)
with plastic injection-molding so that complex and
extremely lightweight components can be made in a
single process. This new hybrid technology is now in
use to make cockpit cross-car beams, front-end carriers, and front-end adapters. E
 lringKlinger developers are already investigating other possible vehicle
applications. There is considerable medium-term
potential for other structural components with a

range of geometries.
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 lringKlinger is also contributing its expertise to the
E
ReLei (fabrication and recycling strategies for electromobility to recycle lightweight structures in fiber-
reinforced composite hybrid design) project sponsored
by Germany’s Federal Ministry of Education and Research. The goal of the research project, which is being coordinated by E lringKlinger, is to develop recycling strategies for carbon fiber-reinforced plastics to
be used in future electric vehicles.
Boosting efficiency as trend towards downsizing
places ever-growing demands on sealing and
shielding solutions
Trends such as downsizing *, alternative fuels, and
hybridization are placing ever-increasing demands on
the combustion engine. The performance requirements
relating to cylinder-head and specialty gaskets are becoming increasingly challenging due to more frequent
load changes, elevated temperatures, and higher pressures.

6%
r ed u c t io n o f
C y l i n de r capaci t y
As a result of downsizing, the average size, i.e.,
displacement, of a conventional combustion engine
will be reduced by a further 6% by 2021.
(Source: PwC Autofacts, November 2015)

In 2015, therefore, the focus was on refining stopper
geometries * for the top layer of cylinder-head gaskets.
E lringKlinger was the first automotive supplier to develop embossed end stoppers for gasoline engines.
These are mainly used in engines located in particularly confined spaces. Most of the demand for this
product comes from Asian and American customers.
During the year under review, E lringKlinger broke its
previous record with 308 (305) series development
projects in the field of cylinder-head gaskets.

Annual Report 2015

In terms of solutions that boost efficiency, the company’s development teams concentrated on ideas related
to the turbocharging of optimized vehicle engines,
other measures to reduce exhaust emissions involving
intensive exhaust gas recirculation (EGR *), and more
stringent cleanliness and anti-leak requirements in
automatic transmission units.
During the year under review, 
E lringKlinger also
worked on complex EGR gaskets with an integrated
screening fabric. This filters out ceramic particles and
soot that could otherwise damage the turbocharger.
The company also worked on solutions to integrate
additional functions such as filters and screens into
the control plates used in automatic and dual-clutch
transmission systems. One of the main objectives here
is to reduce leakage currents. Among other benefits,
this would help to optimize fuel consumption.
 lringKlinger developers also focused on new gasket
E
solutions for air conditioning compressors and enhanced coatings for V-ring gaskets in the turbocharger
as a way of improving leakage rates. They made further improvements to the coating technology used
for transmission pistons. A lower coefficient of friction
leads to faster gear changes and increases efficiency.
The result is a substantial reduction in sliding friction.
In 2015, the company began series production of a
highly efficient oil separation system for cars. The variable-flow separator captures a large proportion of the
blow-by flows in the engine that leak past the pistons
into the crankcase – without any loss of separating
performance. The separation system is primarily designed to offer a premium solution for cars or medium-
sized commercial vehicles.
Temperatures in the engine and exhaust tract are
steadily increasing as a result of downsizing and the
use of turbochargers. This has led to a greater demand
for shielding solutions. Besides thermal shielding,
more and more vehicles now incorporate components
with acoustic shielding properties. At the same time,
more compact engine compartments mean that air has
to be directed more efficiently; specially designed
shielding systems can also perform this role.
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Accordingly, one of the R&D priorities in 2015 was to refine E
 lringKlinger’s studded and perforated component
surfaces to improve the shielding system’s acoustic
performance. The perforation ratio and a method of
partial perforation, where appropriate in combination
with fiber materials, make it possible to target and
suppress specific disruptive frequencies.
The issue of weight reduction is increasingly important in the area of thermal-acoustic shielding components, and here too E
 lringKlinger developers looked at
a range of new materials.
There was a continued focus on efforts to improve
thermal management through direct encapsulation of
the exhaust tract. This minimizes radiation losses
while delivering faster warm-up times and higher operating temperatures. In turn, this enhances the efficiency of catalytic converters, thus helping to reduce
emissions.
Emissions reduction: Towards a zero-emissions
future with battery technology and fuel cells
Alternative drive technologies are set to play a key role
in the long term. E
 lringKlinger was among the first to
prepare itself by developing components for every possible scenario involving cars powered electrically by
batteries or by fuel cells.
Although revenue from series production in the field of
battery technology was still well below expectations in
2015, there was an increase in the number of new
development projects. In this area, the current trend is
increasingly towards plug-in hybrids, while in the medium to long term the focus is on new cell generations
with lower costs and greater specific storage capacity.
 lringKlinger’s developers made further refinements
E
to improve the functionality and manufacturing efficiency of cell contact systems * for lithium-ion batteries.
In addition, they designed cell housing components
with integrated safety functions as part of a series of
funded projects.
The company saw some very promising results from
initial development projects focusing on the design of
its own lithium-ion battery modules. E lringKlinger is
keen to expand its product portfolio in the field of
electromobility. In particular, it wants to meet the

* Cf. glossary
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demand from niche markets such as construction
machinery and forklift trucks.
 lringKlinger began development work in the area of
E
fuel cell technology over ten years ago. Thanks to the
support of its various divisions, the company’s portfolio now ranges from fuel cell components and cell
stacks to electricity generators. The two different technologies involved are the SOFC * high-temperature fuel
cell and the PEMFC * low-temperature fuel cell. There
are strong arguments on both sides: SOFCs are particularly effective when used with today’s logistically
available fuels, all of which are based on hydrocarbons,
while PEMFCs are the ideal technology for use with
hydrogen, which has considerable potential as the fuel
of tomorrow.
SOFCs are primarily used as a low-emission, lownoise solution for electricity generation in a range of
applications and for combined heat and power (CHP )
generation in fuel cell heating systems designed for
individual and multiple-occupancy buildings. Natural
gas and liquid gas are two examples of the fuels
used. E
 lringKlinger’s takeover of new enerday GmbH,
Neubrandenburg, Germany, in 2014 allowed it to expand its existing system know-how in the SOFC field.
The new additions to its portfolio – low-emission, lownoise generators – can provide grid-free electricity
efficiently and without maintenance for 365 days, even
in continuous operation. This opens up numerous
opportunities for a variety of promising applications,
e.g., in boats and telecommunications. Since 2015,
E lringKlinger has provided energy for a well-known
wind turbine manufacturer during the construction of
new wind farms.
PEM fuel cells are used wherever hydrogen can be
made available. Although the network of hydrogen
refueling stations in Germany and other countries is
expanding, it is likely to be some years before nationwide coverage is achieved. For the time being,
E lringKlinger is therefore concentrating on “back to
base” applications such as conveyor vehicles in logistics centers and local authority maintenance vehicles.

In 2015, E lringKlinger received a prestigious f-cell
award in the “Products and Market” category for its
BZM -5 PEM fuel cell module, which has a scalable output of between 1 and 50 kW. The award was granted
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by the German federal state of Baden-Württemberg,
partly in recognition of the component and module
design, which is suitable for series production. The
module provides the ideal base for simple, low-cost
fuel cell-battery hybrid systems for a range of applications. It is already in use in logistics centers, and the
feedback to date has been very positive.
Exhaust gas purification: Tighter emissions limits on
and off the road
The imposition of stricter limits on emissions is also
being felt outside the automotive sector, e.g., in the
maritime industry. This raises the prospect of some
new and attractive niche markets. E lringKlinger’s subsidiary Hug develops and produces complete exhaust
gas purification systems with all the essential components such as ceramic substrates, catalytic coatings,
metering and control technology, and housings. These
systems are primarily designed for use in commercial
vehicles, stationary engines, construction machinery,
and marine diesel engines.
Hug’s core products include SCR systems * that reduce
levels of nitrogen oxides * in exhaust gases by means
of a chemical reaction involving urea. The CleanCoat™
coating * developed by E
 lringKlinger contains no precious or heavy metals and is used as a catalyst to help
burn off soot in the diesel particulate filter.
In 2015, Hug continued to work on the development of
a compact SCR system with integrated soundabsorption. It also successfully began production of a new
urea dosing system for ships and yachts.
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From 2016, the maritime industry will have to meet
the stricter emissions limits specified in IMO Tier III *.
In response, the trend is towards combined systems
specially adapted to meet space constraints. Among
other things, the regulations drawn up by the International Maritime Organization (IMO ) include emissions
limits aimed at preventing and combating marine pollution. Provisions set out in IMO Tier III include stricter
standards governing nitrogen oxide emissions in new
ships. They apply to specially designated areas. During
the year under review, Hug’s first SCR system was
certified for this purpose; it is being installed in a
vessel designed by a leading Dutch yacht builder.
Hug’s developers are currently working to gain additional certifications worldwide.
One of the Group’s most important product developments in 2015 was an active regeneration system for
use in diesel particulate filters (DPF *). The regeneration process is vital in order to burn off soot deposits in
the filter. Thanks to this new development, a low-cost
mini-burner is now being introduced. It is particularly
well suited for DPF applications of up to 250 kW in conjunction with low exhaust temperatures, e.g., for use in
construction machinery or where the sulfur content of
the fuel is still very high, as is still the case for instance
in many emerging market countries. As such, it is a
very attractive product for the Asian market. In 2015,
Hug secured its first orders in China, and the trend is
upwards. The systems made by Hug are installed in
the stationary plant and equipment used to produce
electricity and heat from the alternative fuels biogas
and landfill gas. Over the course of 2016, E
 lringKlinger
expects to generate additional revenue in this important Asian market.
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Global economic growth dampened by emerging
countries
The global economy lost some of its forward momentum over the course of 2015. The sustained dip in commodity and energy prices proved to be a blessing for
the industrialized economies in particular, whereas
emerging markets with a strong dependence on raw
material exports were faced with severe losses. The
developing countries as a whole, which account for
more than 70% of global growth, saw a further decline in their rate of expansion. According to the latest
figures published by the International Monetary Fund
(IMF ), the established economies recorded an increase
in their gross domestic product (GDP ) of 1.9% in 2015.
Growth within the emerging and developing countries
contracted from 4.6% in 2014 to 4.0% in the year
under review.
Europe’s domestic economy was supported by historically low interest rates due to an expansive monetary
policy adopted by the European Central Bank as well
as by a tangible gain in purchasing power as a result of
favorable energy prices in 2015. What is more, the
weakness of the euro in relation to other currencies
provided a boost for exports.
The German economy expanded in line with that of the
eurozone, supported by both private and public sector
consumption. From mid-2015 onwards, however, waning demand from markets beyond the euro area had a
dampening effect on growth.

* Cf. glossary

The world’s largest economy – the United States – was
in good shape in 2015, buoyed in particular by strong
consumer spending. While the strength of the US
dollar exerted some downward pressure on the industrial sector, the improved financial situation of private
households together with high employment levels
acted as a stimulus to demand. In December 2015, the
Federal Reserve went ahead with its much-a nticipated
decision to raise the benchmark interest rate by 0.25
percentage points, thereby reversing its policy of low
interest rates and interest rate cuts that had previously
spanned a period of almost ten years.
Both heavily dependent on commodity exports, Brazil
and Russia became mired in recession in 2015. While
Brazil had to contend not only with downward pressure on raw material prices but also with cases of
corruption and lower competitiveness at an industrial
level, Russia was hit by international economic sanctions imposed in response to the Crimean crisis.
China acted as a major decelerator on global economic
growth in 2015. Measures initiated by the Chinese
government to transform the country from being an
export-fueled economy to one underpinned to a larger
extent by its domestic market had a dampening effect
on the overall rate of growth. India’s economy remained
on a path of robust recovery in 2015, but fell just short
of the government’s target of 8% year-on-year growth.
On the back of a difficult twelve months in 2014, Japan’s
economy suffered another setback in mid-2015. As a
result, it has yet to sail clear of the doldrums.
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The moderate level of growth achieved by the global economy in 2015 was underpinned
mainly by the favorable performance of markets in the United States and Western Europe.
By contrast, the emerging and developing countries proved sluggish, which had an adverse
effect on economic growth as a whole. What is more, China lost some of its forward momentum. These trends were mirrored in the performance of auto markets around the world.
Led by Europe and the NAFTA states, the global car market expanded by around 2% in 2015.
China saw a significant slowdown in its rate of expansion, whereas markets in Latin
America and Russia underwent a severe slump.
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Year-on-year change
in %

2014*

2015

World

3.4

3.1

Germany

1.6

1.5

Eurozone

0.9

1.5

USA

2.4

2.5

Brazil

0.1

- 3.8

China

7.3

6.9

India

7.3

7.3

Japan

0.0

0.6

Source: International Monetary Fund (January 2016)
*Prior-year figures changed in accordance with data as of the publication date of January 19, 2016

Vehicle industry in 2015: solid gains in
North America – Europe produces pleasant surprise
The car industry was driven by surprisingly favorable
developments in Western Europe and the NAFTA states
during 2015, while at the same time being influenced
by an unexpectedly severe loss in momentum in China
together with a market slump in Brazil and Russia. In
total, global demand for new vehicles grew by around
2%. News of the VW emissions incident that broke in
mid-September had no tangible impact on car sales as
a whole or on diesel car sales as a proportion of all new
cars sold (cf. Opportunities and Risks, page 96 et seqq.).

output for German car makers moved beyond the
threshold of 15 million units for the first time in 2015.

European car market accelerates across the board
Sales figures in Western Europe were up markedly in
2015. At 13.2 million, new car registrations in the market as a whole were still below the level recorded prior
to the crisis year of 2009. However, this proved to be
the market’s best performance in five years. Led by
Spain, all five key markets (Germany, France, Italy,
Spain, and the United Kingdom) advanced well into
positive territory. The smaller players also generated
forward momentum, with an increasingly strong upward trend towards the end of the year. The German
automobile industry managed to expand in terms of
vehicle sales and production output in 2015, which
coincided with stronger export figures. In doing so,
it maintained the trajectory of growth seen in the
preceding year. Domestic car production rose by 2.1%
to 5.7 (5.6) million units. Around 77% of this total was
attributable to exports, which increased by 2.4% to
4.4 (4.3) million vehicles. At a global level, production

US market breaches 17 million mark
Low fuel prices, cheap loans, and solid levels of employment helped to keep the US market in the fast lane.
Demand was particularly buoyant when it came to SUVs.
Sales of passenger cars and light trucks totaled 17.4
million, just edging past the all-time high of 17.3 million achieved in the year 2000.

Demand in Eastern Europe (excluding Russia) showed
another visible increase in 2015. This came on the
back of a strong performance in 2014, when some of
the Eastern European markets had already recorded
double-digit growth. By contrast, Russia’s vehicle market continued to slide. With sales reaching 1.6 million
light vehicles (passenger cars and light trucks), the
Russian market was just slightly up on the level recorded in the crisis year of 2009.

The downturn in Brazil’s car market was even more
pronounced in 2015, with sales slumping by a quarter
compared to the anemic levels already recorded in
2014 – down to just 2.5 million light vehicles in total.
See-saw performance in China
The Chinese vehicle market recorded a new all-time
high of more than 20 million new car registrations in
2015 and the highest level of growth worldwide in absolute terms. The market, however, proved to be turbulent over the course of the year. After a strong start,
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monthly growth rates plunged into negative territory
towards mid-2015, which was followed by double-digit
growth in the fourth quarter. From October onwards, a
tax incentive for small-sized cars equipped with engines up to 1.6 liters provided significant stimulus.

New C a r Regi s t r at io n s 2 0 1 5

Year-on-year change (in %)

9.0

Western Europe

12.1

Eastern Europe

5.8

United States

- 35.7

Russia

- 25.6

Brazil

9.1

China

7.9

India

- 10.3

Japan

- 5.0

Having been faced with declining truck sales in 2014,
Western Europe saw a stable upturn in registration figures at the beginning of 2015. This positive trend became more pronounced in the second half of the year.
With the exception of Germany, the five largest Western European truck markets recorded double-digit
growth rates. In Germany, the figure for new registrations of mid-sized and heavy trucks was up 4.8% on
the previous year at 150,691 (143,857) units in 2015.
Moving into 2015, the US truck market was not quite
able to emulate its strong growth performance (around
15%) of 2014. Having said that, truck manufacturers
nevertheless recorded a solid order intake in the period under review. On a less positive note, demand
slackened as the year progressed. In December, new
truck registrations dipped slightly into negative territory compared to the same month a year before. In
total, sales of mid-sized and heavy trucks (Class 4-8)
rose to 477,428 (434,799) units. By contrast, Brazil’s
truck market had to contend with a substantial slump,
with demand down by almost half.
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Accounting for 15.6% (16.4%) of Original Equipment
revenues, the company’s business activities relating to
commercial vehicles are of particular importance to
E lringKlinger. In this area, too, there has been a

growing trend towards lightweight engineering, with
customers replacing an ever-greater proportion of truck
parts previously manufactured from metal with lighter
components made of plastic, such as cam covers, oil
pans, and charge air ducts.
New Regi s t r at io n s

India recorded stable growth. Fueled by improved
consumer sentiment and lower interest rates, vehicle
sales expanded to 2.8 million units.

o f Mid - Si z ed a n d H eav y T r u ck s 2 0 1 5

Year-on-year change (in %)

4.8

Germany

The Japanese market, by contrast, proved to be less
encouraging. Car sales stood at 4.2 million, a decline
of around 10% compared to the previous year.
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Commercial vehicle market gains momentum in
Europe – Solid demand for US trucks
Reflecting prevailing economic trends, the performance
of commercial vehicle markets in North America, and
increasingly also Europe, was encouraging in 2015.
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Significant Events
Among the significant events for the ElringKlinger Group in the 2015 financial year were
the acquisition of US automotive supplier M&W Manufacturing Company, Inc., Warren,
United States, the purchase of additional interests in its subsidiary E
 lringKlinger Kunststofftechnik GmbH, Bietigheim-Bissingen, Germany, and the decision to extend the
Management Board by introducing a dedicated finance section.

Acquisition of US automotive supplier M&W
Effective from February 14, 2015, E lringKlinger acquired 100% of the interests in US automotive supplier
M&W Manufacturing Company, Inc., Warren, United
States, from the former owner family. Subsequently, the
name of this subsidiary was changed to E lringKlinger
Automotive Manufacturing, Inc.
In acquiring this enterprise, E lringKlinger has strengthened the market position of its Specialty Gaskets division in North America, in addition to now also operating with its own local production plant within this area
of the business. Together with US market leader M&W,
E lringKlinger has thus advanced to become the premier supplier of transmission control plates. In addition to supplying customers in North America, M&W
is, to an increasing extent, also serving the Chinese
market.
Larger stake in subsidiary ElringKlinger
Kunststofftechnik
Effective from July 17, 2015, E lringKlinger acquired
a further 3% of the ownership interests in the subsidiary E lringKlinger Kunststofftechnik GmbH, Bietig
heim-Bissingen, Germany, from the co-owners. Following this transaction, it holds 77.5% of the interests
in the PTFE specialist. This is in keeping with
E lringKlinger AG’s continued strategy of scaling back
non-controlling interests within the Group to the largest extent possible.


ElringKlinger extends Management Board to include
dedicated finance section
At its meeting convened on December 4, 2015, the Supervisory Board of the E
 lringKlinger Group appointed
Thomas Jessulat to the Management Board of the
E lringKlinger Group effective from January 1, 2016.
Mr. Jessulat will take on the role of Chief Financial
Officer. In accordance with the provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code, his contract will initially cover a period of three years.
As a new member of the Management Board, Mr.
Jessulat will be responsible for the corporate functions
of Finance/Controlling as well as IT and the Industrial
Parks division. Prior to the new appointment, these
individual areas had all been directed by CEO Dr.
Stefan Wolf.
Dr. Wolf will continue to direct the Group companies,
the corporate functions of Legal Affairs, Personnel, Investor Relations, and Corporate Communications, as
well as the Aftermarket division. E
 lringKlinger’s Management Board also includes Theo Becker, who is responsible for operations, the plants of E lringKlinger AG,
and the coporate functions of Quality and Environment
and Materials Management. Following Karl Schmauder’s resignation from the Management Board on February 23, 2016, his field of remit Original Equipment
Sales passed to Dr. Wolf and New Business Areas to
Mr. Becker.
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Revenue increases to over EUR 1.5 billion
For the first time in its corporate history, the
E lringKlinger Group managed to push sales revenue beyond the threshold of EUR 1.5 billion. Revenue increased
by EUR 181.5 million year on year. Taking into account
the effects of currency translation contained in this figure and the revenue contribution from the entity acquired in the US, organic growth amounted to EUR 79.7
million or 6.0%. Thus, revenue was within the long-term
annual range of 5 to 7% targeted by the Group. In terms
of revenue, the weak euro, particularly against the
Group’s key currencies, i.e., the US dollar, the Chinese
yuan, and the Swiss franc, produced positive foreign
exchange effects of EUR 69.6 million in 2015.
The first-time inclusion of former M&W Manufacturing
Company, Inc., Warren, USA , in the scope of consolidation as of February 14, 2015, contributed revenue of
EUR 32.2 million following a strong final quarter. The
name of this entity was changed during the financial
year to E lringKlinger Automotive Manufacturing, Inc.
(also referred to as “EK A M ”).
 lringKlinger managed to increase sales revenue subE
stantially in the final quarter of the year in particular,
despite the fact that the positive foreign exchange effects on revenue had become less pronounced as the
year progressed. Towards the end of the year, growth
became increasingly dynamic in the “NA FTA” and
“Asia-Pacific” sales regions. Business within the German market also improved in the final quarter, expanding by 8.7% year on year. In total, sales revenue generated in the final quarter of the financial year was up
14.4% on the figure recorded in the same period a
year ago. From a purely organic perspective, revenue
growth stood at 8.0%.

In 2015, E lringKlinger was faced with an unexpectedly
strong surge in demand in one of the divisions operating within the Original Equipment segment. This led to
considerable capacity constraints. The additional costs
of EUR 34 million incurred as a result of this situation,
primarily for extra shifts and unscheduled freight
movements, meant that E lringKlinger fell short of its
prior-year earnings. The Group’s original guidance
figure for adjusted earnings before interest and taxes
(EBIT ) as well as before purchase price allocation had
been EUR 170 to 180 million. In view of the aforementioned capacity constraints, this figure had to be revised downward over the course of the year to a range
of between EUR 135 and 145 million as part of the
most recent guidance. Recording adjusted EBIT before
purchase price allocation of EUR 140.4 (162.3) million,
the Group completed the financial year within the
projected earnings corridor.
Strong growth in “NAFTA” and “Asia-Pacific”
business
The E lringKlinger Group made further revenue gains
in all of its sales regions over the course of the 2015
financial year and thus managed to exceed its prior-
year figures. As regards revenue generated in the respective regions, foreign exchange effects were evident
in the majority of markets covered. Eliminating these
effects, the Group recorded its most prominent revenue growth in the regions categorized as “NA FTA ,”
“Asia-Pacific,” and “Rest of Europe.”
In 2015, 
E lringKlinger recorded 31.2% (32.7%) of
Group revenue within its key sales market – the region
comprising the “Rest of Europe.” Although the proportion of revenue generated in Europe (excluding Germany) continued to fall as a result of stronger expansion within the international growth markets, this
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Maintaining its consistent trajectory of growth in 2015, the E
 lringKlinger Group increased
its sales revenues by 13.7% to EUR 1,507.3 (1,325.8) million. The company benefited
from buoyant structural growth within many of its product groups. However, impacted in
particular by additional costs driven by strong demand, it was unable to emulate last
year’s earnings performance.
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G r o u p Sa l e s b y Regio n i n 2 0 1 5

(prior year) in %

South America and
Rest of World
NAFTA

Asia-Pacific

3.9 (4.4)
19.6 (16.6)

Rest of Europe

31.2 (32.7)

Germany

27.3 (29.3)

18.0 (17.0)

region nevertheless developed very well during the
period under review. Revenue from sales in this region
rose by 8.4% to EUR 470.3 (433.8) million.
The German vehicle industry also managed to maintain its forward momentum of recent years. As a result, Group revenues increased by 6.0% to EUR 411.5
(388.1) million. Some of the E lringKlinger components
supplied to German customers in particular are fitted
to vehicles or engines destined for foreign markets.
Despite an increase in revenues, it is becoming increasingly apparent that the German car and automotive supply industry is establishing more extensive
production resources at sites outside of Germany. This
also explains the lower share of domestic revenue in
2015, down from 29.3% to 27.3%.
On the back of strong growth last year (+ 10%),
E lringKlinger managed to drive Group revenue up even
further in the “NAFTA” sales region, taking the figure to
EUR 296.4 (220.4) million. At + 34.5%, revenue growth
proved to be most dynamic in the “NAFTA” region. In
addition to the positive effects of foreign exchange rates,
revenue growth benefited from consistently strong demand for new vehicles. Growth in this region amounted
to 19.9%, even when eliminating revenues contributed
by the entity acquired in the United States. The Group
generated 19.6% (16.6%) of its total revenue in this region, meaning that in terms of size “NAFTA” is of similar importance to the Group as the Asian market.
The strong depreciation of the Brazilian real had a
significant impact on revenue generated in the region

encompassing “South America and the Rest of the
World” in 2015. While revenues increased by a solid
11.5% in the first half of 2015, they fell by 8.6% in the
second half of the financial year due to the direction taken by foreign exchange rates. In total, revenue amounted to EUR 58.3 (57.9) million. However, adjusted for the
effects of foreign exchange rates, revenue was up 10.9%
on the prior-year figure. On this basis, the percentage
share in Group revenue declined to 3.9% (4.4%).
Despite economic volatility within the Asian markets,
coinciding with a slowdown in growth in some cases,
E lringKlinger managed to drive revenue up by 20.0%
to EUR 270.7 (225.6) million in its “Asia-Pacific” sales
region. This was in large part due to the positive effects
of foreign exchange rates. Lifting its growth rates from
quarter to quarter, the Group recorded a currency-adjusted gain of 7.9% in the year as a whole. E
 lringKlinger
has increasingly been investing in the expansion of its
“Asia-Pacific” sales region over recent years – and the
Group benefited from these efforts in 2015. The Asian
markets outside of China, in particular, produced significant growth in the period under review. The rate of
growth within the Chinese vehicle market returned to a
more normal level in 2015. This was reflected in the
growth rates of 
E lringKlinger’s Chinese subsidiaries.
“Asia-Pacific” accounted for 18.0% of total Group revenue, up from 17.0% in the same period a year ago.
Factoring in revenue contributions associated with
indirect exports by European vehicle and engine manufacturers from Europe to Asia, the share of Group revenue from Original Equipment business a
 ttributable to
“Asia-Pacific” would amount to roughly one-quarter.
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The percentage share of foreign sales in relation to
Group revenue rose yet again in 2015, with the figure
increasing to 72.7% (70.7%). For E
lringKlinger,
business within the international markets continues to
gain in importance.
Strong gains in Original Equipment segment
The Original Equipment segment accounted for 83.3%
(82.2%) of Group revenues in 2015. Revenue increased
by 15.2% to EUR 1,255.8 (1,089.7) million. The most
sizeable stimuli for growth came from the Specialty
Gaskets, Plastic Housing Modules, and Shielding
Technology divisions. Growth within this area was
partly due to the incorporation of the US company
EK A M . Overall, E lringKlinger continued to benefit
from growing demand at a structural level for automatic transmission components, turbocharger gaskets, thermal-acoustic shielding parts, and lightweight
plastic modules. At the same time, it saw an increase
in the number of E lringKlinger products fitted per
vehicle. The segment also profited from a number of
new product rollouts in 2015, e.g., newly developed
polymer hybrid components that are being produced
in Canada and China for a premium car maker from
Germany.
Shielding Technology faced with surge in demand
One of the units within the Shielding Technology division had to contend with a disproportionately strong
rise in demand during 2015. Additional costs totaling
EUR 34 million, e.g., for extra shifts and freight movements, were incurred in order to be able to process

excess orders. 
E lringKlinger initiated a number of
measures that are already showing positive effects.
This illustrates that the unit is now back on the right
track. E
 lringKlinger anticipates that trailing exceptional costs will amount to around EUR 10 million by
the time measures to expand capacity levels have finally been completed.
Further reduction in fixed costs within E-Mobility
Global demand for pure electric vehicles and plug-in
hybrids was sluggish in 2015, with the low price of
diesel and gasoline, in particular, having a dampening
effect. Against this back-drop, the share of revenues
generated by E
 lringKlinger’s E-Mobility division fell
short of expectations. However, at EUR 11.0 (11.0)
million, revenue matched last year’s figure.
Thanks to measures implemented for the purpose of
cost streamlining, the Group managed to scale back its
loss before taxes to 5.1 (- 8.0) million.
Exhaust Gas Purification falls short of expectations
Within the Exhaust Gas Purification division, which
produces exhaust treatment systems mainly for industrial applications and ships, revenues and earnings
tend to fluctuate more noticeably than in the case of
E lringKlinger’s conventional series production business.
In 2015, E lringKlinger was faced with a temporary
dip in demand for exhaust gas purification systems deployed in natural gas power plants. The same applied
to projects centered around inland waterway vessels
and construction machinery.

Sa l e s Re v e n u e b y s eg m e n t i n 2 0 1 5

(prior year) in € million

Industrial Parks
Services
Engineered Plastics
Aftermarket
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4.3 (4.5)
8.3 (8.1)
96.6 (92.9)
142.2 (130.7)

Original Equipment 1,255.8 (1,089.7)

– Cylinder-Head Gaskets
– Speciality Gaskets
– Plastic Housing Modules/
Elastomer Technology
– Shielding Technology
– Exhaust Gas Purification

Consolidated
Financial Statements

ElringKlinger AG

72

C o m bi n ed Ma n age m e n t Repo r t

ElringKlinger AG

Sales and Earnings Performance

Sa l e s i n t he O r igi n a l E q u ip m e n t Seg m e n t

Sa l e s i n t he A f t e r m a r ke t Seg m e n t

in € million

in € million

1,600

200

Annual Report 2015

1,255.8

1,200

150

1,089.7

800

100

400

50

0

0

2014

2015

Although the Exhaust Gas Purification division picked
up considerable pace in the final three months and
generated higher revenue than in the preceding quarters, revenue for the financial year as a whole was
down year on year at EUR 50.3 million, compared to
a prior-year total of EUR 72.9 million. The division
actively worked on several new projects, including the
certification of retrofit solutions for off-road vehicles
and SCR dosing systems for nitrogen oxide reduction
in marine engines, which were developed in response
to the IMO exhaust emission regulations coming into
force in 2016. This is complemented by development
projects relating to construction machinery, stationary
engines, and exhaust gas reduction systems for large
vessels powered by heavy fuel oil.
Due to the strong project-based nature of its business,
earnings performance in this division is more volatile.
Exhaust Gas Purification posted earnings before taxes
of EUR 4.4 (17.4) million for the year as a whole. When
comparing these figures with the previous year, it
should be noted that results in 2014 were influenced to
a significant extent by invoicing two large-scale contracts.
Due to exceptional costs incurred over the course of
2015 in the Shielding Technology division and the
marked downturn in earnings within the Exhaust
Gas Purification division, the operating result for the
Original Equipment segment fell to EUR 91.2 (111.2)
million. Earnings before taxes stood at EUR 85.7
(111.4) million.

130.7

2014

142.2

2015

Strong growth in Aftermarket business
The Aftermarket segment mainly encompasses
E lringKlinger’s spare parts portfolio consisting primarily of cylinder-head gaskets and complete gasket
sets. Despite geopolitical tensions in some of the key
sales markets for automotive parts, E lringKlinger
managed to increase its revenue by 8.8% to EUR 142.2
(130.7) million in 2015. The three strongest revenue-
generating regions – Western Europe, Eastern Europe,
and the Middle East – each grew at a percentage rate
towards the lower end of the double-digit range.
In Western Europe, an upturn in the economy produced buoyant growth, as repairs that had often been
postponed during the economic crisis finally went
ahead. More extensive efforts to cultivate markets in
countries such as Italy, France, and Spain also had a
positive impact.
The individual markets of Eastern Europe, the Middle
East, and Africa showed a mixed picture. Geopolitical
tensions in Russia, the Middle East, and a number of
North African countries in particular had a dampening
effect on business. At the same time, some wholesalers
were faced with limited access to refinancing and thus
often showed a reluctance to go ahead with purchases.
On a more positive note, E lringKlinger benefited to an
increasing extent from the sustained growth in ownership of Germanmade cars throughout these regions.
Overall, the Group achieved very solid growth rates in
all three markets.
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The direction taken by the “NA FTA” region was encouraging. Operating from a low base, E
 lringKlinger
managed to lift sales revenue by 18.8%. The expansion strategy specifically put in place for the purpose
of targeting the North American market showed the
first signs of success in the period under review. Expansion in the company’s market presence is an important step forward when it comes to securing an
additional share of the local aftermarket business.
Markets in the region encompassing “South America
and the Rest of the World” continued to languish in the
doldrums, which was reflected in stagnant Aftermarket business in 2015.
Over the course of 2015, E
 lringKlinger also pressed
ahead with efforts to establish its spare parts business
in the “Asia-Pacific” region. Compared to the previous
year, the segment had to contend with a downturn in
business of 9.7% within the Asian markets. However,
the rapid expansion in vehicle numbers suggests that
demand for spare parts will become increasingly buoyant in the medium term. With this in mind, E lringKlinger
is fully committed to expanding further in this region.
In doing so, it is investing in a key market of the future
that offers promising prospects for growth.
 lringKlinger maintained the strong position it holds
E
in its domestic market and expanded its business by
0.9% on the back of buoyant growth in the previous
year. In total, domestic sales accounted for a good
13% (around 15%) of revenue generated in the Aftermarket segment.
Outpacing revenue growth in 2015, the Aftermarket
segment made a positive contribution to Group earnings. Earnings before interest and taxes rose by 12.4%
in total, taking the figure to EUR 28.2 (25.1) million.
Slight revenue growth in Engineered Plastics segment
The Engineered Plastics segment specializes in processing the high-performance plastic PTFE * (polytetrafluoroethylene). Its business is also centered on the associated application technology. In total, the Engineered
Plastics segment grew at 4.0% year on year, taking
revenue to EUR 96.6 (92.9) million in 2015. However,
this expansion was attributable mainly to the takeover
of Polytetra GmbH in 2014. Without the effects of
consolidation, revenue would have been largely unchanged year on year.

* Cf. glossary
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While revenues generated within the automotive industry continued to expand during the first half of the
year, the trend reversed in the second six months.
Over the course of 2015 as a whole, this segment also
saw a downturn in business with customers operating
in the mechanical and plant engineering sector. This
industry was hit particularly hard by the political instability of markets and their more pronounced volatility during the period under review. As a consequence,
revenues fell short of expectations, and the performance of other markets was not sufficiently strong to
compensate for this situation. In China, meanwhile, the
Engineered Plastics segment also failed to match the
growth rates it had achieved in previous years.
In 2015, E lringKlinger continued to press ahead with
efforts to internationalize its business within this segment, which had previously been focused heavily on
Central Europe. The sales companies in Qingdao, China,
and Buford, USA , looked at cultivating markets in Asia
with an emphasis on China, Korea, and Taiwan as well
as in the NA FTA region, primarily in the United
States, Canada, and Mexico. In taking this strategic
approach, E lringKlinger is investing in the future of
the Engineered Plastics segment. The sales team in
the United States secured several development projects in 2015. The associated production activities will
be handled by the subsidiary in Buford, United States.
E lringKlinger is currently still in the process of penetrating the “NA FTA” sales region, the aim being to
substantially expand its share of the world’s biggest
PTFE market in the medium term.
Up-front costs associated with market cultivation, particularly for sales and development, had a dilutive effect on earnings in 2015. The Engineered Plastics segment recorded earnings before interest and taxes of
EUR 13.2 million, down from EUR 15.4 million in the
previous year. Correspondingly, the operating profit
margin fell to 13.7% (16.6%).
Industrial Parks
E lringKlinger’s rental income from the industrial

parks in Idstein, Germany, and Kecskemét-Kádafalva,
Hungary, amounted to EUR 4.3 (4.5) million. At the
same time, the Industrial Parks segment contributed
slightly more to Group EBIT compared to the previous
year, at EUR 0.7 (0.4) million.

Consolidated
Financial Statements

ElringKlinger AG

74

C o m bi n ed Ma n age m e n t Repo r t

Sales and Earnings Performance

Slight revenue growth in Services segment
In the Services segment, Elring Klinger Motortechnik
GmbH, Idstein, Germany, provides engineering and
testing services to vehicle manufacturers and other
suppliers. The company’s range of services in this area
includes SCR technology (Selective Catalytic Reduction)
for the purpose of nitrogen oxide reduction as well as
particle counting for diesel particulate filters.
 lringKlinger Logistic Service GmbH, Ergenzingen,
E
Germany, is also accounted for in this segment. It provides logistics services such as sorting and packaging
both within the Group and to outside customers. In 2015,
it accounted for a substantial proportion of revenue
and earnings growth within this segment. By contrast,
Elring Klinger Motortechnik GmbH saw a year-on-year
decline in both revenue and earnings.
Overall, sales revenue was up marginally year on year
at EUR 8.3 (8.1) million. At 2.0 (1.9) million, earnings
before interest and taxes were also slightly higher than
in the previous year. As a result, the profit margin improved from 23.5% to 24.1%.
Gross profit margin diluted by exceptional charges
The adverse factors relating to capacity constraints
within the Shielding Technology division, as outlined
above, had a significant impact on the Group’s earnings
performance in the 2015 financial year. A disproportionately strong increase in demand led to exceptional
costs of EUR 34 million, which mainly affected cost of
sales and, additionally, selling expenses. They grew
at a faster rate than revenue, up by 17.1% to EUR
1,133.0 (967.4) million. Correspondingly, the gross
profit margin fell to 24.8% (27.0%).
Despite falling slightly year on year, the percentage
revenue contribution from tool-related billings remained at a high level in 2015. Compared to serial
production business, revenue associated with tools
tends to generate lower earnings for the Group in
some cases.
At +10.8%, the cost of materials, including tool-related
costs, rose at a slower rate compared to revenue
growth – to EUR 643.2 (580.6) million in total. Correspondingly, the cost-of-materials ratio fell to 42.7%
(43.8%). Price reductions relating to C-steel and polyamide granules had a positive effect, and prices for
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precision stainless steel were also maintained at a
stable level. Merely the price of aluminum continued
to edge upward in 2015.
Staff costs rose to EUR 416.7 (371.1) million in the
2015 financial year. This was attributable to the staff
profit-sharing bonus agreed in respect of the 2014
financial year for employees at E
 lringKlinger AG,
E lringKlinger Kunststofftechnik GmbH, and Elring
Klinger Motortechnik GmbH. Amounting to EUR 1,600
(1,450) per employee, this bonus pushed staff costs up
by EUR 5.6 million, after EUR 4.7 million in the previous year. Additionally, collective pay rises coming into
force during the period under review triggered an increase in wages and salaries for personnel employed
under collective agreements. The expansion of staffing levels, particularly abroad, resulted in higher expenses in the financial year under review. Compared
to the previous year, the headcount within the
E lringKlinger Group was up by 9.1%. These factors
were also responsible for driving up the staff cost
ratio, i.e., staff costs accounted for in the cost of sales in
relation to the Group’s total revenue, to 25.2% (23.4%).
E lringKlinger is committed to increasing the level of
automation with regard to machinery and equipment
in order to raise productivity at its production plants.
Selling expenses rose to EUR 116.0 (93.4) million in
the 2015 financial year. This substantial increase, by
24.2%, was fueled mainly by the additional costs incurred by the Group, as discussed earlier, particularly
for extra shifts and unscheduled freight movements.
The Group also recorded an increase in its general and
administrative expenses in 2015, up by EUR 7.9 million to EUR 69.3 (61.4) million. Alongside the expansion in staffing levels, additional expenses relating to
the acquisition of the transmission control plate manufacturer in the United States also pushed general and
administrative expenses higher.
Further expansion in research and development
activities
E lringKlinger again stepped up its efforts in the area
of research and development in the period under review. Expenses relating to R&D activities totaled
EUR 61.4 (57.3) million. Taking capitalized development costs into account, E
 lringKlinger spent a total
of EUR 71.2 (66.5) million on development projects.
This corresponds to an R&D ratio of 4.7% (5.0%).
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property, plant, and equipment, in particular, increased
to EUR 69.9 (64.4) million in total. Depreciation and
amortization of intangible assets and property, plant,
and equipment include negative effects from purchase
price allocations equivalent to EUR 5.2 (3.4) million in
total. This increase was attributable to the EK A M acquisition transacted in 2015.
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* Adjusted for non-recurring items, pre purchase price allocation

While capitalized development costs amounted to
EUR 9.8 (9.2) million, scheduled amortization totaled
EUR 8.2 (7.6) million. The resulting positive effect on
earnings was equivalent to EUR 1.6 (1.6) million. The
Group received government grants of EUR 7.8 (7.4)
million in 2015, which were mainly used on projects in
the field of fuel cell technology, battery engineering,
and lightweight construction. In parallel, the company
incurred projectrelated expenses at a comparable level
for development work and prototyping.
At EUR 20.1 million, other operating income was just
slightly up on the prior-year figure of EUR 18.7 million.
This was attributable primarily to the slight increase in
government grants and a one-time insurance payout,
which was counterbalanced by corresponding expenses
accounted for in the cost of sales. Other operating expenses rose to EUR 12.4 (11.1) million in total.
Adjusted EBIT in line with most recent guidance
Despite strong organic revenue growth in the Original
Equipment and Aftermarket segments, the Group was
unable to offset the exceptional costs incurred in the
Shielding Technology division during 2015. Therefore,
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and
amortization (EBITDA ) fell by 4.5% to EUR 222.8
(233.4) million at Group level.
As a result of more expansive investing activities within the Group, depreciation and amortization rose by
10.2% to EUR 87.5 (79.4) million. Depreciation of

Adjusted earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT )
totaled EUR 140.4 (162.3) million before purchase
price allocation. On this basis, the Group succeeded
in meeting its most recent earnings forecast of EUR
135 to 145 million. In relation to revenue, this corresponds to an adjusted EBIT margin before purchase
price allocation of 9.3% (12.2%). The lower margin
in 2015 was attributable primarily to temporary exceptional costs associated with measures aimed at
eliminating capacity constraints. It was further diluted by around 0.4 percentage points due to losses incurred in the E-Mobility division. Other dilutive effects
came from the full consolidation of 
E lringKlinger
Marusan Corporation, Tokyo, Japan, (around 0.3 percentage points), an entity whose margin is still considerably lower than that recorded by the Group and,
to a lesser extent, the most recent consolidation of
the subsidiaries new enerday GmbH, Polytetra GmbH,
and – as already mentioned – EK A M .
Group tax rate falls to around 26%
The weakness of the euro against the US dollar, Swiss
franc, and Chinese yuan, in particular, produced significant foreign exchange effects in 2015. The net foreign exchange gain was EUR 3.2 million in the period
under review, after EUR 10.0 million in the previous
year. Net interest costs stood at EUR 11.6 (10.9) million
in the 2015 financial year. Among other aspects, this
was due to more extensive interest expenses as a result of higher net debt.
Consequently, Group earnings before taxes totaled
EUR 128.8 (153.1) million. The tax rate was pushed up
due to the decline in earnings contributions from subsidiaries in countries with a lower Group tax rate. In
the final quarter of 2015, the recognition of loss carryforwards in deferred tax assets at two subsidiaries – in
France and in Switzerland – had a positive tax effect
that reduced the Group tax rate to 25.6% (27.8%). Income tax expenses fell to EUR 33.0 (42.5) million in
the period under review.
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Earnings per share at EUR 1.45
At EUR 95.8 million, net income generated by the
E lringKlinger Group in 2015 fell short of the prior-
year figure of EUR 110.6 million. Due to lower earnings from the Exhaust Gas Purification division
(Hug Group) and the Engineered Plastics division
(E lringKlinger Kunststofftechnik GmbH), net income
attributable to non-controlling interests fell by 14.3%
to EUR 4.2 (4.9) million. Without these interests,
profit attributable to shareholders of E
 lringKlinger AG
stood at EUR 91.6 (105.7) million. On this basis,
earnings per share amounted to EUR 1.45 (1.67) in
2015. As of December 31, 2015, the number of shares
outstanding that were entitled to a dividend remained
unchanged at 63,359,990.

At EUR 34.8 (34.8) million, the total dividend payout would be the same as in the previous year.
Based on net income attributable to shareholders of
E lringKlinger AG, the dividend ratio is 38.0% in
2015, compared to 32.9% in the previous year.

P r o f i t At t r ib u tab l e t o Sha r e ho l de r s o f
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Dividend of EUR 0.55 per share
E lringKlinger AG is committed to a consistent dividend
policy that reflects current earnings performance and
allows shareholders to participate accordingly in the
company’s success. In keeping with this policy, the
Management Board and Supervisory Board will propose to the Annual General Meeting on May 31, 2016,
an unchanged dividend of EUR 0.55 (0.55) per share.
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With an equity ratio of 48.5%, the E
 lringKlinger Group remained very solid with regard
to its financial position as of December 31, 2015. Total assets rose by 13% year on year as a
result of the Group’s organic growth in business and its corporate acquisitions. At 60%,
the proportion of non-current assets was up slightly at the end of the reporting period.

The inclusion of EK A M – acquired in February – in the
scope of consolidation of the E
 lringKlinger Group
prompted an expansion in total assets by EUR 38.1
million in total in the first quarter of 2015. Of this
total, the largest part was attributable to intangible
assets. This item included derivative goodwill of
EUR 17.1 million as well as other intangible assets of
EUR 8.0 million identified as part of the purchase price
allocation. A detailed description of the impact of this
acquisition on the Group statement of financial position can be found in the notes to consolidated financial
statements.
Investments in property, plant, and equipment and investment property as well as intangible assets totaled
EUR 189.8 (163.1) million in the financial year under
review and were well in excess of depreciation/amortization (less write-ups) of EUR 87.5 (79.2) million. As a
result, intangible assets expanded by EUR 28.2 million
to EUR 213.5 (185.3) million, while property, plant,
and equipment rose to EUR 827.3 (708.0) million.

Whereas the increase in intangible assets was attributable primarily to the acquisition of EK A M , the rise in
property, plant, and equipment by EUR 119.3 million
was mainly due to capital expenditure on capacity expansions and streamlining projects. In total, EUR 13.6
million of the year-on-year increase was the result of
foreign exchange factors.
Inventories expand slower than revenue growth
Inventories rose by 11.0%, i.e., at a slightly less pronounced rate than revenue growth (13.7%). As of December 31, 2015, they amounted to EUR 321.9 (290.1)
million. Overall, EUR 6.6 million of the EUR 31.8 million increase in inventories was attributable to the accretive effects of currency translation, while a further
EUR 4.8 million was due to additions from the acquisition and first-time consolidation of EK A M . Without
these factors, inventories would have increased by
7.0% compared to the figure posted at the end of the
prior-year reporting period.
Trade receivables rose by 17.2% to EUR 287.2 (245.1)
million compared to the end of the 2014 financial year.
Eliminating the effects of currency translation as well
as the increase attributable to the first-time consolidation of EK A M (EUR 4.5 million), trade receivables
were up by EUR 31.5 million or 12.9%.
When looking at inventories and trade receivables over
the course of the entire year, it should be noted that
the increase compared to the figure recorded at the
end of 2014 was mainly due to business developments
in the first quarter. On the one hand, the increase was
a necessary response to growth in business. What is
more, it was also to be seen against the backdrop of
lower inventory levels at the end of 2014. Over the remainder of the year, capital tied up in inventories and
trade receivables remained at a stable level, despite the
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Total assets up due to investing activities and M&A
efforts
As of December 31, 2015, total E lringKlinger Group
assets were up by around 13% at EUR 1,765.8
(1,558.8) million. In this context, the year-on-year increase was also attributable to some extent to the depreciation of the euro against key currencies within
the Group. Primarily, however, it was driven by the
growth-induced expansion in working capital (inventories and trade receivables) and property, plant, and
equipment as well as the first-time consolidation of the
newly acquired US entity M&W Manufacturing Company, Inc., Warren, USA . The latter is now trading
under the name of E
 lringKlinger Automotive Manufacturing, Inc. (also referred to as “EK A M ”).
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fact that the level of receivables at the end of the financial year was higher, due to factors relating to the end
of the reporting period, as a result of relatively substantial tooling revenue.

B a l a n ce Shee t S t r u c t u r e E l r i n g K l i n ge r G r o u p

in % of Balance Sheet Total

Assets

Liabilities and Equity

100

At the end of the reporting period, cash and cash
equivalents were lower at EUR 48.9 (68.7) million. In
total, current assets amounted to EUR 691.3 (635.2)
million, which corresponds to 39.1% of total assets.
Equity ratio remains high at 48.5%
As of December 31, 2015, equity accounted for by the
E lringKlinger Group rose to EUR 855.7 (775.2) million. The equity ratio at the end of the reporting period amounted to 48.5% (49.7%), thus remaining at a
solid level. Revenue reserves increased to EUR 628.9
(572.2) million. The year-on-year change was attributable to the allocation of net income (net income attributable to shareholders of E
 lringKlinger AG) totaling
EUR 91.6 (105.7) million as well as – with a contrary
effect – the dividend payout of EUR 34.8 (31.7) million. Additionally, other reserves increased by EUR
21.4 million in total to EUR 11.1 (- 10.3) million. To a
large extent, the latter include foreign exchange
translation differences of EUR 19.1 million, which were
accounted for in other comprehensive income. This
item also includes actuarial gains of EUR 4.4 (- 21.4)
million from pension obligations.
Slight reduction in pension provisions
The remeasurement of pension provisions at the end
of the reporting period resulted in a reduction in this
item to EUR 118.7 (124.1) million. The actuarial gain
from the remeasurement was accounted for directly in
equity and thus had no impact on profit or loss.
Non-current provisions fell to EUR 12.3 (16.6) million.
The decline was attributable in part to the settlement
of an entitlement in connection with a warranty incident.
At the same time, a reimbursement was received from
an insurer, which was recognized in other non-current
assets.
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Net debt rises to EUR 487 million
The Group’s financing requirements were covered in
part by cash flow from operating activities and beyond
that by taking on bank borrowings and other loans.
Financial liabilities therefore increased by EUR 118.7
million to EUR 535.7 million compared to the figure
reported as of December 31, 2014 (EUR 417.0 million).
In net terms, both long- and short-term loans rose by
EUR 57.6 million and EUR 61.1 million respectively.
As a result, the Group’s net debt (non-current and current financial liabilities less cash) rose to EUR 486.8
(348.3) million.
Trade payables increased to EUR 85.9 (68.8) million
due to more expansive business.
There were no significant year-on-year changes to the
other liability items as of December 31, 2015.
Overall, liabilities amounted to EUR 910.0 (783.6) million, which corresponds to 51.5% (50.3%) of total
equity and liabilities.
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Cash Flows
With cash flow from operating activities of EUR 123 million and a sufficient liquidity
cushion consisting of cash and open lines of credit, the E
 lringKlinger Group’s financial
situation in terms of cash flow remains solid. In the period under review, operating free
cash flow was dominated by a more substantial outflow connected with investing activities
as well as a year-on-year decline in the Group’s operating result.

The direction taken by net working capital (inventories
and trade receivables less trade payables) was similar
to that seen in the previous financial year. While the
change in inventories, trade receivables, and other assets not attributable to investing or financing activities
led to a cash outflow of EUR 51.8 (39.7) million, the
change in trade payables and other liabilities not attributable to investing or financing activities produced
a cash inflow of EUR 5.9 (8.9) million. The net result of
the aforementioned changes was a reduction in cash
flow by EUR 45.9 (30.8) million.
The direction taken by funds tied up in net working
capital in the fourth quarter was the opposite to that
outlined above. The change in inventories and trade
receivables as well as other assets not attributable to
investing or financing activities led to a cash inflow of
EUR 24.4 (33.4) million, while the change in trade payables and other liabilities not attributable to investing
or financing activities produced a cash outflow of EUR
29.6 (- 17.5) million. Thus, the effects from the first
quarter were partially offset.

In the fourth quarter of 2015, the cash flow effect of
funds tied up in respect of net working capital also
contrasted with that seen in the same period a year
ago. In net terms, the final quarter of 2015 produced a
cash outflow related to net working capital of EUR 5.2
million, as opposed to an inflow of EUR 15.9 million
in the same period a year ago. In this context, last
year’s figure had benefited from an insurance payment of EUR 8.5 million in connection with the definitive settlement of a warranty incident. Despite the fact
that fourth-quarter earnings were largely unchanged
year on year, net cash from operating activities for
this period fell to EUR 31.7 (52.8) million.
Income tax payments reduced cash by EUR 39.4 (- 42.5)
million in 2015.
Depreciation and amortization (less write-ups) of
non-current assets, as used to determine cash flow,
amounted to EUR 87.5 (79.2) million in the 2015 financial year. This figure includes EUR 5.2 million in
write-downs from purchase price allocations. The
change in provisions, which is also taken into account when determining operating cash flow, had a
dilutive effect equivalent to EUR 7.8 million. This
contrasts with a positive effect of EUR 1.3 million in
the previous year.
The positive non-cash foreign exchange effects were
eliminated in the line item comprising “Other noncash expenses and income” and amounted to EUR - 2.2
(- 13.7) million in the period under review.
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Cash flow from operating activities at EUR 123 million
In the 2015 financial year, the 
E lringKlinger Group
generated net cash from operating activities of EUR
123.3 (149.9) million. The decline by EUR 26.6 million
was attributable primarily to lower Group earnings.
Earnings before taxes fell by EUR 24.3 million to
EUR 128.8 (153.1) million as a result of exceptional
charges relating to capacity constraints within the
Original Equipment segment, as outlined earlier.
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Expansion in foreign investment
Payments made in connection with investments in
property, plant, and equipment as well as investment
property totaled EUR 176.1 million in 2015, after EUR
147.0 million in the previous financial year. The Group’s
investment ratio (payments for investments in property, plant, and equipment as well as investment property
relative to Group sales revenue) was 11.7% (11.1%).
The original capital expenditure target for 2015 had
been set at a level of between 7% and 9% of Group revenue plus approx. EUR 10 million for production technology relating to E lringKlinger Automotive Manufacturing Inc., Warren, USA , (also referred to as “EK A M ”),
a company acquired in 2015. In response to persistent
capacity constraints within the Original Equipment segment, the Group pressed ahead with efforts to increase
its capacity levels over the course of the year. Against
this backdrop and in view of the company’s business
performance in the first half of the year, the Group
raised its capex guidance to between EUR 145 and 155
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million on publishing its results for the first half. The
investments made by the Group during 2015 as a whole
exceeded this revised target corridor.
Investment spending on intangible assets amounted to
EUR 13.7 (16.1) million in 2015.
Investment expenditure (including outflows for investments in intangible assets) was largely directed at the
Original Equipment segment in 2015 and amounted to
EUR 154.7 (145.1) million. A relatively large proportion was attributable to the introduction and expansion
of production capacity for new series production rampups as well as for the purpose of eliminating bottlenecks. From a regional perspective, the share of investments relating to foreign subsidiaries rose substantially
in the period under review, whereas the volume of
investments in Germany was comparable to that recorded in the previous year. As regards foreign investment, the regional focus was on the “Rest of Europe,”
“NAFTA ,” and the sites in China and India.
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Technology divisions. At the other Chinese production
site located in Changchun, additional production capacity was created by means of an extension to the
plant – mainly for cylinder-head and near-engine plastic housing modules.
Looking at the Asian region, another project worth
mentioning is one completed in India in the period under review. An additional production facility, including
offices, was built at the site operated by E lringKlinger
Automotive Components (India) Pvt. Ltd. in Ranjangaon.
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Investment spending directed at EK A M , a company
acquired in 2015, totaled EUR 12.5 million in the period under review. This includes the purchase of a building in Southfield, Michigan, and new production technology required for the manufacture of transmission
control plates.
Back in 2014, E lringKlinger began installing production machinery at its site in Suzhou, China, in preparation for ramp-ups relating to new lightweight components based on hybrid polymer-metal technology.
Further payments were made for this purpose during
the 2015 financial year. In 2015, a second production
line for the manufacture of these pioneering hybrid
components was installed at the site in Leamington,
Canada.
In the Shielding Technology division, meanwhile, unexpectedly strong demand resulted in capacity bottlenecks that were addressed by means of unscheduled
investments aimed at expanding operations.
Investment spending during the period under review
was also targeted at the two plants located in China.
Work on the new construction project initiated in 2014
at the site operated by E lringKlinger China Ltd., Suzhou, China, continued to progress. The new state-ofthe-art facility will be substantially larger than the
production plant used to date. Alongside new lightweight components based on polymer-metal hybrid
technology, it will manufacture in particular additional
parts for the Plastic Housing Modules and Shielding

The focus of investments in the NAFTA region was on
the above-mentioned production line installed for new
lightweight hybrid components at the plant in Canada
as well as projects at the sites in Buford, USA , and
Toluca, Mexico. Among other topics, this includes the
installation of presses capable of producing innovative
lightweight underbody components made of glass-fiber-
reinforced thermoplastics. These components are to be
supplied initially to the North American plants operated
by premium car manufacturers from Germany.
Investments directed at the German sites operated by
E lringKlinger AG within the Original Equipment segment stood at around EUR 40 million. Among the key
items procured within the area of equipment and machinery were a coating system for the Specialty Gaskets division and assembly lines for the production of
plastic housing modules. In addition, production floor
space was increased in the Specialty Gaskets division.
Investment spending at non-domestic sites in Europe
included an expansion of production capacity at the
UK subsidiary in Redcar. In response to the UK company’s buoyant growth, further capital expenditure
was required in 2015 for new presses and assembly
lines for the production of specialty gaskets. Work progressed on the construction of a new plant at the site of
the Turkish subsidiary in Bursa. Starting in 2016, this
facility will mainly produce thermal shielding parts
and specialty gaskets.
Investment spending in the Engineered Plastics segment, primarily E lringKlinger Kunststofftechnik GmbH
in Bietigheim-Bissingen, Germany, amounted to
EUR 17.9 (11.5) million. These funds were used for the
purpose of completing, to a large extent, construction
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work on a new production building, including an extruder tower, that commenced back in 2013 as well as
the installation of additional production machinery.
The additional production capacity at this site is to be
used for new projects in the area of automotive and
mechanical engineering.

The E lringKlinger Group took on financial liabilities
that resulted in a cash inflow of EUR 162.5 (99.8) million. By contrast, loan repayments of EUR 57.1 (46.9)
million were made in the period under review. In net
terms, therefore, financial liabilities rose by EUR 105.4
(52.9) million.

Capital expenditure also centered on a new builiding
at the subsidiary E lringKlinger Logistic Service GmbH
in Ergenzingen, Germany. This entity is assigned to
the Services segment, which accounted for a total of
EUR 11.0 (3.6) million in payments relating to investing activities.

Net cash from financing activities amounted to EUR
65.3 (20.1) million.

Payments for investments in the Aftermarket segment
totaled EUR 2.0 (2.8) million in 2015. Investment
spending in the Industrial Parks segment amounted to
EUR 4.1 (0.1) million.
The acquisition of EK A M resulted in an investment
outflow of EUR 24.2 million in the first quarter of 2015.
By contrast, prior-year investment spending within
this area had totaled EUR 5.7 million for the acquisition of two smaller subsidiaries in Germany.
In total, net cash used in investing activities amounted
to EUR 212.7 (168.0) million in 2015. Therefore, the
E lringKlinger Group had a negative operating free
cash flow (cash flow from operating activities less cash
flow from investing activities, adjusted for payments in
respect of acquisitions) of EUR 65.2 (- 12.4) million.
Increase in cash flow from financing activities
Distributions to shareholders and non-controlling interests rose to EUR 35.9 (32.8) million in 2015, driven
by the higher dividend payment of EUR 0.55 (0.50) per
share by E
 lringKlinger AG.
The payments of EUR 4.2 (0) million made to non-controlling interests for the purchase of interests were attributable to an increase in the ownership interest by
3.0% to now 77.5% at E lringKlinger Kunststofftechnik GmbH, Bietigheim-Bissingen, Germany.

As of December 31, 2015, cash held by the E
 lringKlinger
Group totaled EUR 48.9 (68.7) million and the Group
also had at its disposal approved yet undrawn lines of
credit totaling around EUR 100 million.
Overall assessment by the Management Board of the
financial position, sales and earnings performance,
and cash flows of the Group
In summary, the Management Board considers the
financial position, sales and earnings performance, and
cash flows of both the parent company E lringKlinger AG
and the Group as very solid in respect of the 2015
f inancial year. The Group has a broad customer structure and a number of product ramp-ups in the pipeline.
At the same time, global vehicle production continues
to expand. Taken together, this provides a stable and
sustainable basis for continued positive business development in the future.
With substantial earnings power at an operating level,
a solid assets structure, and a Group equity ratio of
48.5%, the Group is also very solidly positioned when
compared to the industry as a whole.
Viewed as a whole, the E lringKlinger Group has the
necessary financial foundations to pursue its pioneering technological route and realize its growth targets
for revenue and earnings, and to maintain this momentum in the long term.
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Financial Performance, Net Assets and Cash Flows
of ElringKlinger AG
As in previous years, the Group management report and the management report of
ElringKlinger AG have been brought together in a combined format. The business performance for ElringKlinger AG, as outlined below, is based on its annual financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set out in the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch) and the additional requirements of the German Stock
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz).

Solid revenue growth
In the period under review, E
 lringKlinger AG again
benefited from its broad customer base together with
structural growth in specific areas of its business and
the positive trend in global vehicle production. The
company’s cost of materials increased by 3.8% to EUR
592.4 (570.9) million.
As a result of the strong performance seen in specific
sales markets, E lringKlinger AG came close to reaching its original growth target of 5% and managed to
exceed the growth figure of around 2% recorded by
global auto markets as a whole.
Overseas demand remains strong
In 2015, revenue generated by E lringKlinger AG from
domestic sales amounted to EUR 216.4 (218.4) million,
which was close to the buoyant level recorded in the
preceding year. As growth was attributable entirely to
business outside of Germany, the domestic share of
revenue fell to 36.5% (38.3%). E
 lringKlinger AG’s
domestic business also includes revenues associated
with the shipment of components for vehicles and engines that are manufactured in Germany but subsequently exported.
Foreign sales rose by 6.7% to EUR 376.0 (352.5) million. Thus, the percentage share of foreign sales in relation to total revenue grew to 63.5% (61.7%). Europe
retained its position as the key sales market outside
of Germany, with revenue expanding by a substantial

8.5% to EUR 258.5 (238.2) million. Both Western and
Eastern Europe (excluding Russia) saw a significant
boost in sales volumes. The company also expanded
within the NA FTA region, where business grew by
2.5%, followed by Asia with a 1.5% increase.
Growing sales volumes for Original Equipment
Revenue in the area of Original equipment increased
by a modest 2.6% to EUR 462.4 (450.8) million, which
corresponds to 78.1% (79.0%) of total sales revenue
generated by E
 lringKlinger AG in 2015.
Looking at the individual sections within the area of
Original Equipment, the most visible growth came
from sales in the areas of Specialty Gaskets and Cylinder-head Gaskets. With the exception of Housings (Exhaust Gas Purification), all other divisions more or less
matched their prior-year figures or slightly exceeded
them in 2015.
Aftermarket business on track for growth
Having seen revenue grow by a good 9% in 2014, the
Aftermarket business maintained its forward momentum in the period under review. Sales revenue increased
by a further 8.3% to EUR 129.5 (119.6) million in 2015.
This area’s share of total sales at E
 lringKlinger AG thus
rose to 21.9% (20.9%). The company recorded substantial growth primarily in the markets of Eastern
Europe (excluding Russia) and the Middle East.
E lringKlinger has been benefiting from the larger proportion of German-made vehicles in these markets. At
the same time, revenue from sales in Western Europe
was boosted in the period under review, rising by
a lmost 15%.
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Total operating performance up by 4%
Following a reduction in inventories by EUR 0.5 million in 2014, more expansive business led to an increase in inventories of finished goods and work in
progress of EUR 1.8 million in 2015. Total operating
performance, i.e., revenue +/- inventory changes +/work performed by the enterprise and capitalized,
rose by 4.2% to EUR 594.7 (570.9) million.
Other operating income increased to EUR 45.7 (35.1)
million. Among other items, this includes income from
insurance claims relating to warranty incidents, counterbalanced by corresponding expenses. Write-ups on
financial assets were lower than in the previous year at
EUR 2.8 (7.4) million and related to interests held in
three subsidiaries.
Expansion in capacity prompts higher cost of
materials
The cost of materials increased at a slightly faster rate
in relation to sales revenue, up 5.3% to EUR 281.0
(266.8) million. This was due to higher expenses relating to purchased services in order to counteract capacity bottlenecks in the area of Shielding Technology. In
total, the cost-of-materials ratio (cost of materials in
relation to total operating performance) thus increased
slightly to 47.3% (46.7%).
Higher retirement benefit costs due to actuarial interest rate
Personnel expenses rose to EUR 173.0 (160.8) million
in the 2015 financial year. This was attributable to a
number of factors. In addition to the 3.4% increase in
staffing levels, taking the total to 2,572 (2,488) employees as of December 31, 2015, the staff profit-sharing bonus of EUR 1,600 (1,450) lifted personnel expenses by EUR 4.4 (3.7) million. Furthermore, the
wage increase of 2.2% that came into effect on May 1,
2014, as well as the one-off payment in March 2015 of
EUR 150 per person under the terms of collective
agreements, and a further collective wage increase by
3.4% as of April 1, 2015, for personnel employed in
Germany under collective agreements prompted a rise
in personnel expenses.
The further decline in the actuarial interest rate in
2015 led to a visible increase in expenses for retirement benefits in the period under review, up by EUR
3.8 million to EUR 7.5 (3.7) million.
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At 29.1% (27.9%), the staff cost ratio was higher than
in the previous year due to the factors outlined above.
Other operating expenses amounted to EUR 87.0 (79.0)
million. Included in this item are expenses relating to
warranty incidents, which were higher than in the
preceding year and were counterbalanced by corresponding income. Additionally, expenses relating to
foreign exchange translation increased by EUR 3.2
million to EUR 4.1 (0.9) million. Taking into account
foreign exchange gains recognized in other operating
income, the net result of foreign exchange translation
was EUR 1.0 (2.7) million in 2015.
Depreciation and amortization down on previous year
Amortization and depreciation of intangible assets and
tangible assets fell slightly to EUR 28.2 (29.0) million.
This reduction is due to lower write-downs relating to
tools, which amounted to EUR 2.1 (5.6) million in the
2015 financial year.
Higher operating result
The operating result of E
 lringKlinger AG (not including the write-ups on financial assets accounted for in
other operating income) rose by 8.6% year on year to
EUR 68.5 (63.1) million. Efficiency gains and growth
in the respective divisions helped to offset the effects
of higher expenses for retirement benefits as well as
charges relating to temporary capacity constraints in
the area of Shielding Technology. In a year-on-year
comparison, it should be noted that a bad debt loss
from the definitive settlement of a warranty incident
had reduced the result of 2014 by a one-off amount of
EUR 5.9 million.
Higher income from affiliated companies
Income from affiliated companies rose to EUR 15.5
(12.4) million in the 2015 financial year. The net effect
on earnings of write-ups and write-downs of financial
assets, which are accounted for in other operating income and in finance cost respectively, was negative at
EUR 4.0 million. This contrasts with a positive effect of
EUR 6.8 million in the previous year. Therefore, income from equity investments was down EUR 7.7 million in total at EUR 11.5 (19.2) million.
The net interest result stood at EUR - 6.9 (- 6.2) million
in the 2015 financial year.
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Return on capital employed (ROCE ) for E
 lringKlinger AG
stood at 8.9% (9.7%) in the period under review and
thus fell short of the improvement target of around one
percentage point originally set for the financial year.
Income from ordinary activities down on prior year
Despite an improvement in the company’s operating
result, income from ordinary activities fell 4.0% short
of last year’s figure at EUR 73.0 (76.1) million. Due to
the decline in income from equity investments and the
higher expenses outlined above, E lringKlinger AG was
unable to meet its projected target of propelling income from ordinary activities at a faster rate than revenue growth.
Income taxes rose to EUR 18.1 (16.9) million. Correspondingly, the tax rate (income taxes in relation to income from ordinary activities) stood at 24.8% (22.2%).
Net income for E lringKlinger AG totaled EUR 54.8
(58.9) million in 2015.
Proposed dividend unchanged year on year at
EUR 0.55
Net retained earnings, i.e., distributable profit, matched
the prior-year figure at EUR 34.8 (34.8) million, having
accounted for an allocation of EUR 19.9 (24.0) million
to other revenue reserves. The Management Board
and the Supervisory Board will propose to the Annual
General Meeting on May 31, 2016, an unchanged
dividend of EUR 0.55 (0.55) per share for the 2015
financial year. Calculated on the basis of net income
of E lringKlinger AG, the dividend ratio increased to
63.5% (59.1%).

Net Assets of E
 lringKlinger AG
With a balance sheet equity ratio of more than 50%
and positive net cash from operating activities,
E lringKlinger AG remained solid in terms of its financial position and cash flows as of December 31, 2015.
International growth reflected in level of total assets
The expansion in total assets by 8.1% or EUR 78.7 million to EUR 1,053.6 (974.9) million reflects the level of
forward momentum generated by E lringKlinger AG as
the parent company of an international Group. The
higher level of total assets was attributable to an ex-
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pansion in tangible fixed assets and a growth-induced
increase in current assets. At the same time, it was
driven in particular by interests in affiliated companies, accounted for in financial assets, which were up
on the prior-year figure.
Fixed assets account for 71% of total assets
While intangible assets fell slightly year on year to
EUR 9.2 (9.8) million, tangible fixed assets were up by
EUR 17.9 million to EUR 298.9 (281.0) million in 2015.
Further automation and, in part, expansions in capacity levels within production prompted investments in
equipment and machinery that exceeded corresponding depreciation. Progress was made with regard to a
construction project at the subsidiary operating within
the Services segment. This was accounted for in assets
under construction at the end of the reporting period.
The relatively strong expansion of financial assets to
EUR 439.6 (406.6) million in the 2015 financial year was
attributable largely (EUR 24.5 million) to the acquisition
of M&W Manufacturing Company, Inc., Warren, USA ,
whose name was subsequently changed to E lringKlinger
Automotive Manufacturing, Inc. (also referred to as
“EK AM ”). Additionally, the larger stake in E
 lringKlinger
Kunststofftechnik GmbH, Bietigheim-Bissingen, Germany, and capital increases relating to three subsidiaries –
in Turkey, China, and India – were accounted for in
this item. Write-ups and write-downs of the carrying
amounts relating to investments in affiliated companies
were another contributory factor.
Loans to affiliated companies fell to EUR 36.9 (51.6)
million as of December 31, 2015.
In total, fixed assets rose by 7.2% to EUR 747.6 (697.4)
million as of the end of the 2015 reporting period,
which represented 71.0% of total assets
Increase in working capital driven by several factors
Inventories reached a level of EUR 125.6 (114.7) million at the end of 2015. The increase by EUR 10.9 million was primarily due to solid order situation. Additionally, a scheduled technology changeover in the
area of Specialty Gaskets led to a temporary increase
in inventories of semi-finished goods. Furthermore,
inventory levels in the Aftermarket segment had to be
raised in line with demand to safeguard the availability of parts.
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As of December 31, 2015, receivables and other assets
were up at EUR 179.1 (161.7) million. This was mainly
due to an expansion in receivables from affiliated companies by EUR 17.4 million to EUR 90.3 (72.9) million.
The increase in this item, which also comprises shortterm loans to subsidiaries, was attributable primarily
to E lringKlinger Abschirmtechnik (Schweiz) AG, Sevelen, Switzerland.
Funds tied up in current assets increased – including
short-term loans – to EUR 304.8 (276.7) million as of
December 31, 2015.
Solid equity ratio of over 50%
Following an allocation of EUR 19.9 (24.0) million from
net income generated by E lringKlinger AG, revenue
reserves increased to EUR 313.1 (293.1) million in
2015. Net retained earnings amounted to EUR 34.8
million in the period under review, thereby matching
the prior-year figure. In total, shareholders’ equity
rose to EUR 532.1 (512.2) million. The equity ratio fell
to 50.5% (52.5%) as a result of the disproportionately
strong expansion of the balance sheet total but still remained at a very high level.
Provisions largely unchanged year on year
Total provisions recorded as of December 31, 2015, remained largely unchanged year on year at EUR 104.2
(103.7) million. While other provisions were lower
compared to the previous year, tax provisions as well
as provisions for pensions and similar obligations increased in the period under review. The latter, which
are measured on the basis of the projected unit credit
method, were up markedly as a result of the general
decline in interest rates as of December 31, 2015.
Acquisition fuels increase in liabilities
Liabilities at E
 lringKlinger AG rose to EUR 410.2
(350.0) million as of December 31, 2015, and accounted for 38.9% (35.9%) of total equity and liabilities.
The year-on-year increase was mainly due to a rise in
liabilities to banks to EUR 342.1 (286.8) million. Funds
were needed mainly for the purchase price payment
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relating to M&W and for the purpose of expanding interests held in affiliated companies.

Cash Flows of E
 lringKlinger AG
Major improvement in cash flow from operating
activities
Despite a slight downturn in net income, cash flow
from operating activities improved significantly to
EUR 84.8 (67.2) million. The statement of cash flows
was again prepared according to the provisions set out
in GAS 2.
This relatively encouraging performance reflects the
fact that a large proportion of earnings was attributable to non-cash transactions. This relates mainly to
write-ups and write-downs of financial assets. These
amounted to EUR 4.0 million in net terms in the period
under review and had an accretive effect within cash
flow reconciliation. By contrast, the previous financial
year had seen a dilutive effect equivalent to EUR 6.8
million.
Cash flow from operating activities was reduced by
EUR 10.9 (- 2.2) million as a result of the increase in
funds tied up in inventories. The fact that the level of
funds tied up was scaled back substantially due to lower trade receivables from affiliated companies (excluding short-term loans) had a contrary effect. In total,
this produced a positive effect on cash flow from operating activities of EUR 7.3 million. The reduction in
trade payables and other liabilities not attributable to
investing or financing activities increased cash flow by
EUR 5.3 (- 12.4) million.
Income taxes paid amounted to EUR 17.5 (18.5) million.
Increase in net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities totaled EUR 82.1
(78.4) million in 2015. This was dominated by investing activities relating to tangible fixed assets and, to
an even larger extent, financial assets.
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Investments in tangible fixed assets at E
 lringKlinger AG
amounted to EUR 43.8 (48.0) million in the period
under review. Correspondingly, the investment ratio
(capital expenditure on tangible fixed assets as a proportion of revenue) fell to 7.4% (8.4%).
 lringKlinger AG invested in an extension to the proE
duction facility for spare part sets at its subsidiary
E lringKlinger Logistic Service GmbH, Rottenburg/

Neckar, Germany. This was accounted for at the end of
the reporting period in assets under construction.
Cash outflows for investments in financial assets totaled EUR 51.7 (27.6) million and were mainly attributable to the acquisition of EK A M , additional interests in 
E lringKlinger Kunststofftechnik GmbH,
Bietigheim-Bissingen, Germany, and capital increases at subsidiaries, as outlined above.
As a result, operating free cash flow amounted to EUR
2.7 (- 11.2) million for the 2015 financial year. This
constitutes an increase of EUR 13.9 million compared
to the same period a year ago.
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Cash flow from financing activities in slightly
negative territory
Due to the higher dividend of EUR 0.55 (0.50) per
share for the 2014 financial year, the total amount distributed to shareholders of E lringKlinger AG in 2015
rose to EUR 34.8 (31.7) million.
Cash flow from financing activities decreased by EUR
2.3 million as a result of the reduction in current bank
borrowings (current account). In the previous year,
they had been expanded by EUR 61.4 million. By contrast, non-current financial liabilities rose by a net
amount of EUR 56.8 (- 20.5) million.
Loans and time deposits for affiliated companies rose
by EUR 22.4 million in net terms and resulted in an
outflow of cash, which contrasts with an inflow of EUR
1.9 million in the previous financial year.
Net cash used in financing activities totaled EUR 2.8
million in 2015, compared to net cash from financing
activities of EUR 11.2 million in 2014.
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Sustainability
Sustainability is an integral element of ElringKlinger’s corporate strategy, which is centered
on growth in enterprise value over the long term. In all decisions it makes, the Group
invariably strikes a balance between economic success, protection of the environment, and
its responsibilities to society along its value chain.

 lringKlinger’s ambitions with regard to sustainability
E
are defined by four areas of action: products and innovation, environment and quality, employees, and social
commitment. A program of continuous strategic development is in place to ensure that each area can evolve.
As regards the issue of sustainability, the annual report now focuses solely on parameters that are of relevance to performance management and strategic control. Starting in 2016, indicators and information that
go beyond the scope of such data will be included in a
separate sustainability report. For further details of
the areas of action outlined above as well as information
relating to sustainability, please refer to E
 lringKlinger’s
website at www.E lringKlinger.de/en/sustainability. This
separate report will continue to underpin the company’s policy of transparency by highlighting how
E lringKlinger embraces the aspect of sustainability in
its actions.
December 2015 saw the publication of E
 lringKlinger’s
fourth sustainability report (in German and English)
under the heading of “pure responsibility.” The interactive online report provides a detailed account of the
Group’s sustainability efforts in the 2014 financial year.

on the lookout for new materials and new fields of application. E
 lringKlinger also uses public funding for the
purpose of financing research projects. The company
brings together industry expertise in the form of development partnerships with vehicle manufacturers, e.g.,
in order to streamline development cycles.
For detailed information relating to innovation and the
Group’s latest development projects, please refer to the
chapter entitled “Research and Development,” page 60
et seqq.
Environment and quality
E lringKlinger has defined strict quality and environmental standards for the entire Group. They apply to all
employees within the Group as well as to E
 lringKlinger’s
suppliers. These standards include guidelines on resource efficiency and the use of production methods
geared towards low emissions and minimal waste.

Products and innovations
Mobility is today seen as an essential prerequisite for
freedom of movement and an open exchange beyond
borders. With a clear focus on the aspect of emissions
reduction, the majority of products in E lringKlinger’s
portfolio are aimed at making vehicles as environmentally friendly as possible.

The majority of production sites operate with an environmental management system certified in accordance
with ISO 14001. With the exception of Indonesia, the
quality management of all E
 lringKlinger’s plants is certified as being compliant with the automotive industry
standard TS 16949 and/or ISO 9001. Audits are conducted on an irregular basis to assess whether processes, requirements, and guidelines continue to fulfill the
applicable standards. In 2015, five sites were audited as
per ISO 9001. As a matter of course, all certified companies submit documentation on an annual basis for the
purpose of outlining measures put in place with regard
to the environmental and quality management systems.

The Group is committed to being a driving force behind
the development of sustainable and truly pioneering
technologies within this industry. Maintaining a fast
pace of innovation, E
 lringKlinger employees are always

In 2015, the E lringKlinger Group drew up a roll-out
plan for the certification of energy management systems in accordance with the energy management
standard ISO 50001. This plan applies to all of the
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Group’s production companies in Europe. Certification
of the first companies under the provisions of this new
standard will commence starting in 2016. In the future, qualified energy teams will evaluate existing energy-related processes at regular intervals and define
measures aimed at raising energy efficiency levels.
E lringKlinger makes a point of selecting intelligent,
modern, and above all resource-efficient production
machinery when undertaking new investments.
The Group calculates and analyzes the environmental,
quality, and energy indicators per plant on a quarterly
basis. This helps to pinpoint any excessive use of resources and implement rapid optimization measures.
 lringKlinger always ensures that tailor-made energy
E
concepts are applied when constructing new buildings
and plants. For instance, the extended production
plant in Bietigheim-Bissingen, which was opened in
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2016, incorporates intelligent heat recovery concepts
for air compressors as well as state-of-the-art waste
heat recovery systems. What is more, an additional cogeneration plant with combined heat and power (CHP )
was installed to reduce overall energy consumption.
As part of a two-year project, the Group also came up
with a smart heat recovery concept at its Chinese production site in Changchun. As a result, the facility can
operate without the need for district heating. Operational processes generate sufficient waste heat to keep
the facility warm during the winter period. This is a
more environmentally-friendly approach. An additional ground-coupled heat exchanger was installed when
the facility was expanded in 2015. This increases the
building’s cooling capacity, while at the same time taking advantage of the heat storage capabilities of soil.
From the spring of 2016 onward, waste heat can be
transferred to the ground and regenerated.

t he e l r i n gk l i n ge r g r o u p – ke y E n v i r o n m e n ta l i n dicat o r s

Total direct and indirect CO 2 emissions in metric tons
CO 2 emissions in metric tons per EUR 1 million in sales

91,320

20142

90,840

60,6

68,5

Total direct CO 2 emissions in metric tons

23,020

22,240

		Of which direct CO 2 emissions from gas,
oil, engine test stands, etc. in metric tons

22,150

21,400

870

840

Total indirect CO 2 emissions in metric tons

68,300

68,600

		Of which indirect CO 2 emissions from electricity in metric tons

64,100

65,300

4,200

3,300

		Of which CO 2 emissions for vehicle fleet 3 in metric tons

		Of which indirect CO 2 emissions from flights 4 in metric tons

The subsidiaries ElringKlinger Automotive Manufacturing, Inc., Polytetra GmbH, and new enerday GmbH were not included in the figures for 2015.
The figures for 2014 do not include the subsidiaries Polytetra GmbH and new enerday GmbH.
3
Vehicle fleet of ElringKlinger sites in Germany (Dettingen/Erms, Gelting, Langenzenn, Runkel, Thale, Lenningen, Bietigheim-Bissingen, Magdeburg, and Rottenburg),
including rental vehicles in the period under review. The figures are based on manufacturer data in respect of CO 2 emissions and the mileage stipulated by vehicle lease
agreements.
4
Air travel attributable to sites in Germany, Switzerland, and France as well as centrally recorded flights relating to sites in the UK and US.
1
2
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140

CO2

g/km

a v e r age
c 0 2 e m i s s io n s o f v ehic l e f l ee t
ElringKlinger extended its company car fleet to include
vehicles with lower fuel consumption, used low-emission rental
vehicles, and improved average CO2 emissions per vehicle
by around 2%.

Target for emissions reduction met in 2015
Emissions caused by gas, heating oil, and engine test
stands as well as by the company’s own vehicle fleet
are categorized as emissions attributable directly to
the company (Scope 1 Emissions). Indirect emissions
(Scope 2 and 3 Emissions) encompass CO2 emissions
attributable to electricity consumption and air travel
by E lringKlinger employees.
At 91,320 (90,840) metric tons, total direct and indirect CO2 emissions remained largely unchanged in the
2015 financial year. They developed at a slower rate in
relation to revenue growth. Consequently, relative CO 2
emissions declined to 60.6 metric tons CO2 per EUR 1
million in sales. Thus, E lringKlinger exceeded its 2015
target of reducing relative CO2 emissions by a percentage figure at the lower end of the single-digit range.
Direct CO2 emissions rose by 3.5% to 23,020 (22,240)
metric tons, primarily as a result of higher direct CO2
emissions from gas, oil, and engine test stands. This
was attributable to the changeover of heating technology from district heating to gas at one of the Chinese
production plants. Additionally, the full-year operation
of a new, fourth cogeneration unit at the company site
in Dettingen/Erms led to a rise in the overall level of
gas consumption.
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In 2015, direct CO2 emissions attributable to the company’s vehicle fleet rose from 840 to 870 metric tons.
The year-on-year increase was due to a larger number
of company cars and more miles traveled. Furthermore, this figure includes all additional vehicles rented by the company.
Indirect emissions improved slightly at Group level.
They amounted to 68,300 (68,600) metric tons in the
reporting period. CO2 emissions relating to electricity
fell to 64,100 (65,300) metric tons, as part of the electricity required was covered by cogeneration units and
photovoltaic systems. Due to the continued globalization of Group activities, E
 lringKlinger saw an increase
in air travel over the course of 2015. Indirect CO2 emissions attributable to air travel rose to 4,200 (3,300)
metric tons.

Employees
Personnel recruitment prompted by strong revenue
growth
As of December 31, 2015, the E lringKlinger Group as a
whole employed 7,912 (7,255) people. In response to
the significant increase in production output, the Group
created new jobs in the specific areas affected. In total,
the headcount for the Group was up by 657 compared to
the previous year. This represents an increase of 9.1%.
The first-time consolidation of E lringKlinger Automotive
Manufacturing, Inc. in Warren, USA , an entity acquired
in 2015 (formerly: M&W Manufacturing Company, Inc.),
added 111 employees to the payroll. Adjusted for this
acquisition, the total number of employees rose by
7.5% in 2015.
The average Group headcount for the year was 7,653
(7,081).
Further decline in proportion to domestic headcount
The German automotive industry managed to lift its
domestic car production by a solid 2.1% in 2015. Correspondingly, the number of people employed by the
company at German sites rose by 103 to 3,445 (3,342)
employees in total. At the same time, however, employees based in Germany only accounted for 43.5% of the
total Group headcount, down from 46.1% a year ago.
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E l r i n g K l i n ge r G r o u p E m p l o y ee s wo r l dwide

as at December 31, 2015 (prior year)

ElringKlinger AG

873 (854)

2,572 (2,488)

Foreign Subsidiaries

In total, 84 new jobs were created at the sites operated
by the parent company E lringKlinger AG in Dettingen/
Erms, Gelting, Langenzenn, Lenningen, Runkel, and
Thale. In response to the overall dimensions of the
company in its present form, E lringKlinger focused increasingly on expanding central Group areas.
Further increase in non-domestic staffing levels
The Group, which employs 56.5% (53.9%) of its staff
abroad, saw its foreign headcount grow by 14.2% in
2015. In total, 4,467 (3,913) people were employed
outside of Germany as of December 31, 2015. Personnel levels increased markedly in response to new product ramp-ups and buoyant demand in North America
and Asia.
The number of people employed at sites in Asia rose by
14.4% to 1,309 (1,144) in 2015. China, now ranked
as the world’s biggest car market, saw the most pronounced rate of growth in E lringKlinger’s headcount
in absolute terms. Here, 112 new recruits joined the
core workforce in 2015. Additional production machinery was bought at the two manufacturing plants in
Suzhou and Changchun.
Having also strengthened its presence in North and
Central America, E
 lringKlinger expanded its HR levels
at the majority of its subsidiaries in this region – without taking into account the acquisition transacted in
the United States in 2015. Several production ramp-ups
in Mexico, in particular, meant that more personnel
had to be recruited. By contrast, the persistent malaise

4,467 (3,913)

afflicting South America’s vehicle market necessitated
adjustments to staffing levels at the subsidiary in
Brazil.
Against the backdrop of higher production output, the
Group expanded its core workforce within the European
market. This applied in particular to the Swiss production plant in Sevelen and the UK subsidiary in Redcar.
HR development stepped up
As a technology business, E lringKlinger is particularly
reliant on the expertise and dedication of its employees. They form the basis for the company’s long-term
success.
In 2015, the main focus of HR activities was on developing employee skills in a targeted manner with the
help of selected advancement programs within specialist areas. For this purpose, 2015 saw the introduction of the “on the move” training program. It includes a number of options for job-specific seminars.
E lringKlinger regularly carries out “Employees with
Potential” programs focused on developing skilled
workers and future managers. Here, potential managers receive training centered around various modes of
behavior and styles of operating in key positions. As
part of the “Leadership on the move” program, which
was newly conceived in 2015, the Group supported
managers over the course of the year with a range of
training programs focusing on corporate values and
containing important elements such as self-reflection
and employment law.
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The E l r i n g K l i n ge r G r o u p – K e y H R I n dicat o r s

2015

2014

7,912

7,255

		Of which men

71.6%

70.7%

		Of which women

28.4%

29.3%

Absolute number of employees

Absolute number of employees

7,912

7,255

		Of which domestic

43.5%

46.1%

		Of which abroad

56.5%

53.9%

7,653

7,081

268

253

10

10

Average number of employees
Work-related accidents leading to more than 3 days off work
Average number of sick days per employee

Proportion of women in management
In 2015, E
 lringKlinger set itself a long-term goal of increasing the proportion of women assigned to managerial roles. The Management Board is looking to expand its women’s quota at the second managerial level
from 10% to 15% by June 30, 2017, and, at the very
least, maintain the proportion of female staff members
at the first managerial level at close to 7%. The key
rationale behind a female quota is to pursue the idea
of equal opportunities and foster the development of
high-caliber employees.
In 2015, the Supervisory Board also agreed to retain
its target for the short-term appointment of women to
the Management Board at zero percent. The proportion of women appointed to the Supervisory Board currently stands at 33%.
More extensive health management
The principle of maintaining and steadily developing
a working environment that is safe, embraces health
issues, and is conducive to performance has been
firmly embedded in E lringKlinger’s corporate strategy.
E lringKlinger is of the fundamental opinion that all
work-related accidents and occupational illnesses should
be avoidable and has established a clearly defined
target of “zero workplace-related accidents.” In 2015,

the number of work-related accidents leading to more
than three days off work rose to 268 (253). However,
this increase was much less pronounced relative to the
growth in personnel levels. On average, E
 lringKlinger
staff were absent due to illness for a period of 10 (10)
working days in 2015.
The Group has put in place a number of specific preventative measures, such as the project implemented
in 2015 to improve workplace ergonomics, for the purpose of actively raising awareness among staff of the
issue of safe and healthy work practices in all areas of
the company.
Social responsibility
Given the global presence of the Group, E
 lringKlinger
is in a position to help shape community structures at
the various corporate sites around the world. At a regional level, the Group mainly supports providers of
social services and invests in academic and educational projects. In 2015, the Group was involved in social
causes through partnerships with non-profit organizations such as BruderhausDiakonie and also the Plantfor-the-Planet foundation. In 2015, E
 lringKlinger organized its first Plant-for-the-Planet event, which involved
training more than fifty children as Ambassadors for
greater climate justice.
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Procurement
Alongside staff costs, materials constitute the largest expense item at E
 lringKlinger.
Materials accounted for 56.8% of the Group’s cost of sales in 2015; the cost-of-materials
ratio stood at 42.7%. Annual price increases and reductions have a direct impact on the
company’s bottom-line performance. It is precisely for this reason that central purchasing
activities are accorded particular importance at ElringKlinger.

The key goal of procurement management is to safeguard continuity of supply for all production plants,
while keeping the costs of capital committed as low as
possible. Price-related risks are mitigated by means of
a consistent policy of procurement controlling. Economies of scale are actively exploited by managing global purchasing volumes as effectively as possible.
The primary raw materials used within the
E lringKlinger Group include alloyed high-grade steels
(nickel-chromium alloys, in particular), aluminum,
carbon steel, polyamide-based plastic granulates, elastomers, and, in the Engineered Plastics segment,
polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE *). As regards the Plastic Housing Modules and Shielding Technology divisions, the procurement of components required in the
production of modules is becoming increasingly important.

B r eakdow n o f r aw m at e r ia l s u s ed i n 2 0 1 5

(prior year) in %

Elastomers

5 (6)

Polyamides

8 (7)

C-Steel coated
and uncoated

10 (10)

High-Grade Steel

20 (21)

* Cf. glossary

Other/Components

34 (34)

Aluminium

23 (22)
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Over the course of 2015, the centralized purchasing
department operating from the Group’s headquarters
in Dettingen/Erms continued with efforts to organize
E lringKlinger’s procurement structures within a global network. This approach is in response to the pronounced shift of automotive markets away from Europe towards Asia and North America. The result: an
expansion in local production capacity and larger
purchasing volumes. E
 lringKlinger restructured its
central purchasing activities back in 2014. Since then,
three regionally established purchasing managers have
been responsible solely for procurement relating to the
Americas, Europe/Africa, and Asia. They work in close
coordination with strategic buyers responsible for
global activities and support the regional enterprises
in procuring materials required for serial production.
In addition to facilitating Group-wide market access,
they help to establish local suppliers quickly. In taking
this approach, E lringKlinger has created a global purchasing network that is being evolved continuously.
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Procurement processes and controlling further
optimized
Over the course of 2015, the procurement management
team pressed ahead with efforts to improve existing
purchasing processes and optimize the associated
delivery intervals. To an increasing extent, just-intime deliveries and kanban systems are being introduced at facilities throughout Germany in order to
permanently reduce stock levels of parts regularly
required by the Group. Other provisions may apply to
non-domestic companies, as delivery times to foreign
sites tend to vary depending on the country in question. The Group has set itself a target of keeping inventories in all categories of material and at all Group
locations as low as possible.
In order to improve procurement controlling,
E lringKlinger has established a central approvals body.
All price adjustments are analyzed on a monthly basis so
that countermeasures can be initiated with immediate
effect. Prices are monitored regularly by means of
detailed cost break-down analyses. Despite the fact
that purchasing requirements are increasingly pooled,
dependence on specific suppliers is largely avoided at
E lringKlinger. In 2015, the company’s top 30 suppliers
accounted for 20% (20%) of total volumes purchased.
Specific divisions within the Original Equipment segment recorded a disproportionately large increase in
demand during 2015. This led to a short-term increase
in quantities relating to aluminum and hot-dip-aluminized sheet steel. 
E lringKlinger’s procurement
management was able to meet these more extensive
unscheduled requirements without incurring any significant price increases.
Production output prompts higher purchasing
volumes
Compared to the previous year, 
E lringKlinger’s purchasing volume rose by 16.6% to EUR 1,029.3 (882.5)
million in total. The figure encompasses raw materials,
consumables, and supplies, as well as merchandise for
the company’s independent aftermarket business and
investments in land, real estate, and property, plant,
and equipment. This year-on-year increase was mainly
attributable to the further expansion of production capacity in conjunction with strong revenue growth. Adjusted for E
lringKlinger Automotive Manufacturing,
Inc., Warren, USA , which was consolidated for the first
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time in 2015, the overall purchasing volume rose to
12.8%. The cost of materials alone was up 10.8% at
EUR 643.2 (580.6) million.
Framework agreements secure Group-wide supply
of materials
With a view to containing the level of procurement
costs, E lringKlinger pools its purchasing requirements
at an international level and concludes framework
agreements for the key groups of material. In doing so,
the Group is able to hedge against volatility with regard to commodity prices, in addition to safeguarding
the availability of materials. Ultimately, this also limits translational exchange rate risks. In the majority of
cases, the contracts are valid for one year or more. By
contrast, contractual terms are often shorter for C-steel
and steel and plastic granulates.
Purchase prices predominantly stable in 2015
Global market prices of many key commodities declined in 2015. This was largely attributable to excess supply. This trend is reflected only in part in
E lringKlinger’s results for 2015, as blanket supply contracts had already been signed in 2014. What is more,
E lringKlinger sources raw materials of the highest
possible quality; downstream processing of such materials is very complex. The premiums payable in this
area as well as the surcharges for ware-housing increased in the period under review. Therefore, contractual agreements for 2015 included slightly higher
prices for aluminum than in the previous year. The
price of precision stainless steel, a material used in the
production of cylinder-head and specialty gaskets, has
also been trending higher at a global level. This is due
to market consolidation and the associated reduction
in supply. The Group managed to keep its purchase
prices at a stable level in 2015, as the mean value of
alloy surcharges was slightly lower year on year. Alloy
surcharges payable for high-grade steels cannot be
agreed beforehand as part of framework contracts.
This does not apply to C-steel, however. Here, the
Group achieved a slight reduction in prices in the period under review. In the case of polyamide, an engineering plastic, which E
 lringKlinger needs in increasing quantities for the production of lightweight plastic
modules, lower oil prices failed to impact fully, as oil
represents only part of the raw materials mix used in
the manufacture of polyamide.
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1,015
app r o v ed s u pp l ie r s
wo r l dwide
ElringKlinger constantly expands its international
network of suppliers in order to meet its growing
requirements for materials.

With the help of a central waste metal management
process, E lringKlinger collects metal-based waste produced as part of its various production processes and
sells it. Declining commodity prices in 2015 also had a
direct impact on the revenue generated by the company from scrap materials. At EUR 28.8 (24.7) million, it
was above on the prior-year figure.
Energy costs rise at a slower rate than revenue
E lringKlinger enters into long-term contracts for the
majority of the supplies of gas and electricity it needs.
As early as 2015, contracts with existing suppliers
were agreed for a term up to and including 2018 (gas)
and 2019 (electricity). The Group is in a position to satisfy its energy needs in tranches and flexibly, depending on prevailing market prices.
Although E
 lringKlinger is not among the most energy-intensive operations, its energy costs for 2015
nevertheless amounted to 1.9% (2.2%) of the cost of
sales. E lringKlinger covers a portion of its electricity
requirements by operating its own combined heat and
power plants. The waste heat produced in this way, for
instance, is used for the purpose of process cooling at
the sites in Dettingen/Erms and Bietigheim-Bissingen
as well as for air-conditioning systems. In 2015, the
power plants installed at the facilities in Dettingen/
Erms and Bietigheim-Bissingen generated electricity
equivalent to 8,838.8 MWh.
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Expansion of supply chain in Asia
Operating at an international level, E
 lringKlinger is
committed to steadily extending its global system of
suppliers. In 2015, the Group further strengthened is
local purchasing unit in China and other emerging
markets. The regional purchasing manager pooled the
procurement operations of both plants in the period
under review. Resources freed up in this way will now
be used for market research purposes, the aim being
to expand the network of Asian suppliers. This will
allow 
E lringKlinger to leverage cost advantages in
Asia and streamline its logistics.
As a matter of principle, new suppliers are selected by
the global purchasing team, validated in cooperation
with the company’s worldwide supply-chain management, and audited on the basis of international ISO
standards. At the same time, all suppliers are obliged
to comply with company-specific quality and environmental guidelines as well as the E lringKlinger Code of
Ethics. The central purchasing and supplier management team conducts regular quality and cost analyses
at existing suppliers.
Once a year, E lringKlinger presents a supplier award in
recognition of excellence, the aim being to promote collaborative partnerships. Among the key assessment criteria are product quality, on-time delivery, and a spirit
of fairness and partnership. In 2015, the E
 lringKlinger
award went to Kraiburg GmbH & Co. KG, Waldkraiburg,
Germany, a company specializing in rubber mixtures.
Kraiburg excelled in the field of innovation and in developing customized solutions at fair prices.
Outlook: material prices in 2016
E lringKlinger has concluded framework agreements
with a stable level of prices for the high-grade steel required in 2016 and 2017. Due to excess market supply
and the associated erosion of prices, the company managed to reduce its purchasing prices for aluminum with
regard to 2016. As for the engineering plastic polyamide, E lringKlinger anticipates that prices will remain
stable in 2016, underpinned by larger quantities procured from China and a persistently low price of oil.
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Report on Opportunities and Risks
Risk management system
E lringKlinger has established an extensive risk management system for the purpose of identifying risk at
an early stage. By monitoring markets, customers,
and suppliers on a continual basis and maintaining
detailed internal reporting and controlling processes,
the company is able to gauge risk in a timely manner
and seize market opportunities as they arise. The efficiency and suitability of the risk management system
itself is continually adapted and optimized in accordance with new requirements as they arise. In the 2015
reporting year, this applied in particular to existing
instruments relating to risk reporting. In this context,
the associated types of risk were reviewed and reclassified in respect of their probability of occurrence and
their impact on earnings (cf. page 99 of this chapter).
The risk management system is made up of various
tools and control systems. Among the key components
are strategic corporate planning and internal reporting. Planning enables potential risks to be identified
and taken into account when making critical and
far-reaching decisions. All key areas within the company are involved in strategic Group planning. Within
this context, information is retrieved, collated, and
evaluated using a standardized process. The Management Board bears full responsibility. Internal reporting is used to monitor and control business performance. A key component of the risk management
system is regular reporting by the management of the
respective domestic and foreign Group companies as
well as the divisions, which is performed on a half-
yearly basis. It covers developments in all fields relevant to the company that can affect business activity
and, in particular, the continuation of the E
 lringKlinger
Group as a going concern. The focus is primarily on
changes to the economic or political situation, new
regulatory requirements, technological developments,
commodities markets, and internal risks. This reporting system involves identifying and evaluating all risks
and subsequently drafting recommendations on how
to prepare for and protect against them. Up until December 31, 2015, the Head of Finance was responsible
for coordinating these activities. As of January 1, 2016,
this task will fall within the direct remit of the Chief
Financial Officer. This approach is designed to provide

even greater efficiency when it comes to ensuring that
risks are identified at an early stage and measures
aimed at avoiding or mitigating such risks can be implemented even faster.
The Management Board assesses the aggregate risk
and submits regular and comprehensive reports on its
findings to the Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee. Another important aspect of the centralized
risk and quality management system deployed at the
E lringKlinger Group is that of tracking the implementation of defined measures. The company considers
risk management to be an allembracing activity that
encompasses not only the identification and assessment of risk, as outlined above, but also a system of
preventive measures and contingency planning that
has proven to be very effective.
Alongside regular reporting, internal audits are an
important control mechanism and thus an essential
element of the risk management system. Audits are
carried out in the business and service divisions of
E lringKlinger AG as well as at the Group companies.
These audits are conducted by accountancy firms
and/or suitably qualified companies commissioned by
E lringKlinger AG. The rationale behind the appointment of external specialists is to ensure that risks are
identified, statutory requirements are met, internal
processes are reviewed, and potential for improvement
is recognized. The findings of such audits are compiled in reports, which are directed in particular at the
Management Board and the Chairperson of the Audit
Committee within the Supervisory Board. The reports
are evaluated, whereupon necessary measures are initiated. Execution of these measures is controlled by
the Management Board member whose remit covers
this area. All relevant findings are discussed with the
areas concerned in order to bring about improvements
or rectify any weaknesses. During the 2015 financial
year, audits were conducted at eight subsidiaries as
well as four business and service divisions of
E lringKlinger AG. None of the audits conducted within
this context gave rise to any significant objections.
Both statutory regulations and internal requirements
were consistently met. The recommendations submitted with regard to potential areas for optimization

C o m bi n ed Ma n age m e n t Repo r t

Annual Report 2015

have been put in place or are currently being implemented.

risks covered and the level of coverage provided.
Where necessary, the policies are then amended.

Back in the 2012 financial year, a specialized auditing
and consulting firm was commissioned by the Management Board to prepare a compliance risk profile for
E lringKlinger, on the basis of which suitable measures
were to be defined with regard to the compliance
system. The analysis revealed in particular that
E lringKlinger displays no specific risk potential. Based
on this analysis and other reviews conducted in respect of compliance, together with experience gained
in this area, the company introduced a compliance
system in 2013, which includes a Chief Compliance
Officer who reports directly to the CEO. Additional
Compliance Officers have been appointed for individual regions in which E
 lringKlinger is active; they report
to the Chief Compliance Officer. The code of conduct
forms an important part of the compliance system. It
sets out binding rules for all employees of the
E lringKlinger Group. Among other aspects, the code
covers issues such as fair competition, corruption,
discrimination, and the protection of confidential data. The code is distributed to all employees in the language of the country in which they are based. Staff
members, and particularly management personnel, receive training relating to these issues. As part of training events conducted over the course of 2015, employees
from Sales and Purchasing were instructed extensively
on the legal requirements relating to the granting and
acceptance of gifts/gratuities as well as on competition
and anti-trust laws. These training seminars will be
continued in 2016, particularly for personnel at foreign
investees. The Chief Compliance Officer responded to
all indications of compliance-related infringements
in order to investigate the circumstances and initiate
requisite measures. Where evidence suggested that
an infringement may have occurred, the Management
Board was informed accordingly. However, no significant infringements were reportable for 2015. Beyond
this, the Management Board is committed to adapting
the existing compliance system to changing circumstances and the possibility of evolving risk exposure.

Control and risk management system with regard to
accounting
With regard to accounting and external financial reporting within the Group, the internal control and risk
management system may be described with reference
to the following basic characteristics. The system is
geared toward the identification, analysis, valuation,
risk control, and monitoring of these activities. The
structuring of the system in line with the specific requirements of the company is the responsibility of the
Management Board and Supervisory Board. In accordance with the distribution of responsibilities within the
company, the Finance department, which is in charge
of accounting, came under the remit of the Chairman
of the Management Board (CEO ) in the period up to
December 31, 2015. As of January 1, 2016, the Manage
ment Board was extended to include a dedicated finance section. This section, which also includes Controlling Affiliates companies, controls accounting
within the Group and E lringKlinger AG and compiles
the information required for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements and the annual financial statements of E
 lringKlinger AG. The department Controlling Affiliates companies is responsible,
in particular, for monitoring and supporting the accounting processes of the Group companies. In the
2015 financial year, the Group companies reported to
the Head of Finance, who in turn reported to the Chairman of the Management Board.

In order to reduce the liability risk from potential damage and any associated losses, the company has taken
out appropriate insurance policies. The suitability of
these policies, which also cover the Group companies,
is subjected to regular review with regard to the actual
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The principal risks associated with the accounting
process derive from the need to provide accurate and
complete information within the specified time frame.
This presupposes that the requirements have been
clearly communicated and the departments responsible are placed in a position where they can meet those
requirements.
 lringKlinger has compiled an accounting manual on
E
the basis of International Financial Reporting Standards. All Group companies are required to apply the
standards outlined in this manual as a basis of the
f inancial reporting process. All the principal valuation
standards such as those covering inventories, tools,
and receivables under IFRS are specified in mandatory
form in the manual. Mandatory accounting standards
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are also in use across the Group as a way of ensuring
uniform treatment of the same issues.
All Group companies are obliged to comply with a pre-
defined schedule for preparation of the Group financial
statements. The same applies to the annual financial
statements of E lringKlinger AG. Each Group company
is responsible for drawing up its separate financial
statements in accordance with local accounting rules
and the reporting packages pursuant to IFRS, with the
exception of the German Group companies, whose financial statements are prepared by the Accounting
department at E lringKlinger AG. A reconciliation of
balances is conducted in respect of internal Group
clearing accounts. Financial reporting by the Group
companies is conducted via a separate database containing not only financial data but also information
that is of importance to the notes to the consolidated
financial statements and the combined management
report of the E lringKlinger Group and E lringKlinger AG.
The data and information are checked prior to release
and consolidation in the respective centralized departments.
SA P is used by all the German and the majority of the

foreign subsidiaries within the E
 lringKlinger Group.
As for the other companies, various IT systems are
currently in use. SAP is to be introduced at other key
companies within the Group. All implemented systems
feature hierarchical access systems; all clearances are
documented in the system. For companies that use SAP,
access rights are managed centrally according to established rules. Access decisions were the responsibility of the Head of Finance. From January 1, 2016, on,
these decisions will be made by the Chief Financial
Officer. Local management makes decisions on access
in those companies that use other systems.
As a rule, no external service providers are used in the
accounting process. As described above, it is carried
out by the staff of the respective specialist departments.
Among the risks that may affect the accounting process are, for instance, those associated with delays or
errors in the entry of transactions or failure to observe
the accounting manual and account allocation rules.
In order to avoid mistakes, the accounting process is
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based on the separation of responsibilities and competencies, the automation of procedures, and plausibility
checks for reporting purposes. Calculations are subject to continuous monitoring. Comprehensive and detailed checklists have to be worked through before the
established reporting deadline. The accounting process is also incorporated into the E
 lringKlinger Group’s
risk management system as a way of identifying accounting-related risks at an early stage, allowing the
company to take prompt action to anticipate and address potential risks.
As is the case with the other areas and functions of the
company, accounting is also subject to the investigations conducted as part of internal auditing; these are
performed by two accountancy firms. Accounting processes and procedures at E lringKlinger AG and its
Group companies are reviewed in the course of regular internal audits. The findings are then used to make
further developments and improvements. For more information, please refer to the description of the risk
management system.

Report on Opportunities and Risks
The following table presents an overview of material
risks and key opportunities relating to the E lringKlinger
Group. Both the risks and the opportunities were
graded according to the probability of occurrence
and the potential financial impact. In order to be able
to identify and manage the respective risks more effectively, the classification relating to probabilities of
occurrence were adjusted in the period under review.
By contrast, the classifications relating to possible
financial impacts were left unchanged compared to
the 2014 financial year. A probability of occurrence
of 10% (previous year: less than 30%) is now considered “low,” one of 40% is classified as “medium,”
and one of 80% (previous year: more than 60%) is
deemed “high.” The potential financial impact is categorized on the basis of qualitative criteria, ranging
from “insignificant” to “significant.” In this context,
in the event of occurrence “insignificant” refers to a
potential impact on Group earnings before taxes of
less than 5%, “moderate” between 5 and 10%, and
“significant” in excess of 10%. These factors are identified on the basis of a gross assessment, i.e., prior to
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possible measures aimed at risk mitigation. Overall
risk or the overall potential attributable to opportunities in relation to the respective category is derived

from the combination of probability of occurrence and
potential financial impact.

O ppo r t u n i t y a n d r i s k p r o f i l e o f t he E l r i n g K l i n ge r G r o u p

Probability of occurrence

low

Type of risk

medium

Potential financial impact

high

insignificant

moderate

significant

Economic risks

Economic and industry risks

x

Political risks

x
x

x

General internal risks

General internal risks, work-related accidents, fire

x

x

Operational risks

Price-related pressure/Competition

x

Material risks/Supplier risks

x

Customer risks

x

x
x

Labor cost risks

x

Personnel risks

x

IT risks

x

x
x

x

Quality/Warranty risks

x
x

x

Legal risks/Compliance risks

x

x

Technology risks

x

x

External growth/Acquisitions

x

x

Bad debt loss

x

x

Liquidity and financing risks

x

Consolidated
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Legal risks
Strategic risks

Financial risks

x

Currency risks

x

Interest-rate risks

x

Use of derivative financial instruments

x

x
x
x

Opportunities

Climate change/Emission laws

x

x

Technology trends/New emission regulations

x

x

Extension of product and service portfolio

x

x

New sales markets

x

Industry consolidation/M&A

x

x
x
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Economic risks
Economic and industry risks
The global vehicle markets tend to perform in line with
prevailing economic trends. This applies to the truck
segment even more so than to that of passenger cars.
A substantial down-turn in the economy represents a
risk to demand for new cars and, ultimately, to vehicle
production. This, in turn, could result in lower demand
for E lringKlinger components.
Based on the latest assessment, risks relating to economic performance lie in the slowdown in growth in
China and the recession in Brazil. In terms of risk, the
Russian vehicle market is of no particular significance
to E lringKlinger.
Overall, the likelihood of the global economy moving
in a negative direction, also taking into account the
loss of forward momentum in China, the recession in
Latin America and Russia, and the economic malaise
in Japan, is considered small. The International Monetary Fund has forecast global economic growth of
3.4% in 2016.
As regards the automobile industry, the consistently
solid level of consumer demand anticipated in North
America, Western Europe, and the Asian markets over
the year as a whole should provide a basis for sustained
growth in global car production. In the medium term,
growth will probably shift away from the three established markets to the emerging and developing countries. Given its global presence with production and
sales locations in the growth regions of the future, the
Group is well equipped to handle potential stagnation
or waning demand in the traditional vehicle markets.
From today’s perspective, a severe slump in vehicle
production – similar to the crisis seen in 2008/9 –
would not appear to be very likely. E lringKlinger anticipates that global vehicle production will expand by 1
to 2% in 2016 (cf. Report on Expected Developments,
page 121 et seqq.).
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Operating with a broad customer base, E lringKlinger
is not dependent on specific markets or individual
manufacturers. Therefore, the effects of an economic
slump in a particular region can be offset at least in
part. Due to its flexible cost structures, E lringKlinger
would be able to respond immediately to market conditions in the event of more severe economic turbulence.
Furthermore, the company can react to changing market conditions by adjusting its staffing levels to demand
patterns and by pooling the production quantities of
individual plants. The central purchasing department
would work in close cooperation with suppliers for the
purpose of assessing and adjusting procurement volumes in a timely manner.
 lringKlinger factors in economic risks to an appropriE
ate extent at the forward planning stage. When drawing up budgets, E lringKlinger invariably takes a cautious view of the respective macroeconomic scenarios.
Political risks
Fundamentally, there is the potential that political decisions taken by national or European lawmakers will
have a significant impact on the future business activities of the E lringKlinger Group, e.g., with regard to
technological trends or sales regions.
Due to the prevailing political uncertainties and, to an
increasing extent, escalating crises, many sales regions in the Middle East, North Africa, and Russia are
associated with risk. As regards the Original Equipment segment, these regions are of no particular direct relevance to business activities. By contrast, the
Aftermarket segment is exposed to the risk of a loss in
revenue; revenue from sales in the aforementioned regions in 2015 was a figure in the middle of the double-digit million euro range.
Sales in these regions are usually billed in US dollars
or euros. Therefore, any restricted access to foreign
currency by customers could result in delayed payments or, in the worst-case scenario, to default on such
payments.
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General internal risks
General internal risks, work-related accidents, fire
Among the significant general risks are primarily
workplace-related accidents and the danger of fires.
The Group endeavors to prevent such accidents from
occurring to the largest extent possible, not least by
means of E
 lringKlinger standards implemented throughout the Group as well as regular training. Where accidents do occur, however, the reasons and circumstances
are investigated in depth and existing standards are
adjusted accordingly in order to ensure a consistently
high level of protection.
The risk of a fire occurring at operating sites is considered to be comparatively low. However, it cannot be
ruled out entirely. Alongside the risk of personal injury, a fire – with the associated downtime of operations
over an extended period – poses the risk of substantial
damage to property and significant costs for the repurchase of machinery and equipment. Disruption to the
supply of customers, however, can be ruled out to a
large extent, as the Group is able to draw on its international manufacturing network for the purpose of offsetting a capacity shortfall through production at an
alternative site or migrating such activities on a temporary basis.
The Group addresses the possible financial impact
of fire damage well in advance through appropriate
fire protection insurance policies. Insurance appraisers compile fire protection reports at all of the Group’s
operating plants. The suggestions included in the reports with regard to fire protection improvements are
analyzed and implemented.

Operational risks
Price-related pressure/Competition
As a supplier to the automotive industry, E
 lringKlinger
operates in a business environment that is generally
considered to be highly competitive. Pressure exerted
on prices represents one of the biggest individual risks
to the Group. This aspect has become even more significant since September 2015, following news of the
diesel-related situation at the Volkswagen Group.
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In view of its exceptional abilities as an innovator and
its strong position in the market, E lringKlinger is relatively well positioned as a supplier. However, requests
for price reductions have become customary within
this industry, and 
E lringKlinger is not completely
immune to such demands. In order to counteract the
effects of persistent pressure on prices, E lringKlinger
focuses on developing products with technological
USPs and positioning itself in niche markets. Any remaining pressure on prices has to be offset to the
largest extent possible by efficiency gains within the
production process.
The competitive forces within the automotive supply
industry are extremely strong. However, competitors
venturing into the market for the first time are faced
with significant barriers to entry, as both the business
model and the product portfolio of the E lringKlinger
Group are founded, among other strengths, on specialist knowledge and skills in the areas of materials processing, tooling, and process management (cf. Overview of E lringKlinger’s Activities and Structure, page
54 et seqq.).
What is more, substantial investments would be needed by potential market entrants to establish the requisite plant technology. The equipment and machinery
used by E
 lringKlinger is often designed according to
company specifications, i.e., they are not available on
the market as standardized solutions. To be financially
viable, it is essential that plants produce large volumes. Experience has shown, however, that initial
orders placed with new suppliers tend to be relatively
small in scale; these volumes are not sufficiently high
to cover costs.
In some cases, a precondition made by manufacturers
prior to awarding a contract to the E
 lringKlinger
Group is that the products in question should be supplied from Eastern Europe. In this context, pricing as
well as shorter distances to production sites operated
by vehicle and engine manufacturers play a key role.
At present, the Group is building up a new production
plant in Hungary. Established in 2015, the new subsidiary E lringKlinger Hungary Kft. is headquartered in
Kecskemét-Kádafalva. From 2016 onward, it will supply serial components to Hungarian plants operated by
German OEMs as well as to other customers in Europe.
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Elsewhere in Eastern Europe, E lringKlinger also operates a subsidiary specializing in tool construction –
HURO Supermold S.R.L., Timisoara, Romania. Furthermore, through its international manufacturing
network, the Group is able to supply from plants with
lower proportions of labor cost such as Brazil, India,
Mexico, or Turkey at any time to the extent that this is
required in view of product composition or is requested by the customer.
Material risks/Supplier risks
Material costs constitute the single biggest expense
item within the E
 lringKlinger Group. Therefore, the direction taken by material prices is of particular significance to the company.
The raw materials primarily used within the
E lringKlinger Group include alloyed high-grade steels,
C-steel, aluminum, and polymer granules (cf. Procurement, page 93 et seqq.). Prices relating to alloy surcharges (nickel, chromium, molybdenum) are subject
to extreme volatility. They are added to the price of
high-grade steel and cannot be fixed through contractual agreements.
Generally, E lringKlinger looks to negotiate agreements
with its commodity suppliers that are as long term as
possible. Any additional quantities required are procured at prevailing market prices.
 lringKlinger works continuously on optimized prodE
uct designs, improvements to production processes
and the qualification of new suppliers in order to
counteract possible increases in material prices and
the qualification of new suppliers.
On the whole, the risk of substantial price increases
can be considered manageable, particularly in view of
the downward trend in commodity prices and the fact
that many raw material suppliers have seen an expansion in procurement volumes.
In some cases, E lringKlinger agrees on cost escalation
clauses with its customers. Where such clauses have
not been negotiated in advance, upstream price rises
that exceed cost estimates have to be passed on to customers. This involves a risk that higher costs cannot be
passed on in full or only with some delay.
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Metal-based waste produced during die-cutting and
stamping processes is handled and sold on by the
scrap management unit established for this purpose.
Potential cost increases can be offset, at least in part,
by the proceeds from waste disposal.

20 %
p r oc u r e m e n t v o l u m e
o f l a r ge s t s u pp l ie r s
In 2015, the 30 biggest suppliers accounted for around 20%
of the Group’s purchasing volume.

As part of its risk assessment, E
 lringKlinger monitors
not only trends relating to material prices but also the
actual availability of materials. In order to limit risks
associated with bottle-necks or non-deliveries to the
largest extent possible, E lringKlinger relies on close
collaboration with its suppliers over the long term. The
Group is committed to a multi-supplier strategy for the
purpose of counteracting the risk of production-related interruptions or downtime due to supply chain disruptions. It qualifies and approves at least two suppliers for significant materials and bought-in parts.
Medium-sized and smaller suppliers are thoroughly
assessed and monitored with regard to their financial
strength, liquidity, and insurance coverage; they also
have to undergo extensive audits at regular intervals.
In 2015, the 30 biggest suppliers accounted for around
20% (around 20%) of the Group purchasing volume.
As regards energy supply, particularly at the German
production sites, there is an indirect dependence on
natural gas supplies from Russian sources. Having
said that, the potential repercussions from this can be
considered low. Due to the restricted scope for action
within this area, possibilities for the company to implement risk prevention measures are limited.
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Customer risks
A sudden slump in demand faced by a principal customer may pose the risk of a substantial reduction in this
manufacturer’s scheduled quantities of E
 lringKlinger
components to be installed in its vehicles and/or engines.
Due to the emissions testing incident at the Volkswagen Group, the aspect of customer risk rather became
more significant. The impact on the automobile industry – both car makers and automotive suppliers – cannot be fully gauged at this moment in time. In view of
the fact that the demand for mobility will continue to
grow at a global level, however, E
 lringKlinger is of the
opinion that the market will, at the very most, see a
shift in demand from one manufacturer to another.
Due to the level of diversification in the Group’s customer base, this situation is not expected to have a significant impact on E
 lringKlinger.
 lringKlinger has been steadily broadening its cusE
tomer base in recent years in order to reduce its dependence on individual customers, also with regard to
pricing-related pressure. In 2015, the company’s top
three customers accounted for around 27% (around
26%) of Group revenue. The customer contributing the
single largest share of sales accounted for 11.7%
(10.4%) of Group revenue in the 2015 financial year.
Labor cost risks
After cost of materials, labor costs constitute the second-largest expense item for the E lringKlinger Group.
They accounted for 25.2% (23.4%) of the cost of sales
in the 2015 financial year.
At 43.5% (46.1%), a large proportion of the Group’s
overall workforce is employed at sites in Germany.
However, persistent wage increases at the domestic
level could have a visibly negative impact on earnings
performance within the Group in the coming years.
Therefore, as illustrated by the progression of staff
cost ratios at German sites, the competitive position of
E lringKlinger AG would deteriorate further in relation
to its international peers.
In recent years, the trade union IG Metall has been
able to secure relatively substantial wage agreements.
These costs represent an increasing burden on Germany
as an industrial location. The collective wage increases

103

Report on Opportunities and Risks

agreed in Germany over the last three years were
3.4% from July 2013, 2.2% from May 2014, and 3.4%
from April 2015. The agreement between employers
and the trade union for 2016 was still outstanding
when this report went to press. It should also be noted
that unresolved collective pay negotiations pose the
risk of strikes.
By contrast, the level of labor costs in emerging countries such as China, South Korea, India, or Turkey,
where almost 15% (close to 15%) of the Group’s workforce is employed, is well below the Group average.
Another favorable aspect is that both revenue and
staffing levels in these regions are expanding at a faster rate than in Germany. In these markets too,
how-ever, the dynamics of more pronounced wage
development are to be seen as a latent risk to the
Group’s financial performance.
Taking all factors into account, the direction taken by
labor costs is to be seen as one of the moderate risks to
which the E lringKlinger Group is exposed. The Group
has to offset higher wage costs by making substantial
capital investments and implementing continuous
measures aimed at raising efficiency levels in production in order to safeguard its international competitiveness and retain jobs in the domestic market.
In the event of an unexpected decline in customer demand, the staff cost ratio may increase substantially.
Capacity constraints caused by possible machine/system outages may also lead to an increase in staff costs
(temporary staff, night and weekend shifts). Thanks to
the introduction of working time accounts, shift models,
and temporary employment contracts, E lringKlinger
has sufficient instruments at its disposal to allow it to
respond rapidly and flexibly to such scenarios. Within
the E
 lringKlinger Group, the proportion of employees
with temporary contracts as of December 31, 2015,
was 19.9% (19.6%).
Personnel risks
As a leading technology business, E lringKlinger is
particularly reliant on the dedication and experience
of its employees. They represent an important source
of expertise for the company, and E
 lringKlinger is
committed to limiting the risk of losing know-how
through staff exits to the greatest extent possible.
What is more, special expertise and skills are spread
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widely within the respective teams, rather than being
concentrated among individual staff members. Staff
turnover rates are to be kept at a percentage level in
the mid-single digit range by creating a socially balanced and motivating working environment.
The age structure within the workforce reveals a
balanced mix, with more than 50% of employees being aged between 30 and 50, while approx. 25% are
younger than 30. Therefore, the risk of overaging is
small.
Due to demographic changes, it is becoming increasingly difficult for the Group to attract qualified personnel with specialized skills. In order to address this
issue in a proactive manner, E lringKlinger attends
university/college career fairs, where it showcases
itself as an attractive employer to graduates. It also
meets the needs of university and college students by
offering internships and thesis topics. Additionally, the
Group has taken on young people as technical and
commercial apprentices. In order to retain skilled personnel and managers within the company in the long
term, E lringKlinger offers training courses and programs for personal advancement.
IT risks
In the digital age, companies’ IT infrastructures are
constantly exposed to potential risks such as cybercrime and hacker attacks. The confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data are considered to be a precious commodity. Protection in this area requires an
increasing number of preventative and corrective
measures. Any disruption to IT systems and application software can lead to tangible delays to individual
processes – from the handling of purchase orders
through to ongoing production and activities in the
supply chain. This would have a negative impact on
operations, which may also affect revenue and costs.
 lringKlinger ensures that such risks are minimized
E
as far as possible. Particularly sensitive data that is
primarily of relevance to operational processes is always stored twice or redundant systems are deployed.
By creating additional backup systems or transitional
solutions, potential risks that might jeopardize specific
projects or processes can be ruled out to the largest
extent possible.
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The company’s headquarters in Dettingen/Erms, Germany, has two data centers operating independently
of each other. For security reasons, these data centers
are accommodated in different buildings, i.e., at physically separate locations. This approach offers the best
possible protection against system failure and data
loss. Furthermore, all data pertaining to the international sites is backed up at a central location.
Staff access to confidential data is managed with the
help of scalable access authorizations. State-of-the-art
security software solutions help to provide protection
against unauthorized access by external sources.
Quality/Warranty risks
As a manufacturing company and supplier to the automotive industry, E lringKlinger is exposed to sector-
specific warranty and liability risks. The supply of non-
compliant components may necessitate an exchange
or recall of such parts, with corresponding costs and
claims for damages. Furthermore, this may damage
the company’s reputation over the long term. Quality
issues currently exist within the Original Equipment
segment. These pose individual risks, the possible financial impact of which can be considered moderate.
In this context, the development of entirely new products for fields of application beyond the automobile
industry or in the area of alternative drive technology
is associated with further potential risks.
 lringKlinger uses appropriate quality assurance sysE
tems to prevent and mitigate the aforementioned risks.
As an element of the Group-wide risk management
system, quality and warranty risks are covered to a
large extent by insurance policies, e.g., product liability insurance. Insurance coverage is reviewed at least
once a year and adjusted where necessary. Additionally, where possible, agreements on limitation of liability
are concluded between E lringKlinger and the contracting party in question.

C o m bi n ed Ma n age m e n t Repo r t

Annual Report 2015

Legal risks
Legal risks/Compliance risks
Beyond the risks already discussed in the section dealing with warranty risks, the E
 lringKlinger Group is exposed to further legal risks attributable to its business
model and the size of the Group. These risks are covered to a large extent by insurance policies, which
are an element of the risk management system. Furthermore, E
 lringKlinger addresses its exposure to legal risks by recognizing appropriate provisions in its
separate and consolidated financial statements. Compared with the previous year, there were no other significant risks in the period under review. Likewise,
E lringKlinger is at present not exposed to any significant litigation risks.
The structure of the compliance system was outlined
earlier in the description of the risk management system. Risks can occur at both the parent company and
the subsidiaries as a result of unlawful actions. In view
of the compliance system instruments put in place and
the E lringKlinger culture applied and embraced by the
company, the probability of occurrence in respect of
significant infringements can be classified as low but
cannot be ruled out entirely. The financial effects on
Group earnings are difficult to specify; depending on
the respective case, they may reach a scale that could
be considered significant. Based on its current assessment, however, E lringKlinger anticipates that the possible financial impact is relatively moderate.

its position as a development partner to the vehicle industry in the medium-term.
This scenario, in turn, would have a detrimental effect
on the Group’s sales and earnings performance in the
medium to long term. With this in mind, E lringKlinger
invests in R&D at a level that is well above the industry
average – around 5% of revenue is earmarked for such
capital expenditure each year. Additionally, substantial investments have been channeled into the expansion of the Group’s technology portfolio in the last five
years. E lringKlinger protects significant technologies
and processes in the form of property rights and patents in order to combat to the largest extent possible
the risk of damages caused by metoo products and imitations.
The company focuses its R&D activities firmly on a core
area that is of particular importance to the automotive
industry: optimization of the conventional combustion
engine and the development of alternative drive technologies. E lringKlinger is one of just a few suppliers to
have taken the lead in positioning itself within the market early on and at great expense with a range of new
products tailored to the requirements of e-mobility – be
it in the area of battery or fuel cell technology. This is
complemented by state-of-the-art technology in the
field of exhaust gas purification. However, as the revenue contribution made by these new divisions is still
relatively insignificant, rapid and extensive technological change within this area poses the risk of a substantial loss of revenue in the classic areas of business; this
would exert greater pressure on prices.

Strategic risks
Technology risks
The business model of the 
E lringKlinger Group is
based on a culture of excellence in innovation and
technology leadership. The company is committed to
developing products that are technologically sophisticated and to manufacturing these items with a high
level of productivity, the aim being to achieve growth
rates that are above the industry average (cf. Overview
of E lringKlinger’s Activities and Structure, page 54 et
seqq.).
If E lringKlinger failed to identify and pursue fundamental technological changes at an early stage, the
Group could lose its role as a pioneer and jeopardize
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Overall, the probability of occurrence is deemed low;
the possible financial impact is considered to be
moderate.
External growth/Acquisitions
The automotive supply industry is still in a process
of consolidation. In the medium term, this presents
E lringKlinger with the opportunity to enter regional
markets and new fields of technology faster by means
of targeted acquisitions.
Acquisitions are associated with the fundamental
risk that the acquired entities may fall short of specified targets or fail to meet them in the planned time
frame. This could result in expenses for unforeseen

Consolidated
Financial Statements

ElringKlinger AG

106

C o m bi n ed Ma n age m e n t Repo r t

Report on Opportunities and Risks

restructuring measures, which may – at least temporarily – exert downward pressure on the Group’s profit
margin. In addition, the level of investment required in
this area may be higher than originally planned, which
would push up the volume of financing required. Additionally, technology purchases pose the fundamental
risk that the performance originally expected by the
company may not be fully achievable or that the performance may not be achievable to the degree initially
envisaged. Thus, there is a risk that the products may
ultimately fail to meet customer expectations.
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Within the Aftermarket segment, the risk of bad debt
losses is considered to be higher than in the case of
Original Equipment. However, this risk is also much
more diversified due to the significant number of customers served in this segment.

Prior to an acquisition, E lringKlinger generally conducts extensive due diligence investigations. As a matter of principle, all projects are also reviewed by a
company team of experts. Financial plans and technical specifications are checked thoroughly for plausibility, analyzed in detail, and evaluated.

Liquidity and financing risks
Since the financial crisis – and against the backdrop of
more stringent directives governing capital requirements – lending practices adopted by banks have become more restrictive. At the same time, corporate
expansion and the development of new technologies
necessitate sizeable investments, generally leading
to more substantial funding requirements. If rating
agencies were to downgrade the automotive industry
as a whole in response to a less favorable risk profile,
credit terms for the sector and ultimately also for
E lringKlinger would be affected adversely.

 lringKlinger makes a point of only entering into an
E
acquisition if there is the prospect that the EBIT
margin of the Group as a whole can be achieved in
the medium term. At the same time, the overall financial risk of a transaction must in no way jeopardize
E lringKlinger AG’s ability to offer a dividend, even when
factoring in the effects of an unfavorable scenario.

In view of this situation, there is a latent risk associated with financing, despite greatly improved earnings
performance in the industry as a whole and extremely
low interest rates. The risk of insolvencies, particularly
with regard to smaller automotive supply companies
that are not operating at an international level, can still
not be ruled out entirely.

As part of the annual impairment tests to be conducted
in accordance with IFRS at the end of each year, it may
be necessary to recognize impairment losses in connection with goodwill or investees, which would in
turn adversely affect annual Group earnings.

Thanks to a strong equity ratio of 48.5% (49.7%)
and a debt factor (net debt in relation to EBITDA ) of
2.2 (1.5), the ability of the E lringKlinger Group to refinance itself is considered to be non-critical. At
EUR 123.3 (149.9) million in 2015, the Group generated cash flow from operating activities that covers to a
large extent the company’s financing requirements for
higher working capital as well as for investments in
property, plant, and equipment. Additionally, the Group
has access to undrawn lines of credit totaling EUR
101.0 (87.7) million.

Financial risks
Bad debt loss
On balance, the risk of customers defaulting on payments is considered relatively low for E lringKlinger,
given the solid performance of the industry as a whole
in North America, Western Europe, and large parts of
Asia. Due to the broadly diversified group of customers, the risk of substantial bad debt loss is limited. In
the event of an insolvency of one of the three single
biggest customers, which at present is considered unlikely, the default risk in respect of accounts receivable
would have amounted to between EUR 14.8 and 28.1
million (between EUR 13.4 and 21.8 million) as of December 31, 2015.

As of December 31, 2015, no circumstances were present that would have justified the exercise of unilateral
termination rights by banks. Based on the full range
of information available at present, it can be assumed
that the existing financial covenants will also be met
in 2016. The company has identified no immediate
risks that might jeopardize the financing of major projects planned by E
 lringKlinger or prevent the company from meeting its payment deadlines. From today’s
perspective, financing risks that might jeopardize the
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company’s existence as a going concern can be ruled
out.
Currency risks
The monetary policies adopted by the world’s principal
central banks and the divergence in economic performance within the respective regions have resulted in
greater exchange rate volatility when viewed across an
extended time frame. This applies to the exchange rate
between the euro and the US dollar (USD) as well as
between the euro and the majority of currencies of the
emerging markets and the Swiss franc (CHF ).
Compared with the industry as a whole, the
E lringKlinger Group is exposed to limited currency

risks relating to transactions. In almost all the company’s sales regions, both costs and revenues are largely
denominated in the same currency (natural hedging).
Currency risks also occur when translating revenue,
earnings, and expenses of the international subsidiaries into the Group currency, i.e., the euro. Therefore,
changes in the average exchange rates can have an accretive or dilutive effect on the Group’s revenue and
earnings. In 2015, the positive effect of foreign currency translation on revenue was equivalent to EUR 69.6
million in total, which contrasted with negative foreign
exchange effects in the 2014 financial year. In total, the
opportunities for more expansive revenues and earnings as a result of foreign currency translation should
outweigh the downside risks in 2016.
Exchange rate movements also have an impact on the
net finance result. These factors are mainly associated
with the funding of Group entities by the parent company as well as with the measurement of accounts
receivable and payable. In the 2015 financial year,
the Group recorded a net foreign exchange gain of
EUR 3.2 (10.0) million.
A summary of the quantitative impact of an appreciation or a depreciation of the euro against the key Group
currencies can be found in the sensitivity analysis contained in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
As a result of the currency-related change in competitive factors underlying the Swiss operations of Hug
Engineering AG, Elsau, as well as E
lringKlinger
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A bschirmtechnik (Schweiz) AG, Sevelen, projects may
alternatively be awarded to E lringKlinger Group sites
located in the eurozone. However, as key competitors
of E
 lringKlinger Abschirmtechnik (Schweiz) AG have
production facilities in Switzerland, this risk is currently still considered to be negligible. Currency risk
has been further reduced due to the fact that the purchasing volumes of Hug Engineering AG were changed
over to euro in the majority of cases.
Interestrate risks
The E
 lringKlinger Group funds itself through cash
flow generated from operating activities as well as
through borrowings from banks. A detailed overview
of current and non-current financial liabilities categorized by maturity as of December 31, 2015, can be
found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
The current level of interest rates within the market is
very low when viewed over an extended period of time.
A marked increase in interest rates would feed into
variable rate loans and would ultimately also have an
impact on the net financial result of the E lringKlinger
Group. To a large extent, however, fixed interest rates
have been agreed in respect of the financing liabilities
of the E lringKlinger Group (cf. Notes: Non-current and
current financial liabilities).
Please also refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements for a sensitivity analysis; it outlines the
impact of a change in market interest rates on the
earnings of the E
 lringKlinger Group.
Use of derivative financial instruments
E lringKlinger only uses derivative financial instruments in isolated cases, e.g., for the purpose of protecting the company against price fluctuations relating
to high-grade steel alloys (nickel). Where hedging
contracts are employed as a protective instrument
against commodity price volatility, they are always
based on the actual quantity of physical materials
required by the company.
Operating on a rolling basis, 
E lringKlinger again
hedged some of its requirements of alloyed high-grade
steels in 2015. As of December 31, 2015, around 20%
of required volumes computed by the company were
hedged by means of nickel forward contracts.
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Opportunities
Climate change/Emission laws
The reduction of emissions continues to be a central
topic driving today’s automobile industry. The European Union is known to have some of the strictest emission standards world-wide. According to legislation
passed by the EU Commission, the level of CO2 pollutants emitted by new vehicles will have to be reduced
from the upper limit of 130 g/km applicable in 2015 to
95 g/km by 2021. These requirements will have to be
met by 90% of each manufacturer’s vehicle fleet as
early as 2020. What is more, emission levels are to
be scaled back further in the future, with Brussels
discussing even lower thresholds of between 75 and
65 g/km for the year 2025. The United States and the
People’s Republic of China have also seen increasingly
ambitious emissions targets. In the United States, the
aim is to reduce CO2 emissions to 132 g/km by 2021. In
China, now the world’s largest car market, the government has stipulated a reduction in CO2 emissions to
117 g/km by 2020. Furthermore, emerging countries
such as India tend to look at the strict Euro standards
as a basis for their own policy making.
For the E
 lringKlinger Group, this legislative framework offers considerable potential with regard to development and revenue growth over the coming years.
The trend towards increasingly fuel-efficient engines
places greater demands on gasket technology and
shielding systems. For E lringKlinger, this opens up
additional sales opportunities and new markets for
highly heat-resistant specialty gaskets and shielding
components, such as those required for turbochargers
and in exhaust systems but also in the area of lightweight construction.
Hybrid vehicles, i.e., the combination of a combustion
engine and electric motor, are gaining market share.
Car makers are extending their product portfolio to
include hybrids, the aim being to achieve the strict CO 2
limits applied to their vehicle fleets. For E
 lringKlinger,
hybrid concepts open up the opportunity to generate
higher revenue per vehicle. Alongside components
installed in combustion engines, hybrids provide the
company with the chance to market pressure equalization modules or cell contact systems that are required
in the battery unit of the powertrain.
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-27%
2015 2021

C O 2 e m i s s io n s dow n
by almost 30%
Within the European Union, CO2 emissions of new vehicles
have to be reduced to 95 g/km by 2021.

Various financial incentive schemes are currently being discussed in Germany with a view to meeting the
federal government’s defined goal of one million new
electric vehicles on the road by 2020, despite all the
obstacles. Among them in particular is the possibility
of introducing a statefunded incentive for each electric car purchased. Should such measures be put in
place, the financial incentive may very well prompt
consumers to rethink their purchasing behavior, which
in turn could result in growing sales of electrically
powered cars. Supporting measures aimed at expanding the infrastructure required for electric vehicles,
together with improved battery technology, would
provide a boost to this trend. Irrespective of the direction taken by the incentive schemes being proposed,
E lringKlinger would benefit directly from higher sales
volumes in the electric vehicle market, as the company’s E-Mobility division supplies cell contact systems
to various car makers.
Moreover, the issue of emissions reduction is now also
of growing importance beyond the automotive industry. As of 2016, stationary and marine engines as well
as construction machinery will be subject to stricter
emissions regulations. These niche markets hold
significant potential for the systems produced by
E lringKlinger’s Exhaust Gas Purification division.
The revenue potential associated with the issue of
greenhouse gas reduction can be categorized as significant as regards the possible financial prospects for
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the Group. The potential of E lringKlinger exploiting
these opportunities with the help of its existing product portfolio and its development expertise is seen as
highly probable.
Technology trends/New emissions regulations
The technology trends outlined earlier are being
driven, inevitably, by increasingly strict international
emissions standards. The industry will have to focus
on more efficient engines, lightweight engineering, and
the use of alternative drive technology if it is to have
any chance of meeting the ambitious CO2 targets set
by policymakers.
Insofar as E
 lringKlinger continues to succeed in developing new solutions to tackle these issues and rolling
them out onto the market by utilizing its existing expertise relating to materials processing, tooling, and
development and production processes, the prospects
for revenue and earnings growth of the Group can indeed be categorized as significant.
Extension of product and service portfolio
The majority of the divisions within the Group are in a
good position to apply their existing expertise relating
to materials and processes in a targeted manner for
the purpose of complementing or extending the range
of services.
As these aspects have already been discussed extensively in the chapter on Research and Development, it
is sufficient at this stage to point to E lringKlinger’s expertise centered around new material concepts in the
area of lightweighting as well as alternative drive and
power supply technologies relating to the areas of
battery technology and fuel cells. Emissions standards have also become stricter beyond the automotive
industry, which increasingly is opening up interesting
niche markets in the area of exhaust gas purification.
New opportunities are also presenting themselves
continuously for the Engineered Plastics division and
its PTFE components used in the industrial sector as a
whole as well as in the area of medical technology.
All divisions of the Group are proactively working on
the expansion of their product portfolios with the view
to generating forward momentum, the aim being to
meet the defined target of 5 to 7% organic revenue
growth per annum.
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New sales markets
Moving into other regional sales markets with the
existing E
 lringKlinger product portfolio presents opportunities for significant revenue and earnings growth.
This applies first and fore-most to the ASE A N region.
However, in the BRIC states, too, the Group has the
opportunity to expand its sales volumes, as all product
groups are manufactured locally and sold within the
regional markets.
Widening the product portfolio, introducing new ranges, and tapping new sales regions opens up opportunities for further growth within the Aftermarket business, particularly in North America and Asia. Trading
under the “Elring – Das Original” brand, the Aftermarket segment within the E lringKlinger Group pursued a
targeted expansion of its activities in Asia over the
course of the 2015 financial year. The focus, in particular, was on launching measures to cultivate the
Chinese spare parts market, which involves competing
against a number of local operators. This campaign is
to be propelled forward during 2016.
Industry consolidation/M&A
Car industry growth, measured on the basis of production output, is expected to be driven primarily by Asia
and North America in the coming years. For many medium-sized automotive suppliers operating at a domestic level, this trend represents a tremendous challenge,
as they still have either an insufficient international
presence or none whatsoever. What is more, suppliers
are now having to manage an increasingly large proportion of value creation with regard to vehicle production. They are faced with substantial investments
in research and development, in addition to being exposed to more extensive financing risks.
The wave of consolidation within the automotive supply industry looks set to persist over the coming years.
Against this backdrop, the market continues to face the
risk of insolvencies.
For the E
 lringKlinger Group, this opens up the possibility of extending its technology portfolio through
acquisitions or further strengthening its competitive
position through consolidation of individual product
groups. In some cases, competitors also exit the market without the influence of consolidation processes.
E lringKlinger monitors the market systematically in
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order to identify potential opportunities for acquisition
as early as possible and pursue them where appropriate. There is every chance that 
E lringKlinger will
exploit growth opportunities through acquisitions.
The associated financial impact is difficult to quantify
in advance. It may range from insignificant to indeed
significant when measured on the basis of earnings
contributions for the Group.

Overall assessment of risks and
opportunities
Fundamentally, the risk management system deployed
by the E lringKlinger Group has proven to be very effective in recent years. Its effectiveness is illustrated,
in particular, by the company’s success in handling the
severe economic crisis of 2008/9. The company invested early on and consistently in promising areas of its
business, such as E-Mobility or Exhaust Gas Purification.
The conclusion drawn from scrutinizing the opportunities and risks in their entirety is that the situation of
the E lringKlinger Group in respect of risk exposure is,
in essence, largely unchanged from that seen in the
previous year. Some of the risks to which the Group
is exposed are of a geopolitical or external nature, and
E lringKlinger has either no or a very limited capacity
to control these risks in an active manner. When
weighting the relevance of risk in respect of the possible impact on earnings, a sudden slump in the market, rapid technological change in the field of drive
technology, and a surge in commodity prices continue to be seen as the principal risks to which the
E lringKlinger Group is exposed.
Macroeconomic conditions continued to improve in
Western Europe and North America over the course of
2015. By contrast, the political and economic situation
in Russia and the Middle East as well as the economic
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problems afflicting Brazil continue to be a source of
risk. This is compounded by the economic slowdown
in China, which would represent a more pronounced
risk if the situation were to deteriorate. The strategic
risks remain unchanged. The financial opportunities
and risks due to foreign exchange fluctuations remain
at an elevated level compared to the previous year.
Benefiting from the risk management system outlined
above and its flexible cost structure, if necessary the
E lringKlinger Group is in a position to respond promptly and assertively to any risks that may arise by implementing the corresponding risk management arrangements. The company makes a point of deliberately not
exposing itself to risks that may jeopardize the existence of the E
 lringKlinger Group or its ability to pay
a dividend. The Group’s solid financial position as
reflected in an equity ratio of 48.5% (49.7%) provides
a protective shield in respect of E lringKlinger and its
business model even in the unlikely event of a protracted crisis.
The principal opportunities for the company relate to
the technological trend towards more fuel-efficient
engines, which is inextricably linked to the issue of
climate change and a global drive towards stricter emission laws. Benefiting from products targeted at alternative drive systems and power supply as well as a
number of new concepts in the field of lightweight construction, the Group can look forward to opportunities
for growth around the globe.
There are currently no identifiable risks that might
jeopardize the future existence of the company as a
going concern, either in isolation or in conjunction
with other factors. Against the background of a manageable risk profile, the Group is well positioned to
actively seize any opportunities presented to it in the
future and to continue to outpace the automotive market by 3 to 5 percentage points over the coming years,
calculated on the basis of global production output.
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Compensation structure for members of the
Management Board
Contracts for members of the Management Board are
drawn up by the Personnel Committee of the Supervisory Board, negotiated with the respective members of
the Management Board, and concluded following approval by the entire Supervisory Board. The Personnel
Committee reviews the level of compensation at predefined intervals and advises the Supervisory Board on
appropriate adjustments where required. These recommendations are decided upon by the full Supervisory
Board. The recommendations take into account the size
and international operations of the company, its economic and financial situation, its prospects for the
future, the level and structure of management board
compensation offered by similar companies, and the
compensation structure in place in other areas of the
company. In addition, the duties and performance of
each member of the Management Board are taken into
consideration. Compensation is set at a level that ensures it is competitive within the market for highly
qualified managers and provides an incentive for successful work in a corporate structure with a strong
focus on performance and achievement. If requested
by the company, the Management Board members also
take on responsibilities in affiliated entities. The Management Board members receive no additional compensation for such activities.
Management Board compensation for the 2015 financial year is presented in accordance with the provisions set out in two different standards: first, the applicable financial reporting standards (GAS 17) and,
secondly, the German Corporate Governance Code in
the version of May 5, 2015.
Compensation system up to December 31, 2013
The compensation system applicable up to December
31, 2013, was replaced as of January 1, 2014. Only the
stock appreciation rights allocated to members of the
Management Board as part of long-term variable compensation remain in place until the end of the vesting
or exercise periods. Holders of stock appreciation rights
were entitled to a cash-settled payment. Stock appreciation rights were not furnished with any entitlements

to shares in E lringKlinger AG. On February 1 of each
year – commencing in 2013 – 30,000 stock appreciation rights were to be allocated to each member of
the Management Board. The grant price is computed
as the arithmetic mean of the market price of
E lringKlinger shares in the last sixty stock exchange
trading days prior to the grant date. An essential precondition for the allocation of stock appreciation rights
was the personal investment by the Management Board
members in shares of E lringKlinger AG of one-tenth of
the overall number of stock appreciation rights granted. The vesting period of the stock appreciation rights
is four years. On completion of the vesting period, the
Management Board member is entitled to request
redemption of the stock appreciation rights within

another two years. The redemption price is determined on the basis of the average market price of
E lringKlinger AG shares over the last sixty stock exchange trading days prior to the request for redemption. Redemption of the stock appreciation rights can
only be requested if the redemption price is 25%
higher than the grant price. The redemption price as
a whole is limited per tranche to the amount of two
fixed annual salaries at the time of redemption. Provisions are recognized in consideration of expected
future obligations.
Up to February 1, 2013, the stock appreciation bonus
encompassed the allocation of stock appreciation rights
in five and four tranches respectively. For two of the
Management Board members this allocation occurred
in the period from February 1, 2008, to February 1,
2012. For one of the Management Board members it
occurred in the period from January 1, 2009, to January 1, 2012. The grant price is computed as the arithmetic mean of the market price of E
 lringKlinger shares
in the last sixty stock exchange trading days prior to
the grant date. The number of stock appreciation rights
was determined on the basis of fixed remuneration
payable to the individual Management Board member
as well as the level of the grant price (fixed compensation in relation to grant price = number of shares allocated). The amount to be remunerated is calculated on
the basis of the difference between the redemption
price, which is also calculated as an average of the last
sixty stock exchange trading days, and the grant price.
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A payment is made only when the share price of
E lringKlinger AG has increased more than the index
in which E lringKlinger is listed (MDA X ), but at least
by 25%. Remuneration per tranche is limited to the
amount of annual fixed salary payable. The vesting
period is four years. On conclusion of the new Management Board service contracts, the existing stock
appreciation bonus came to an end. The tranches yet
to be redeemed will remain in place until the vesting
periods have ended.
Compensation system as of January 1, 2014
The compensation system applicable starting on January 1, 2014, also includes fixed and variable components. It comprises:
1. Annual fixed salary
2. Long-term incentive I (LTI I)
3. Long-term incentive II (LTI II)
4. Fringe benefits
5. D&O insurance
6. Retirement pension
Fixed annual salary
The fixed annual salary is a cash payment in respect
of the current financial year; it takes into account the
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area of responsibility of the Management Board member in question and is paid in twelve monthly installments.
Long-term incentive I (LTI I) (annual management
bonus)
LTI I is a variable component of compensation that is
based on the average Group EBIT (Group earnings before interest and taxes) of the last three financial
years. The Management Board receives a percentage
share of the three-year mean. The long-term incentive
I corresponds to the principles previously applied to
the annual management bonus and is granted as compensation for services performed in respect of one
financial year. LTI I is limited to a maximum of three
times the amount of fixed compensation in the financial year in question. Payment of LTI I for a financial
year ended occurs on approval of the separate and
consolidated financial statements by the Supervisory
Board in the subsequent year. On termination of the
appointment as a Board member either at the request
of the Management Board member in question or for
good cause, entitlements to the variable compensation components of LTI I shall lapse as soon as the
termination of said Board appointment comes into
legal effect.

I l l u s t r at i v e C a l c u l at io n LT I I

EBIT average

193,000,000

Variable
compensation

Cap Fixed salary
2015 *3

Dr. Wolf

0.80%

1,544,000

1,521,000

Becker

0.60%

1,158,000

1,179,000

Schmauder

0.60%

1,158,000

1,179,000

3,860,000

3,879,000

Total

Long-term incentive II (LTI II)
The socalled Economic Value Added (EVA ) bonus is
granted to the Management Board as a constituent element of variable Management Board compensation
that focuses on positive corporate performance over
the long term. LTI II creates a long-term incentive for
the Management Board to make a committed contribution to the success of the company. LTI II is a bonus
based on the economic value added to the E lringKlinger

Group. The Management Board receives a percentage
of the economic value added calculated in respect of
the company. The EVA bonus corresponds to the percentage of average economic value added in the current and the two preceding financial years. The annual
economic value added is calculated according to the
following formula:
EVA = (EBIT x (1 – T)) – ( WACC x Capital Invested)
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The first component is calculated on the basis of Group
earnings before interest and taxes (Group EBIT ) in respect of the financial year as well as the average Group
tax rate.
The second component is computed by multiplying
Group WACC by capital invested. The weighted average
cost of capital ( WACC ) is calculated with the help of the
basic interest rate, the market risk premium, and the
beta factor. The beta factor represents the individual
risk of a share in relation to the market index. It is determined as an average value of all the peer group companies. The credit spread for borrowing costs, as the
premium on the risk-free basic interest rate, was derived from a peer group rating. Capital invested is calculated on the basis of Group equity plus net financial
liabilities (i.e., net debt) as of January 1 of the financial
year. 90% of the LTI II amount is paid out to the member
of the Management Board in question in the subsequent
year. Using the remaining 10% of the LTI II amount,
the company purchases shares in E lringKlinger AG on
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behalf and for account of the Management Board member in question. The Management Board member is
prohibited from accessing these shares for a period of
three years. Dividends and subscription rights are at
the disposal of the Management Board member. The
maximum amount granted from LTI II has been set at
twice the amount of fixed compensation.
If a member of the Management Board enters the service of the company during the financial year and is
not in employment for the company for a full twelvemonth period, LTI II is reduced pro rata temporis.
On termination of a contract of service, the Management
Board member in question may access the shares only
after a period of twelve months subsequent to said termination. On termination of the appointment as a Board
member either at the request of the Management Board
member in question or for good cause, entitlements becoming applicable in the future in respect of the variable
compensation components of LTI II shall lapse.

EVA mean value

79,500,000

Variable
compensation

Cap Fixed salary
2015 *2

Dr. Wolf

1.25%

993,750

1,014,000

Becker

1.00%

795,000

786,000

Schmauder

1.00%

Summe

Fringe benefits
The taxable fringe benefits awarded to Management
Board members mainly encompass the provision of a
company car and mobile phone and communication
devices as well as expense allowances and insurance
benefits.
D&O insurance
The members of the Management Board are covered
by the Group’s existing directors’ and officers’ liability insurance (D&O insurance). The agreed deductible
corresponds to the minimum deductible set out in Section 193 (2) sentence 3 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act) in the applicable version.

795,000

786,000

2,583,750

2,586,000

Retirement pension
The contracts of the Management Board members of
E lringKlinger AG include commitments in respect of
an annual retirement pension that is measured as a
percentage of pensionable income. The entitlement to
a retirement pension becomes applicable as soon as
the contract of service has ended, but not before the
individual has reached the age of 63. This entitlement
also becomes applicable as soon as the Management
Board member has reached the age that entitles him
to receive full statutory pension benefits as well as in
the event of occupational disability. The percentage is
dependent on the number of years of service as a
Management Board member. Existing entitlements in
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respect of time spent as a salaried employee of the
company are not factored into this calculation and continue to apply. The percentage rate is 3% or 3.2% of
the last monthly fixed salary prior to leaving the company in respect of each full year of service. This percentage rate can rise to a maximum of 45%.
If a member of the Management Board acts in a manner
that is grossly negligent or displays gross negligence in
his failure to act in specific instances and such actions
or failures to act would result in significant damages
to the Group, all entitlements to a retirement pension
shall lapse; the same shall apply if the member of the
Management Board enters the service of an entity that
is in direct competition with the company.
The contracts include provisions governing surviving
dependents’ benefits. If a member of the Management
Board dies during the period in which the employment
contract is applicable or once the retirement benefits
become due, his widow or dependent children shall receive a widow’s or orphan’s pension. The widow’s pension amounts to 50% of the retirement pension of the
deceased. The orphan’s pension amounts to 20% to
the extent that a widow’s pension is payable simultaneously and 40% to the extent that no widow’s pension is payable.
The widow’s or orphan’s pensions shall not exceed
60% of the amount to which the deceased would have
been entitled if he had entered into retirement on the
day of his death.
Review and adjustment of compensation
The salary components are to be reviewed by the company’s Supervisory Board every two years. The next
review will take place as of January 1, 2017.

ElringKlinger AG
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The Supervisory Board has the right to grant the
Management Board special remuneration for exceptional 
accomplishments. The Supervisory Board is
also authorized to reduce the Management Board’s
total compensation to an appropriate level if the company’s situation deteriorates to such an extent that
continued payment of the former remuneration would
be unreasonable.
Severance pay cap
In the event of premature termination of the contract
of service without good cause, any payments potentially to be agreed with the Management Board member
shall not exceed the amount equivalent to two years’
annual compensation (“severance pay cap”) and the
amount equivalent to compensation payable in respect
of the remaining term of this contract of service.
In the event of a change of control, any potential severance payment to be agreed by the parties shall not exceed 150% of the severance pay cap.
Loans to Management Board members
No advances or loans were granted to members of
the Management Board of E lringKlinger AG in 2014
or 2015. Likewise, the company provided no guarantees or similar commitments.

Management Board compensation 2015
Management Board compensation for the 2015 financial year has been presented pursuant to the applicable financial reporting standards (GAS 17) as well as
in accordance with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code in the version dated
May 5, 2015.
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Management Board compensation 2015 pursuant to
financial reporting standard GAS 17
Total Management Board compensation in accordance
with Section 314 (1) no. 6a sentence 1 to 4 HGB (German Commercial Code) was allocated to the respective
members of the Management Board as follows:

Dr. Stefan Wolf
in EUR k

2014

2015

Theo Becker
2014

2015

Karl Schmauder
2014

Total

2015

2014

2015

Short-term compensation

Fixed compensation

526

556

392

418

390

413

1,308

1,387

Variable performance-related compensation

1,249

1,182

934

888

934

888

3,117

2,958

Total

1,775

1,738

1,326

1,306

1,324

1,301

4,425

4,345

564

452

451

362

451

362

1,467

1,176

Long-term compensation

Long-term performance-related compensation
Total
Total compensation

564

452

451

362

451

362

1,467

1,176

2,339

2,190

1,777

1,668

1,775

1,663

5,892

5,521

Dr. Stefan Wolf
in EUR k

2014

2015

Theo Becker
2014

2015

Karl Schmauder
2014

2015

Total
2014

2015

Current service cost

236

238

155

153

130

132

521

523

Present value (DBO )

4,091

3,995

3,106

3,025

4,197

4,007

11,394

11,027
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Pension obligations
The current service cost as well as the present value
(DBO ) of the pension provisions are as follows:
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Management Board compensation pursuant
to the German Corporate Governance Code

in the version dated May 5, 2015. The presentation uses
the “model tables” recommended by the Code.

The following presentation of compensation granted to
and received by the Management Board members in respect of the 2015 financial year is based on the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code

The following table presents benefits granted to the
members of the Management Board in respect of the
2015 financial year, as disclosable under the provisions of the German Corporate Governance Code:

B e n e f i t s g r a n t ed ( p u r s u a n t t o G C G C )

Dr. Stefan Wolf
2014

2015

Min. 2015

Max. 2015

480

507

507

507

46

49

49

49

526

556

556

556

1,249

1,182

0

1,521

0

0

0

0

Multi-year variable compensation 2012 – 2014

565

0

0

0

Multi-year variable compensation 2013 – 2015

560

0

0

0

Multi-year variable compensation 2014 – 2016

552

0

0

0

Multi-year variable compensation 2015 – 2017

0

447

0

1,014

2,926

1,629

0

2,535

236

238

238

238

3,688

2,423

794

3,329

in EUR k

Non-performance-based compensation

Fixed annual salary
Fringe benefits
Total
Performance-based compensation

One-year variable compensation
Multi-year variable share-based compensation 2013 – 2017

Total

Service cost
Total compensation

In contrast to GAS 17, the table presents long-term
compensation granted in 2015 for LTI II. In 2014, the
figure also includes LTI II for 2015 and LTI II for
2016, which were granted as a result of the complete
revision of contracts of service for the Management
Board members in line with the German Corporate

Governance Code. In addition, the minimum and
maximum amounts achievable have been listed. The
benefit expense, which is presented in the form of
the current service cost in the above table, has been
included in total compensation.
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Theo Becker

Karl Schmauder

Total

2014

2015

Min. 2015

Max. 2015

2014

2015

Min. 2015

Max. 2015

2014

2015

Min. 2015

Max. 2015

372

393

393

393

372

393

393

393

1,224

1,293

1,293

1,293

20

25

25

25

18

20

20

20

84

94

94

94

392

418

418

418

390

413

413

413

1,308

1,387

1,387

1,387

934

888

0

1,179

934

888

0

1,179

3,117

2,958

0

3,879

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

451

0

0

0

451

0

0

0

1,467

0

0

0

447

0

0

0

447

0

0

0

1,454

0

0

0

443

0

0

0

443

0

0

0

1,438

0

0

0

0

357

0

786

0

357

0

786

0

1,161

0

2,586

2,275

1,245

0

1,965

2,275

1,245

0

1,965

7,476

4,119

0

6,465

155

153

153

153

130

132

132

132

521

523

523

523

2,822

1,816

571

2,536

2,795

1,790

545

2,510

9,305

6,029

1,910

8,375

Consolidated
Financial Statements

ElringKlinger AG

118

C o m bi n ed Ma n age m e n t Repo r t

Compensation Report

The following table presents the allocation in/for the
2015 financial year. As regards fixed annual salary,
fringe benefits, annual management bonus, and LTI II
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2015, the table presents the allocation for the 2015
financial year.

A l l ocat io n p u r s u a n t t o G C G C

Dr. Stefan Wolf
in EUR k

2014

2015

480

507

46

49

526

556

1,249

1,182

Non-performance-based compensation

Fixed annual salary
Fringe benefits
Total
Performance-based compensation

One-year variable compensation
Multi-year variable compensation 2012 – 2014

565

0

Multi-year variable compensation 2013 – 2015

0

452

1,814

1,634

Total

Service cost
Total compensation

Compensation structure for members of the
Supervisory Board
Supervisory Board compensation is governed by the
provisions set out in Section 13 of the Articles of Association of E lringKlinger AG. The compensation structure relating to the Supervisory Board was adjusted in
the reporting period. The level of compensation is determined by the Annual General Meeting. Within this
context, the most recent resolution was passed on May
13, 2015. In accordance with the requirements of the
German Corporate Governance Code, compensation
is divided into a fixed and a variable component. The
members of the Supervisory Board receive fixed compensation of EUR 10k for each full financial year they
have served on the Supervisory Board. Additionally,
the members of the Supervisory Board receive a lumpsum payment of EUR 1k for each Supervisory Board
meeting they attend as well as fixed compensation of
EUR 4k for membership of a committee. The variable
component of compensation is based on average IFRS
Group earnings before taxes in respect of the last

236

238

2,576

2,428

three financial years and is calculated as 0.02% of the
aforementioned amount. As of the 2015 financial year,
it is limited to EUR 40k per member of the Supervisory
Board.
The role of the Supervisory Board Chairman and that
of his Deputy are taken into consideration when determining the level of compensation. The Chairman of the
Supervisory Board receives two times and the Deputy
Chairman one-and-a-half times the compensation paid
to other Supervisory Board members. Expenses incurred by the Supervisory Board members are reimbursed to an appropriate extent. Supervisory Board
members who have not held the position for a full financial year receive a pro rata amount of fixed and
variable compensation.
Supervisory Board compensation 2015
In the period under review, total compensation for the
Supervisory Board of E lringKlinger AG was EUR 774k
(2014: EUR 608k). Additionally, travel expenses totaling EUR 0k (2014: EUR 2k) were reimbursed.
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Theo Becker

Karl Schmauder

Total

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

372

393

372

393

1,224

1,293

20

25

18

20

84

94

392

418

390

413

1,308

1,387

934

888

934

888

3,117

2,958

451

0

451

0

1,467

0

0

362

0

362

0

1,176

1,385

1,250

1,385

1,250

4,584

4,134

155

153

130

132

521

523

1,932

1,821

1,905

1,795

6,413

6,044

Fixed compensation
EUR k

Variable compensation

2015

2014

2015

Total compensation

2014

2015

2014

Walter Herwarth Lechler

68

48

57

57

125

105

Markus Siegers

41

25

43

43

84

68

Gert Bauer

10

18

10

29

20

47

Ernst Blinzinger

16

0

18

0

34

0

Nadine Boguslawski

16

0

18

0

34

0

Armin Diez

28

18

29

29

57

47

Klaus Eberhardt

32

22

29

29

61

51

Pasquale Formisano

24

14

29

29

53

43

Rita Forst

16

0

18

0

34

0

Dr. Margarete Haase

8

14

10

29

18

43

Paula Monteiro-Munz

28

18

29

29

57

47

Prof. Hans-Ulrich Sachs

24

13

29

29

53

42

Gabriele Sons

32

19

41

11

73

29

Manfred Strauß

24

14

29

29

53

43

Gerhard Wick
Total

8

14

10

29

18

43

375

237

399

372

774

608

The variable compensation presented above reflects
accrued expense based on average IFRS Group

earnings before taxes in the last three financial
years.
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Details according to Section 289 (4) and Section 315 (4)
of the German Commercial Code (HGB), particularly
with regard to share capital and disclosure of potential
takeover obstacles
As of December 31, 2015, the nominal capital of
E lringKlinger AG was unchanged at EUR 63,359,990,
divided into 63,359,990 registered shares, each furnished with one vote. The notional interest in the company’s nominal capital is EUR 1.00 per registered
share. Profits are distributed in accordance with Section 60 of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktien
gesetz – AktG) in conjunction with Section 23 no. 1 of
the Articles of Association.

The Management Board is not aware of any restrictions or agreements between shareholders concerning
voting rights or the transfer of shares.
The persons or entities with a direct interest in capital
who, according to the details of the Stock Register,
held voting rights in excess of 10% as of December 31,
2015, are as follows:

Walter H. Lechler, Stuttgart

Total of 22.059% (of which 10.0127% is attributable
to him under Section 22 of the German Securities Trading Act
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz – WpHG))

Lechler Beteiligungs-GmbH, Stuttgart

10.031%

No shareholder is equipped with special rights constituting controlling powers.

ation require a resolution of the Annual General Meeting with a majority of three-quarters.

 lringKlinger does not operate any employee profE
it-sharing schemes.

The Management Board is authorized to buy back
company shares up to a total amount of 10% of share
capital existing at the date on which this resolution
was passed (May 13, 2015). This authorization remains
valid until May 21, 2020.

The number of Management Board members is determined by the Supervisory Board (Section 7 of the Articles of Association). The appointment and removal of
Management Board members is performed in accordance with Sections 84 and 85 of the German Stock
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG). The Articles of
Association contain no regulations that could be considered non-compliant with the provisions set out by
law as regards the conditions applicable to the appointment or removal of Management Board members.
As stipulated by Section 179 of the Stock Corporation
Act in conjunction with Section 20 of the Articles of
Association, all amendments to the Articles of Associ-

Details relating to authorized capital and the utilization of authorized capital are included in the Notes.
 lringKlinger has not entered into any agreements
E
containing a change of control provision that would
apply in the event of a takeover bid.
There are no compensation agreements with members
of the Management Board or employees in the event of
a takeover bid.
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Corporate Governance Statement pursuant
to Section 289a HGB
The Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to
Section 289a of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB ) is part of the combined management

report and has been published on the E lringKlinger
website at www.elringklinger.de/en/company/corporategovernance/declaration-of-conformity.

Report on Expected Developments

Economists have taken a cautiously optimistic position when looking ahead to the potential
performance of the global economy in 2016. After growth of 3.1% in 2015, the world
economy is expected to edge up by 3.4% in 2016 according to data published by the International Monetary Fund (IMF). Global growth is likely to be underpinned by demand-side
stimuli from the United States and Europe. By contrast, a loss in forward momentum in China
and the protracted recession afflicting emerging markets dependent on commodity exports
are less encouraging. Market analysts predict slightly more pronounced growth in the global
vehicle market compared to the previous year, when car sales were up by around 2%
worldwide.

International economic climate remains challenging
Despite the many imponderables still remaining in
connection with the massive influx of refugees, the
prospects for a sustained economic upturn in Europe
are good. To a large extent, the eurozone should be
able to offset patterns of sluggish demand associated
with the emerging countries by taking advantage of
the low price of oil and a loose monetary policy. Supported by private consumption and the construction
industry, the German economy is likely to move in parallel with that of the eurozone as a whole in 2016.
The United States is expected to sustain its trajectory
of growth. Having said that, the overall economic outlook was slightly bleaker at the beginning of the year
due to the current malaise in the oil industry and a domestic manufacturing sector buffeted by the effects of
sluggish global demand and a strong dollar. On a more
positive note, solid levels of private consumption –

buoyed by favorable employment figures – as well as
improved national finances should continue to provide
an impetus for growth.
Brazil and Russia, two countries with a strong focus on
the commodities sector, can look forward to little more
than the prospect of slightly cushioning the blow of
their severe economic slump as they move into 2016.
The chance of an economic turnaround would appear
to be remote in both cases, particularly as their current problems are compounded by political crises and
a lack of structural reforms.
Despite the less dynamic performance of China’s economy, Asia as a whole is again expected to see the
largest expansion in gross domestic product (GDP ) in
2016. Impacted, among other things, by the government’s efforts to transform the local economy into one
fueled to a larger extent by domestic consumption and
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the services sector, China had lost some of its momentum over the course of 2015. Market experts at the
IMF are predicting another slight decline for 2016. In
absolute terms, however, the world’s second-largest
economy will continue to make a major contribution to
global growth. India is expected to benefit from fur-
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ther expansion in 2016, thus boasting the highest rate
of growth among the major emerging economies.
By contrast, Japan is only likely to see a sluggish improvement in its economic performance. At best, it is
expected to record slight growth in 2016.

G D P g r ow t h p r ojec t io n s

2015

Projections 2016

Projections 2017

World

3.1%

3.4%

3.6%

Germany

1.5%

1.7%

1.7%

Year-on-year change

Eurozone

1.5%

1.7%

1.7%

USA

2.5%

2.6%

2.6%

Brazil

- 3.8%

- 3.5%

0.0%

China

6.9%

6.3%

6.0%

India

7.3%

7.5%

7.5%

Japan

0.6%

1.0%

0.3%

Source: International Monetary Fund (January 2016)

Vehicle market faces greater challenges in 2016
Against the backdrop of current economic and political uncertainties around the globe, the outlook for the
automotive market in 2016 is cautiously optimistic.
Based on the assumption that general conditions do
not deteriorate, Germany’s car industry association
VDA has predicted growth of around 2% for the global
auto market, while C AR Center Automotive Research
at the University of Duisburg-Essen has forecast a
slightly more pronounced rate of growth of 2.7% compared with 2015. As was the case last year, growth is
likely to be fueled by the three largest markets: China,
NA FTA , and Western Europe. E
 lringKlinger’s outlook
for 2016 suggests that global vehicle production will
expand by around one to two percent.
Western Europe’s car market revving lower
Having picked up strongly in 2015, Western Europe’s
vehicle market is expected to advance at a much slower pace in 2016. Although consumer demand will be
propelled by low interest rates and sizeable discounts,
the rate of expansion within the five biggest Western
European markets is likely to be much less pronounced
than in the previous year. The United Kingdom, which
has seen a booming car market over the last three

years, and Spain are expected to trend sideways in
2016. In France and Italy, meanwhile, recovery will
probably continue in less dynamic fashion. As for the
German car market, the VDA predicts just a slight increase in the number of new registrations. German car
exports and domestic production should expand by
1% respectively in 2016 according to data published
by the VDA .
Overall, industry experts anticipate that the number of
new registrations in Western Europe will edge up by a
percentage figure at the lower end of the single-digit
range.
Weaker growth in the United States
The US market is also unlikely to emulate last year’s
performance as it moves into 2016. The trend toward
light trucks, a segment in which German manufacturers expanded their market share in 2015, will remain
intact given the low price of fuel. Overall, the VDA sees
market growth in the United States at around 1%.
Slim prospects for crisis markets Russia and Brazil
After the dramatic downturn in Russia’s and Brazil’s
vehicle markets over the course of 2015, the forecasts
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for 2016 are only slightly more encouraging. At best,
Russia can look forward to year-on-year stability in
2016, while Brazil is likely to be faced with a single-
digit dip.

90%
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Instead, growth will be concentrated in the remaining
Asian markets and other emerging countries. As of
2017, Russia and South America are expected to make
substantial gains. With respect to growth based on absolute figures, China is still likely to hold the greatest
potential. The number of households in China with an
income of more than 10,000 dollars, the threshold beyond which first-time buyers can afford a car, is expected to rise steadily. What is more, the low vehicle
density of around 100 cars per 1,000 inhabitants offers
considerable potential for growth in the medium term.

o f n ew v ehic l e s
will still be equipped with conventional petrol or diesel
engines in 2021. The others will be fitted with hybrid drives,
and only approx. 2% will be all-electric vehicles.
(Source: PwC Autofacts, May 2015)

Medi u m -t e r m f o r eca s t: Av e r age A n n u a l G r ow t h
Rat e ( Sa l e s l igh t v ehic l e s )
B y Regio n 2 0 1 5 – 2 0 2 0

(in %)

- 0.1
		Top
5 Western Europe

- 0.7
		North
America

Despite the downturn in sales by around 10% in Japan
in 2015, there appears to be limited potential for an
upturn in 2016.
In the medium term, industry pundits are predicting
average growth for the global vehicle market of between 2 and 3% up to 2020. In terms of absolute volumes, Asia, NAFTA , and Western Europe will remain
the central pillars of support. However, further expansion within the three key markets encompassing NAFTA ,
Western Europe, and Japan is considered unlikely.

4.0

Middle East/
Africa

3.8

China

8.7

ASEAN + India

- 1.7
		

- 6.0

India should be able to achieve further growth at a
percentage rate in the mid-single digit range in 2016.

3.0

South America

- 4.0

- 2.0
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Sustained growth in Chinese car market
As regards the world’s single largest market, China,
which was hit by turbulence in 2015 but nevertheless
closed the year up 9.1%, independent market analysts
have issued inconsistent forecasts for 2016, ranging from
1 to 8%. Tax incentives in place since October 2015 for
small-sized vehicles should also provide some support
for the market in 2016. Based on the level now reached
and the volume of growth in absolute terms, the Chinese market will continue to see substantial unit sales
regardless of lower rates of expansion. E lringKlinger
anticipates that Chinese car sales will expand at a percentage rate in the low single-digit figures.

5.1

	Europe Rest
(without Russia)

Japan, Korea, Oceania

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

Source: IHS, HSBC

When it comes to alternative drive systems, E lringKlinger
anticipates that the combustion engine will remain the
dominant form of propulsion in the medium to long
term. Having said that, the trend towards sustainable
energy sources and lower emissions in the mobility
sector as a whole is likely to become more prominent.
Based on current estimates, worldwide sales of vehicles equipped with alternative drive systems (including
hybrid drives) reached 2.7 million units in 2015, which
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corresponds to around 3% of the total volume of sales
at a global level. Recent studies suggest that this figure
could very well rise to around 9 million by 2020. In this
context, the United States, Europe, and Japan are likely
to see a dominance of hybrid technology, whereas China is expected to record greater demand for all-electric
cars and plug-in hybrids.
Benefiting from its local presence in key vehicle markets around the world, the E
 lringKlinger Group is able
to reap the rewards of growth at a global level. The
share of Group revenue generated by E lringKlinger directly in Asia and the NAFTA region rose to 37.6%
(33.6%) in 2015. Including exports, these regions thus
accounted for around 50% of Original Equipment revenue within the E lringKlinger Group. Around 25% of
the Group’s Original Equipment revenue was attributable to business with German premium-class manufacturers and Tier 1 suppliers, who in turn have been benefiting in particular from buoyant demand in China
and the United States. With a steady rise in the number
of per-vehicle products, the company has also established a solid foundation for increasingly dynamic
growth. As one of the few automotive suppliers worldwide, E lringKlinger develops and produces components for the full range of drive systems.
Weaker commercial vehicle market in 2016
After a solid performance of the North American and
Western European commercial vehicle markets in 2015,
the outlook for 2016 suggests a loss in forward momentum. According to estimates by the VDA , demand
for mid-sized and heavy trucks will rise by around 5%
in Europe. Germany’s market is expected to edge up
by 1%.
However, industry experts are predicting a much more
sluggish performance from the North American truck
market. Based on current forecasts, this region will
fail to match the significant sales volumes recorded
last year, when new registrations of Class 8 trucks totaled 248,890 units. In fact, according to estimates sales
of heavy trucks could fall by up to 16% year on year.
Against the backdrop of the country’s economic woes,
the commercial vehicle industry in Brazil will be faced
with another lackluster year in 2016. Operating from a
low base, however, Brazil’s truck market may succeed
in matching last year’s figures.
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 lringKlinger will be able to benefit directly from an
E
increase in truck production output in the industrialized
economies. The trend towards replacing metal components with lighter plastic parts has also been gaining
momentum in the commercial vehicle sector, particularly with regard to plastic housing modules. Due to
the larger proportion of parts per vehicle, the company will derive above-average benefits from market
growth in the coming years.

Outlook – Group
Automotive industry in transition
Faced with ever-stricter regulations and a rising global
demand for mobility, the automotive industry is undergoing a process of change. Against the backdrop of
scarce resources and greater environmental awareness, the emphasis within this sector is on developing
new drive technologies. At the same time, however,
the new technologies currently available are simply
not sufficiently advanced to meet consumers’ mobility
needs with regard to price, range, and recharging convenience. For this reason, combustion engines are being further optimized so that prescribed emission
standards can be met and the use of resources can be
scaled back. The focus is on downsizing and lightweighting to reduce CO2 emissions to an average of
95g/km by the year 2021, down from the EU target of
130 g/km applicable in 2015. In parallel, the industry
is pressing ahead with efforts to develop alternative
drive technologies.
 lringKlinger offers a product range geared towards
E
meeting specified targets in both areas, be it the optimization of combustion engines or the development of
alternative drive systems. Committed to defending its
prominent position in niche markets well into the future, the Group plans to maintain its significant investment in research and development, equivalent to
around 5% of revenue (accounting for capitalization).
Price-related pressure calls for cost savings
The trend towards modular design has triggered extensive collaborative efforts among manufacturers.
This translates into larger quantities of specific components, which in turn will help to strengthen car
makers’ negotiating position within the automotive
industry. The result is likely to be more pronounced
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competition for automotive suppliers in the form of
price-related pressure and demands from manufacturers to raise productivity levels. As a consequence, suppliers will have to rein back costs by improving their
production processes and increasing the level of automation. E lringKlinger generally channels around onethird of its annual investments into such measures.
Future revenue growth underpinned by solid order
book
The Group’s order book continued to develop well over
the course of the financial year under review, with order intake improving by EUR 196.7 million or 13.9%.
As a result, the order backlog at the end of 2015
reached EUR 796.2 (688.2) million, which represents
year-on-year growth of 15.7%. On the back of a robust
order book, E lringKlinger is determined to pursue its
ambition of annual organic growth – i.e., adjusted for
the effects of acquisitions and foreign exchange rates –
of 5 to 7% in Group revenue. In achieving this target,
the Group would again exceed the growth rate of
around 1 to 2% in global automobile production anticipated for 2016.
Given the complexity of influencing factors, the effects
associated with foreign exchange rates are always difficult to predict. In 2015, the euro depreciated
against many of the currencies considered to be of relevance to E
 lringKlinger, such as the US dollar, the
Chinese yuan, and the Swiss franc. Due to currency
translation, this had a positive effect on reportable revenue. Similar effects are possible in 2016. Having said
that, the euro is expected to be more stable in the coming months, and therefore cautious estimates would
suggest that the overall extent of such positive factors
will be less pronounced.
Acquisitions are again a possibility in the current financial year, with management reviewing its options
on a continual basis. In keeping with the approach taken in the past, the focus is again likely to be on entities
that complement the existing portfolio in a manner that
is considered appropriate or on companies that provide
the basis for improved market entry. It is unlikely that
the scope of such transactions will exceed that of previous activities by a considerable extent.
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Commodity prices at a stable level
The cost of sales is driven in particular by expenses
relating to materials and personnel. Essentially, the
price of raw materials and input products of relevance
to E lringKlinger should remain stable due to existing
supply contracts, although it should also be noted that
the low level of commodity prices currently seen within the market poses the risk of a price hike in the future. With respect to purchasing prices for polyamide-based plastic granulates used in the Plastic
Housing Modules division, the Group is currently benefiting from the slump in oil prices and more expansive procurement in China. The situation is similar
when it comes to surcharges payable in connection
with high-grade steel alloys, which continued to fall
over the course of 2015. As of December 31, 2015, they
were only marginally higher than the level seen in the
crisis year of 2009. Similar to the direction taken by
prices for raw materials and input products, prices for
waste material from stamping processes, which is sold
on by the Group, are expected to remain stable.
Global headcount set to rise
In view of the growth targets it has set for itself,
E lringKlinger anticipates that staffing levels will again
be expanded during the coming financial year. As the
international subsidiaries are among the most prominent growth drivers, it is here that the focus of HR
upsizing is expected to be. In this context, the Group
is committed to managing growth in such a way as to
ensure that costs are streamlined and processes are
optimized. Therefore, any increase in the Group’s
headcount should be less pronounced in relation to
revenue growth.
Improvement in earnings expected
In line with expectations, 
E lringKlinger’s growth in
revenue will be reflected in higher earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT ) in 2016. However, this will be
impacted by several factors:
•• U
 nexpectedly strong demand in the Original Equipment segment prompted exceptional charges of
EUR 34 million during the 2015 financial year. The
first quarter of 2016 is expected to produce trailing
items estimated at up to EUR 10 million in total.
Overall, the higher output volumes within the affected unit also led to an increase in the level of
operating costs.
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•• T he E-Mobility division has been adversely affected
by sluggish demand for vehicles powered by electric
engines. Demand may be stimulated by future purchasing incentives. However, other factors will also
play a role when it comes to achieving a sustained
increase in demand. These include an improved infrastructure with more recharging stations, for example, and an extended range of electric vehicles
through enhanced battery technology. What is more,
the low price of oil means that vehicles equipped
with a combustion engine continue to be an attractive option with regard to operating costs. With this
in mind, it would appear likely that the low level of
capacity utilization within this division will persist in
2016 regardless of specific structural measures and
that losses incurred in this area will reach a low to
mid-single-digit figure in the million euro range.
•• T he revenue and earnings situation of the Exhaust
Gas Purification division, by its very nature, is characterized by relatively substantial fluctuations.
This is due to the fact that it operates almost entirely on a project basis, as opposed to the serial production business traditionally associated with other
E lringKlinger divisions. E lringKlinger currently anticipates that the temporary dip in demand for exhaust gas purification systems used in natural gas
power plants or for projects centered around inland
waterway vessels and construction machinery will
remain evident in 2016.
•• In the spring of 2016, the German metal-working industry will be faced with the next round of collective
bargaining negotiations. These negotiations will not
have been completed by the time this annual report
goes to press. The unions have already stated that
they will be targeting a pay increase of 5%. Even if
employer federations reject these demands as inappropriate, the anticipated outcome of negotiations is
likely to be a collective pay increase of between 0
and 5%, which will have a corresponding effect on
E lringKlinger’s earnings. This increase will have to
be offset to the largest extent possible by cost savings
and streamlining measures within the Group. Almost
half of the Group’s workforce is employed in Germany.
Taking into account the factors outlined above, EBIT
adjusted for non-recurring items and before purchase
price allocation is expected to range between EUR 160
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and 170 million in total. In the medium term, the Group
is looking to achieve a clean EBIT margin (adjusted for
purchase price allocation) of 13 to 15%.
Investment ratio remains high
The Group’s strong growth in recent years calls for
significant investment. The latter has risen to over
10% of annual revenue, but is to be scaled back in the
medium to long term to a level of 7 to 9% of Group revenue. In order to achieve this goal, measures that have
already been planned or are about to be implemented
will be reviewed thoroughly as to whether they are
actually necessary and, if so, when they should be executed. Capital expenditure in the current financial
year will again be at an elevated level similar to that
seen in 2015.
 lringKlinger has committed itself to Germany as a
E
business location and will continue to invest in expanding its central site in Dettingen/Erms. A separate
logistics building is to be built for the purpose of facilitating future growth. This will allow the Group to expand its production capacity at its existing plants.
In 2015, E lringKlinger began construction work on a
new production site in Kecskemét, Hungary, the aim
being to meet unexpectedly strong demand for products supplied by one of the divisions in the Original
Equipment segment. Production is scheduled to commence by mid-2016.
As planned, a new plot of land – together with a building – was purchased in 2015 for recently acquired
E lringKlinger Automotive Manufacturing, Inc., Warren,
USA . The site is located in Southfield, USA , and will accommodate the two production plants currently operated by the company. The move is scheduled for 2016.
Buoyant demand for components capable of reducing
overall vehicle weight has had a positive impact on
E lringKlinger, as evidenced by solid order intake for
lightweight acoustic and thermal shielding parts. In
response to this trend, the Group will continue to invest in its existing plants in Buford, USA , and Toluca,
Mexico, in order to adapt local production capacity to
more expansive demand.
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Elsewhere, China has seen a return to more normal
growth rates. However, output estimates show that
this market will continue to lead the world in growth
calculated on the basis of absolute quantities. In order
to meet these high levels of demand, construction work
on a new plant in Suzhou, China, was initiated in 2015,
which will also necessitate payments in 2016. Following the successful ramp-up of production for parts supplied to one of Germany’s premium car makers, the
local facility will also be equipped with a second production line for lightweight hybrid components manufactured by means of hydroforming.
Working capital to be scaled back
E lringKlinger’s strategic approach to integrate tooling
activities within the Group has also proved successful.
This approach allows the company to apply production
methods that are efficient in their use of raw materials
and offer the benefit of optimized processes. This, in
turn, provides a competitive advantage for the Group.
Tools that have been produced and phased in without
having been billed to the customer as part of series
production lead to an increase in inventories and thus
working capital. At EUR 609.1 million, it is therefore
relatively high when compared to the industry as a
whole. In 2015, it rose by EUR 73.9 million or 13.8%
year on year. Working capital is to be scaled back by
around EUR 20 to 30 million in the coming financial
year and consistently improved in subsequent years
with the help of a determined approach to receivables
and inventory management.
Return to positive operating free cash flow expected
Stronger earnings and improved working capital will
have a direct impact on cash flow. Based on the assumption that investment spending remains at a consistent level, the Group anticipates that operating free
cash flow generated in 2016 will no longer be negative
or will be only slightly in negative territory. If capital
expenditure is scaled back as planned to a target range
of between 7 and 9% of revenue and earnings expand,
operating free cash flow will continue to improve.
Improvement in ROCE
The Group measures its profitability on the basis of
return on capital employed (ROCE ). Capital employed
will increase as a result of growth. At the same time,
however, the Group will be targeting slight improvements in working capital. Additionally, earnings are

127

Report on Expected Developments

expected to trend higher as a result of the factors discussed earlier. Overall, therefore, this would translate
into a slight improvement in the return on capital employed (ROCE ). E lringKlinger has its sights set on a
level of 15% in the medium to long term.
Net financial liabilities expected at a higher level
As regards its financial liabilities, the Group has been
operating with a wide range of maturities, i.e., is in a
position to respond flexibly to a potential increase in
interest rates. With financial liabilities totaling EUR
535.7 (417.0) million as of December 31, 2015, the
Group (before acquisitions) will expand its level of
debt in line with growth. In 2016, therefore, net debt is
expected to be higher than in the financial year just
ended (EUR 486.8 million).
The equity ratio is expected to be just under 50% in
2016, which is well within the target corridor of 40 to
50% of the balance sheet total.
Original Equipment segment: strong growth
By contributing more than 80%, the Original Equipment segment generates by far the largest share of
2015 Group revenue. The trend seen in recent years
looks set to continue in the current financial year, with
strong demand expected in particular for shielding
parts and lightweight components made of high-performance plastics. Measured in relation to sales revenue, therefore, they will become more significant to
the Group. Furthermore, efforts to expand the production of lightweight beams in a hybrid design will be reflected in revenue. The Cylinder-head Gaskets, Specialty Gaskets, and Plastic Housing Modules divisions
are also attracting strong demand. Solid order intake
should translate into higher sales revenue.
On the whole, this segment is expected to generate
revenue growth of between 5 and 7% in 2016, i.e., in
line with the Group average. Due to the heterogeneous
nature of profit margins within the individual divisions,
profitability will be slightly below the Group average.
Engineered Plastics segment: profitable growth
The Engineered Plastics segment encompasses sealing rings and guides for diesel injection systems as
well as turbocharger gaskets and plastic components
for heat exchangers used in large power plants. Output
volumes are expected to rise further with regard to
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business in the North American market, while the expanding markets of China and India will continue to be
cultivated.
Overall, this segment is also expected to see revenue
grow by 5 to 7% in 2016. Despite a slight decline in
the EBIT margin in the financial year just ended, down
from 16.6% to 13.4%, profitability will continue to be
above the Group average.
Aftermarket segment: international growth
The Aftermarket segment will continue to pursue strategic expansion of its market position. The aim is to
make well-judged additions to the product portfolio. In
addition, E lringKlinger plans to penetrate new markets
and step up its efforts to cultivate existing markets.
In its home market of Germany, the Group will continue to focus on its strategic approach of strengthening
the position of its “Elring – Das Original” brand within
the wholesale industry.
When it comes to sales activities, one of the focal points
will be on Western and Southern European markets
such as France, Italy, and Spain. Due in part to prevailing economic conditions, car owners often had to
postpone repair jobs and servicing in these countries.
The cooling in relations between Russia and Europe,
the protracted conflict between Russia and Ukraine,
and the thus resulting depreciation of local currencies might exert further pressure on revenue generated in Russia and Ukraine. At the same time, German-made vehicles account for a large proportion of
the regional market, which could be conducive to aftermarket sales in other Eastern European countries.
The growing share of German vehicles, particularly in
the commercial vehicle market, should also create opportunities in North Africa and the Middle East. Here,
however, there is a risk that the low price of oil and the
many political hot spots found in these regions will act
as a decelerator.
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The growing proportion of Original Equipment sales in
North America and China also holds more significant
opportunities for the Group’s Aftermarket business.
E lringKlinger plans to unlock this potential, the aim
being to gain a stronger foothold in these markets and
generate growth.
Overall, this segment is expected to expand revenue
by around 5% in 2016. Profitability is again expected
to be above the Group average.
Solid order book for parent company ElringKlinger AG
The parent company E lringKlinger AG generated revenue of EUR 592.4 million in 2015. While the international subsidiaries are expected to see stronger
growth, E lringKlinger AG is only likely to expand its
revenue slightly by 0 to 2%. Its order book remains
solid: Compared to the previous year, order intake rose
by EUR 5.3 million or 0.9% in 2015, as a result of
which order backlog at the end of the year was up by
EUR 10.6 million or 3.4% to EUR 318.8 million. The
Original Equipment segment will be the main beneficiary of projected growth in car production within the
key markets of Europe, NAFTA , and Asia-Pacific.
The level of investment spending in 2016 is likely to be
comparable to that seen in 2015. A new logistics building is needed at the main plant in Dettingen/Erms,
Germany, in order to free up space for additional production machinery. Additionally, strong demand for
E lringKlinger products calls for continuous investment
in new machines.
With respect to profitability, the Group anticipates that
adverse factors such as the collective pay increase will
have an impact on earnings before interest and taxes
(EBIT ) in 2016, despite higher productivity levels and
continuing production ramp-ups. As a result, it is expected to remain stable year on year or be slightly below the prior-year figure.
Based on its current financial performance, financial
position, and cash flows, the Group is confident that it
can achieve the targets it has set for itself.
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C o m pa n y g u ida n ce s u m m a r y :

Guidance 2016

Revenue

Organic growth of 5 to 7%

EBIT

Adjusted for purchase price allocation EUR 160 to 170 million

Further indicators for FY 2016

Exceptional charges due to unexpectedly strong
demand in Original Equipment segment

EUR 10 million in Q1. Fundamentally,

ROCE

Slight year-on-year improvement

Investments*

High level comparable to prior year, above medium-term
target range of 7 to 9% of revenue

Working capital

Improvement of around EUR 20 – 30 million on figure in 2015

Operating free cash flow

No longer or only slightly negative

R&D cost

Around 5% of revenue when accounting for capitalization

Equity ratio

40 to 50% of total assets

high level of operating costs expected

Medium-term targets

Revenue

Organic growth of 5 to 7% p.a.

EBIT

Margin adjusted before purchase price allocation
of 13 to 15% of Group revenue

ROCE

15%

Investments*

7 to 9% of Group revenue

Equity ratio

40 to 50% of total assets
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Events after the Reporting Period
After the end of the reporting period, E lringKlinger
acquired an additional 5.0% of the owner-ship interests in its subsidiary new enerday GmbH, Neubrandenburg, Germany, effective from February 18, 2016.
Since then, it holds 80.0% of the interests in the fuel
cell system specialist. This is in keeping with
E lringKlinger’s continued strategy of scaling back

non-controlling interests within the Group to the largest extent possible.
Effective from February 23, 2016, Karl Schmauder,
member of the Management Board of E lringKlinger AG,
stepped down from his role as a Management Board
executive. Mr. Schmauder was appointed to the Management Board of E
 lringKlinger AG in 2005, from
which point on he was responsible for Original Equipment Sales and New Business Areas. Thus, the Management Board of E lringKlinger will again consist of
three members in the future: Alongside Dr. Stefan Wolf
in the role of CEO, Theo Becker as COO responsible for
Production and Technology, and Thomas Jessulat in his
capacity as CFO will remain as members of the Group’s
highest governing body. Dr. Stefan Wolf will take over
the area of Original Equipment Sales. In the future,
New Business Areas will be overseen by Theo Becker.
On February 25, 2016, E lringKlinger subsidiary Hug
Engineering AG concluded a purchase agreement for

a further 80.0% of the ownership interests in Codinox Beheer B.V., based in Enschede, Netherlands.
HUG Engineering AG, a specialist in exhaust gas purification systems with its registered office in Elsau,
Switzerland, already holds 10.0% of the interests in
this entity. The purchase price is at the lower end of
the single-digit million range and will be due on closing of the contract. Additionally, agreements were
made in respect of an earn-out clause. Closing is dependent on specific conditions, in particular the merger of four subsidiaries of Codinox Beheer B.V. into the
parent company. The contract is expected to be closed
in April 2016.
At its meeting of March 3, 2016, Deutsche Börse decided on changes to the composition of its stock exchange
indices. As a result of this review, E lringKlinger AG
will leave the MDA X and be listed in the SDA X effective from March 21, 2016. The composition of indices
for the German stock market is dependent on two criteria: free float market capitalization and the stock’s
average trading volume. 
E lringKlinger AG is positioned at the lower end of the rankings in respect of
both listing criteria, as a result of which it had to leave
the MDA X .
Beyond this, no other significant events requiring disclosure occurred after the reporting period.

Dettingen/Erms, March 23, 2016
The Management Board

Dr. Stefan Wolf
Chairman/CEO

Theo Becker

Thomas Jessulat

C o m bi n ed Ma n age m e n t Repo r t

Annual Report 2015

131

Events after the Reporting Period

Consolidated
Financial Statements

ElringKlinger AG

